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NOTICE TO MEMBERS 

 
NOTICE is hereby given that the 24th Annual General Meeting of the members of M/s. NET AVENUE 
TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED will be held on Saturday, 27th September, 2025, at 12:00 Noon (IST), 
through Video Conferencing (“VC”) / Other Audio-Visual Means (“OAVM”), to transact the following 
businesses: 
 
ORDINARY BUSINESS: 
 
1. (a) To receive, consider and adopt the Standalone Audited Financial Statements with reports 
oftheAuditors and Directors thereon for the financial year ended 31st March, 2025. 
 
(b)To receive, consider and adopt the Consolidated Audited Financial Statements and the report of 
the auditors thereon for the financial year ended 31st March, 2025. 
 
2. To appoint a director in place of Mr. Rajesh Nahar (DIN: 01015059), Managing Director, who 
retires by rotation and being eligible, offers himself for reappointment. 
 

On behalf of the Board 
For NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 

 
 
        Sd/- 
Place: Chennai       RAJESH NAHAR 
Date: 02/09/2025      Chairman cum Managing Director 

DIN:01015059 
 

NOTES 
 

1. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India (the “MCA”) vide its General Circular 
No.09/2024 dated September 19, 2024 read with Circular No. 09/2023 dated September 25, 2023 
read with circular no. 10/22 dated December 28, 2022 read with Circular No. 02/2022 dated May 05, 
2022 read with Circular No. 21/2021 dated December 14, 2021 read with Circular No. 02/2021 dated 
January 13, 2021 read with Circular No. 20/2020 dated May 05, 2020 read with Circular No.17/2020 
dated April 13, 2020 read with Circular No.14/2020 dated April 8,2020 (collectively referred to as 
“MCA Circulars”) allows conducting of Annual General Meeting of the Company through Video 
Conferencing (VC) or Other Audio Visual Means (OAVM) without the physical presence of the 
members for the meeting at a common venue till September 30, 2025. The Securities and Exchange 
Board of India(“SEBI”) also vide its Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CFD-PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/133 dated 
October 3, 2024 (“SEBI Circular”) has provided certain relaxations from compliance with certain 
provisions of theListing Regulations. In terms of the said Circulars and in compliance with the 
provisions of theCompanies Act, 2013 and SEBI Circulars, the AGM of the Company is being held 
through VC /OAVM. Hence, Members can attend and participate in the AGM through VC / OAVM 
only. Thedeemed venue for the AGM shall be the Registered Office of the Company. 
 
2. The attendance of the Members attending the AGM through VC / OAVM will be counted for the 
purpose of ascertaining the quorum under Section 103 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
 
3. Since the AGM will be held through VC / OAVM, the Route Map, Attendance Slip and Proxy Form 
are not attached to this Notice. 
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4. Though a Member, pursuant to the provisions of the Act, is entitled to attend and vote at the 
meeting, is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (proxy need not be a Member of the Company) 
to attend and vote instead of himself / herself, the facility of appointment of proxies is not available 
as this AGM is convened through VC / OAVM pursuant to the Circulars. 
 
5. Pursuant to MCA Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 08, 2020, the facility to appoint proxy to attend 
and cast vote for the members is not available for this AGM. However, in pursuance of Section 112 
and Section 113 of the Companies Act, 2013, representatives of the members such as the President 
of India or the Governor of a State or body corporate can attend the AGM through VC/OAVM and 
cast their votes through e-voting. 
 
6. In case of joint holders attending the AGM, only such joint holder who is higher in the order of 
names as per the Register of Members of the Company will be entitled to vote during the AGM. 
 
7. The Register of Members and the Share Transfer Books of the Company will remain closed from 
21/09/2025 to 27/09/2025 (both days inclusive). 
 
8. Members are requested to intimate the changes in their respective mailing address either to the 
Company or RTA in case of shares held in physical form or to their respective Depository Participants 
(DPs) in case of shares held in dematerialized form. 
 
9. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) has recently mandated furnishing of PAN, KYC 
details (i.e., Postal Address with PIN Code, email address, mobile number, bank account details) and 
nomination details by holders of securities.  
 
SEBI has vide its amendment Circular Nos. SEBI/HO/ MIRSD/MIRSD-PoD-1/P/CIR/2023/37 dated 16th 

March, 2023 and SEBI/HO/MIRSD/POD-1/P/CIR/2023/181 dated 17th November, 2023 read with 
previous circulars issued in this regard has mandated that with effect from 01stApril, 2024, dividend 
to security holders (holding securities in physical form), shall be paid only through electronic mode. 
Such payment shall be made only after furnishing the PAN, choice of nomination, contact details 
including mobile number, bank account details and specimen signature. 
 
10. Members who have not yet registered their e-mail addresses are requested to register the same 
with their DPs, in case the shares are held by them in electronic form and with the Company / RTA, 
in case the shares are held by them in physical form. 
 
11. SEBI vide Circular dated 25th January, 2022 mandated issuance of Securities in Dematerialized 
Form in case of Investor Service Requests viz., Issue of Duplicate Share Certificates, Claim from 
Unclaimed Suspense Account, Renewal / Exchange of Share Certificates, Endorsement, Sub-division / 
Splitting of Share Certificates, Consolidation of Share Certificates / Folios, Transmission, 
Transposition, etc. 
 
12. In line with the MCA Circulars, the Notice convening the AGM and the Annual Report for the year 
2024-25 is made available on the of the Stock Exchange (i.e.) National Stock Exchange of India 
Limited at www.nseindia.com. The Notice and the Annual Report are also made available on the 
website of CDSL (agency providing the remote e-Voting facility and e-Voting system during the AGM) 
(i.e.) www.evotingindia.com. 
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13. Information pursuant to regulations 36(3) & (5) of SEBI LODR and Secretarial Standard on 
General Meeting (SS-2) with respect to the Directors seeking appointment / re-appointment, as the 
case may be, at the AGM are furnished in the Annexure tothis Notice. The Directors have furnished 
the requisite consents / declarations for their appointment / re-appointment. 
 
14. The Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel and their shareholdings maintained 
under Section 170 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Register of Contracts or Arrangements 
maintained under Section 189 of the said Act, will be available electronically for inspection by the 
Members during the AGM. 
 
15. All documents referred to in the Notice will also be available for electronic inspection without 
any fee by the Members from the date of circulation of this Notice upto the date of AGM (i.e.) 27th 
September, 2025. Members seeking to inspect such documents can send e-mail to investor@natl.in. 
 
CDSL E-VOTING SYSTEM – FOR E-VOTING AND JOINING VIRTUAL MEETINGS 
 
1. Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule20 of the 
Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 (as amended)and MCA Circulars, the 
Company is providing facility of remote e-voting to its Members in respect of the business to be 
transacted at the AGM. For this purpose, the Company has entered into an agreement with Central 
Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) for facilitating voting throughelectronic means, as 
theauthorized e-Voting’s agency. The facility of casting votes by a member using remotee-voting as 
well as the e-voting system on the date of the AGM will be provided byCDSL. 
 
2. The Members can join the AGM in the VC/OAVM mode 15 minutes before and afterthe scheduled 
time of the commencement of the Meeting by following the procedure mentioned in the Notice. The 
facility of participation at the AGM through VC/OAVM will be made available to at least 1000 
members on first come first served basis. This will not include large Shareholders (Shareholders 
holding 2% or more shareholding), Promoters, Institutional Investors, Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel, theChairpersons of the Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
andStakeholders Relationship Committee, Auditors etc. who are allowed to attend theAGM without 
restriction on account of first come first served basis. 
 
3. The Board of Directors of the Company has appointed Mr. PANKAJ MEHTA (ACS 29407 and CP 
No.10598), partner of A.K. JAIN &ASSOCIATES, Practicing Company Secretaries, Chennai as the 
Scrutinizer to scrutinize the e-voting process in a fair and transparent manner. 
 
THE INSTRUCTIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS FOR E-VOTING AND JOINING VIRTUAL MEETINGS ARE AS 
UNDER: 
 
Step 1:  Access through Depositories CDSL/NSDL e-Voting system in case of individual shareholders 
holding shares in demat mode. 
 
Step 2:  Access through CDSL e-Voting system in case of shareholders holding shares in physical 
mode and non-individual shareholders in demat mode. 
 
(i)The voting period begins on 23/09/2025 at 9.00 A.M. (IST) and ends on 26/09/2025 at 5.00 P.M. 
(IST). During this period shareholders’ of the Company, holding shares either in physical form or in 
dematerialized form, as on the cut-off date i.e. 20/09/2025 may cast their vote electronically. The e-
voting module shall be disabled by CDSL for voting thereafter. 
 



NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED    Annual Report 2024-25 

4 
 

(ii) Shareholders who have already voted prior to the meeting date would not be entitled to vote at 
the meeting venue. 
 
(iii) Pursuant to SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated 09.12.2020, under 
Regulation 44 of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 listed entities are required to provide remote e-voting facility to its 
shareholders, in respect of all shareholders’ resolutions. However, it has been observed that the 
participation by the public non-institutional shareholders/retail shareholders is at a negligible level. 
 
Currently, there are multiple e-voting service providers (ESPs) providing e-voting facility to listed 
entities in India. This necessitates registration on various ESPs and maintenance of multiple user IDs 
and passwords by the shareholders. 
 
In order to increase the efficiency of the voting process, pursuant to a public consultation, it has 
been decided to enable e-voting to all the demat account holders, by way of a single login credential, 
through their demat accounts/ websites of Depositories/ Depository Participants. Demat account 
holders would be able to cast their vote without having to register again with the ESPs, thereby, not 
only facilitating seamless authentication but also enhancing ease and convenience of participating in 
e-voting process. 
 
(iv)In terms of SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated December 9, 2020 on e-
Voting facility provided by Listed Companies, Individual shareholders holding securities in demat 
mode are allowed to vote through their demat account maintained with Depositories and 
Depository Participants. Shareholders are advised to update their mobile number and email Id in 
their demat accounts in order to access e-Voting facility. 
 
Pursuant to abovesaid SEBI Circular, Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings for 
Individual shareholders holding securities in Demat mode CDSL/NSDL is given below: 
 

Type of 
shareholders 

Login Method 

Individual 
Shareholders 
holding 
securities in 
Demat mode 
with CDSL 
Depository 

1) Users who have opted for CDSL Easi / Easiest facility, can login through their existing 
user id and password. Option will be made available to reach e-Voting page without 
any further authentication. The users to login to Easi / Easiest are requested to visit 
cdsl website www.cdslindia.com and click on login icon & My Easi New (Token) Tab. 

2) After successful login the Easi / Easiest user will be able to see the e-Voting option for 
eligible companies where the evoting is in progress as per the information provided by 
company. On clicking the evoting option, the user will be able to see e-Voting page of 
the e-Voting service provider for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period 
or joining virtual meeting & voting during the meeting. Additionally, there is also links 
provided to access the system of all e-Voting Service Providers, so that the user can 
visit the e-Voting service providers’ website directly. 

3) If the user is not registered for Easi/Easiest, option to register is available at cdsl 
website www.cdslindia.com and click on login & My Easi New (Token) Tab and then 
click on registration option. 

4) Alternatively, the user can directly access e-Voting page by providing Demat Account 
Number and PAN No. from a e-Voting link available on  www.cdslindia.com home 
page. The system will authenticate the user by sending OTP on registered Mobile & 
Email as recorded in the Demat Account. After successful authentication, user will be 
able to see the e-Voting option where the evoting is in progress and also able to 
directly access the system of all e-Voting Service Providers. 

Individual 
Shareholders 

1) If you are already registered for NSDL IDeAS facility, please visit the e-Services website 
of NSDL. Open web browser by typing the following URL: 
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holding 
securities in 
demat mode 
with NSDL 
Depository 

https://eservices.nsdl.comeither on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. Once the 
home page of e-Services is launched, click on the “Beneficial Owner” icon under 
“Login” which is available under ‘IDeAS’ section. A new screen will open. You will have 
to enter your User ID and Password. After successful authentication, you will be able 
to see e-Voting services. Click on “Access to e-Voting” under e-Voting services and you 
will be able to see e-Voting page. Click on company name or e-Voting service provider 
name and you will be re-directed to e-Voting service provider website for casting your 
vote during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & voting during the 
meeting. 

2) If the user is not registered for IDeAS e-Services, option to register is available at 
https://eservices.nsdl.com. Select “Register Online for IDeAS “Portal or click at 
https://eservices.nsdl.com/SecureWeb/IdeasDirectReg.jsp 

3) Visit the e-Voting website of NSDL. Open web browser by typing the following URL: 
https://www.evoting.nsdl.com/ either on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. Once 
the home page of e-Voting system is launched, click on the icon “Login” which is 
available under ‘Shareholder/Member’ section. A new screen will open. You will have 
to enter your User ID (i.e. your sixteen digit demat account number hold with NSDL), 
Password/OTP and a Verification Code as shown on the screen. After successful 
authentication, you will be redirected to NSDL Depository site wherein you can see e-
Voting page. Click on company name or e-Voting service provider name and you will 
be redirected to e-Voting service provider website for casting your vote during the 
remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & voting during the meeting 

4) For OTP based login you can click 
on https://eservices.nsdl.com/SecureWeb/evoting/evotinglogin.jsp. You will have to 
enter your 8-digit DP ID,8-digit Client Id, PAN No., Verification code and generate OTP. 
Enter the OTP received on registered email id/mobile number and click on login. After 
successful authentication, you will be redirected to NSDL Depository site wherein you 
can see e-Voting page. Click on company name or e-Voting service provider name 
and you will be re-directed to e-Voting service provider website for casting your vote 
during the remote e-Voting period or joining virtual meeting & voting during the 
meeting. 

Individual 
Shareholders 
(holding 
securities in 
demat mode) 
login through 
their 
Depository 
Participants 
(DP) 

You can also login using the login credentials of your demat account through your Depository 
Participant registered with NSDL/CDSL for e-Voting facility.  After Successful login, you will be 
able to see e-Voting option. Once you click on e-Voting option, you will be redirected to 
NSDL/CDSL Depository site after successful authentication, wherein you can see e-Voting 
feature. Click on company name or e-Voting service provider name and you will be redirected 
to e-Voting service provider website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period or 
joining virtual meeting & voting during the meeting. 

 
Important note: Members who are unable to retrieve User ID/ Password are advised to use Forget 
User ID and Forget Password option available at abovementioned website. 
 
Helpdesk for Individual Shareholders holding securities in demat mode for any technical issues 
related to login through Depository i.e. CDSL and NSDL 
 

Login type Helpdesk details 
Individual Shareholders holding securities in 
Demat mode with CDSL Members facing any technical issue in login can 

contact CDSL helpdesk by sending a request at 
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.comor contact at toll free 
no. 1800 21 09911 
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Individual Shareholders holding securities in 
Demat mode with NSDL 

Members facing any technical issue in login can 
contact NSDL helpdesk by sending a request at 
evoting@nsdl.co.in or call at : 022 - 4886 7000 and 
022 - 2499 7000 

 
Step 2 : Access through CDSL e-Voting system in case of shareholders holding shares in physical 
mode and non-individual shareholders in demat mode. 
 

(v) Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings for Physical shareholders and 
shareholders other than individual holding in Demat form. 

 
1) The shareholders should log on to the e-voting website www.evotingindia.com. 

 
2) Click on “Shareholders” module. 

 
3) Now enter your User ID  

a. For CDSL: 16 digits beneficiary ID,  
b. For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digits Client ID,  
c. Shareholders holding shares in Physical Form should enter Folio Number registered with 

the Company. 
 

4) Next enter the Image Verification as displayed and Click on Login. 
 

5) If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to www.evotingindia.com and 
voted on an earlier e-voting of any company, then your existing password is to be used.  

 
6) If you are a first-time user follow the steps given below: 

 
 For Physical shareholders and other than individual shareholders holding shares in 

Demat. 
PAN Enter your 10 digit alpha-numeric *PAN issued by Income Tax Department 

(Applicable for both demat shareholders as well as physical shareholders) 
 Shareholders who have not updated their PAN with the Company / 

Depository Participant are requested to use the sequence number sent by 
Company / RTA or contact Company / RTA. 

Dividend Bank 
Details 
OR Date of 
Birth (DOB) 

Enter the Dividend Bank Details or Date of Birth (in dd/mm/yyyy format) as recorded 
in your demat account or in the company records in order to login. 

 If both the details are not recorded with the depository or company, please 
enter the member id / folio number in the Dividend Bank details field. 

 
(vi) After entering these details appropriately, click on “SUBMIT” tab. 

 
(vii) Shareholders holding shares in physical form will then directly reach the Company 

selection screen. However, shareholders holding shares in demat form will now reach 
‘Password Creation’ menu wherein they are required to mandatorily enter their login 
password in the new password field. Kindly note that this password is to be also used by 
the demat holders for voting for resolutions of any other company on which they are 
eligible to vote, provided that company opts for e-voting through CDSL platform. It is 
strongly recommended not to share your password with any other person and take 
utmost care to keep your password confidential. 

 
 



NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED    Annual Report 2024-25 

7 
 

(viii) For shareholders holding shares in physical form, the details can be used only for e-
voting on the resolutions contained in this Notice. 

 
(ix) Click on the EVSN for the relevant <Company Name> on which you choose to vote. 

 
(x) On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION DESCRIPTION” and against the same the 

option “YES/NO” for voting. Select the option YES or NO as desired. The option YES 
implies that you assent to the Resolution and option NO implies that you dissent to the 
Resolution. 

 
(xi) Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish to view the entire Resolution details. 

 
(xii) After selecting the resolution, you have decided to vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A 

confirmation box will be displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, click on “OK”, else 
to change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and accordingly modify your vote. 

 
(xiii) Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify 

your vote. 
 

(xiv) You can also take a print of the votes cast by clicking on “Click here to print” option on 
the Voting page. 

 
(xv) If a demat account holder has forgotten the login password then Enter the User ID and 

the image verification code and click on Forgot Password & enter the details as 
prompted by the system. 

 
(xvi) There is also an optional provision to upload BR/POA if any uploaded, which will be 

made available to scrutinizer for verification. 
 

(xvii) Additional Facility for Non – Individual Shareholders and Custodians –For Remote 
Voting only. 

 
 Non-Individual shareholders (i.e. other than Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodians are 

required to log on to www.evotingindia.com and register themselves in the “Corporates” 
module. 

 A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing the stamp and sign of the entity should be 
emailed to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com. 

 After receiving the login details a Compliance User should be created using the admin login 
and password. The Compliance User would be able to link the account(s) for which they wish 
to vote on. 

 The list of accounts linked in the login will be mapped automatically & can be delink in case 
of any wrong mapping. 

 It is Mandatory that, a scanned copy of the Board Resolution and Power of Attorney (POA) 
which they have issued in favour of the Custodian, if any, should be uploaded in PDF format 
in the system for the scrutinizer to verify the same. 

 Alternatively Non Individual shareholders are required mandatory to send the relevant 
Board Resolution/ Authority letter etc. together with attested specimen signature of the 
duly authorized signatory who are authorized to vote, to the Scrutinizer and to the Company 
at the email address viz; investor@natl.in, if they have voted from individual tab & not 
uploaded same in the CDSL e-voting system for the scrutinizer to verify the same. 
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR SHAREHOLDERS ATTENDING THE AGM/EGM THROUGH VC/OAVM & E-
VOTING DURING MEETING ARE AS UNDER: 
 

1. The procedure for attending meeting& e-Voting on the day of the AGM/ EGM is same as the 
instructions mentioned above for e-voting. 

 
2. The link for VC/OAVM to attend meeting will be available where the EVSN of Company will 

be displayed after successful login as per the instructions mentioned above for e-voting. 
 

3. Shareholders who have voted through Remote e-Voting will be eligible to attend the 
meeting. However, they will not be eligible to vote at the AGM/EGM. 

 
4. Shareholders are encouraged to join the Meeting through Laptops / IPads for better 

experience. 
 

5. Further shareholders will be required to allow Camera and use Internet with a good speed to 
avoid any disturbance during the meeting. 

 
6. Please note that Participants Connecting from Mobile Devices or Tablets or through Laptop 

connecting via Mobile Hotspot may experience Audio/Video loss due to Fluctuation in their 
respective network. It is therefore recommended to use Stable Wi-Fi or LAN Connection to 
mitigate any kind of aforesaid glitches. 

 
7. Shareholders who would like to express their views/ask questions during the meeting may 

register themselves as a speaker by sending their request in advance atleast10 days prior to 
meeting mentioning their name, demat account number/folio number, email id, mobile 
number at investor@natl.in.The shareholders who do not wish to speak during the AGM but 
have queries may send their queries in advance10 days prior to meeting mentioning their 
name, demat account number/folio number, email id, mobile number at investor@natl.in. 
These queries will be replied to by the company suitably by email.  

 
8. Those shareholders who have registered themselves as a speaker will only be allowed to 

express their views/ask questions during the meeting. 
 

9. Only those shareholders, who are present in the AGM/EGM through VC/OAVM facility and 
have not casted their vote on the Resolutions through remote e-Voting and are otherwise 
not barred from doing so, shall be eligible to vote through e-Voting system available during 
the EGM/AGM. 

 
10. If any Votes are cast by the shareholders through the e-voting available during the 

EGM/AGM and if the same shareholders have not participated in the meeting through 
VC/OAVM facility, then the votes cast by such shareholders may be considered invalid as the 
facility of e-voting during the meeting is available only to the shareholders attending the 
meeting. 

 
PROCESS FOR THOSE SHAREHOLDERS WHOSE EMAIL/MOBILE NO. ARE NOT REGISTERED WITH THE 
COMPANY/DEPOSITORIES 
 
1. For Physical shareholders- please provide necessary details like Folio No., Name of shareholder, 
scanned copy of the share certificate (front and back), PAN (self attested scanned copy of PAN card), 
AADHAR (self attested scanned copy of Aadhar Card) by email to Company / RTA email id. 
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2. For Demat shareholders - Please update your email id & mobile no. with your respective 
Depository Participant (DP)  
 
3. For Individual Demat shareholders – Please update your email id & mobile no. with your 
respective Depository Participant (DP) which is mandatory while e-Voting & joining virtual meetings 
through Depository. 
 
If you have any queries or issues regarding attending AGM & e-Voting from the CDSL e-Voting 
System, you can write an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or contact at toll free no. 1800 
21 09911  
 
All grievances connected with the facility for voting by electronic means may be addressed to Mr. 
Rakesh Dalvi, Sr. Manager, (CDSL) Central Depository Services (India) Limited, A Wing, 25th Floor, 
Marathon Futurex, Mafatlal Mill Compounds, N M Joshi Marg, Lower Parel (East), Mumbai – 400013 
or send an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or call toll free no. 1800 21 09911 
 
Information at a glance 

Particulars Details 
Day, Date & Time of AGM Saturday, 27th September, 2025, at 12:00 Noon 
Mode Through Video Conferencing (‘VC’) / Other Audio 

Video Means (‘OAVM’) 
Cut-off date for Voting Saturday, 20thSeptember, 2025 
E-voting – Start time & date September 23, 2025 at 9.00 A.M.  
E-voting – End time & date September26, 2025 at 5.00 P.M. 
 
Additional Information of Directors with regard to appointment / reappointment, as required 
under Regulation 36(3) of the SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015 and Secretarial Standards on General 
Meetings (SS-2) by ICSI: 
 
Name of the Director Mr. Rajesh Nahar 
Brief Resume Mr. Rajesh Nahar, aged 49 years is Chairman cum 

Managing Director and also the Promoter of our 
Company. He holds Diploma in Business 
Administration (Marketing). He has experience of 24 
years in our same company. He has been instrumental 
in taking major policy decision of the Company. He is 
playing vital role in formulating business strategies 
and effective implementation of the same. He is 
responsible for the expansion and overall 
management of the business of our Company. His 
Vision to do business with ethics & to keep up with 
latest developments and Management practices has 
helped him provide an overall growth for the 
company. 

Date of Birth / Age 19/05/1976 / 49 years 
Date of first appointment 07/06/2001 
Qualification Diploma in Business Administration (Marketing) 
Experience 24 years 
Terms and Conditions of Appointment Appointed as Managing Director, liable to retire 

byrotation. 
Remuneration last drawn  74.15 Lakhs 
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Directorship in other listed companies Nil 
The Listed entity from which Director has 
resigned in last three years 

Nil 

Number of Meetings of the Board attended 
during the year 

5 

Chairman/Member of other Committee in 
other companies 

Nil 

Whether related with Directors or KMP  No 
Number of shares held as at 31.03.2025 30,45,000 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
To, 
The Members of  
M/s. NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
 
Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the 24th Annual Report on the business and operations of 
the Company and the accounts for the Financial Year ended March 31, 2025. 
 
1. FINANCIAL SUMMARY OR HIGHLIGHTS / PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY: 
 
STANDALONE: 

(In 000’s) 
PARTICULARS 31.03.2025 31.03.2024 
Income 277,420 269,740 
Less: Expenditure 311,916 286,989 
Profit before Tax (34,496) (17,249) 
Less: Current Tax -- -- 
Less: Deferred Tax -- -- 
Profit after Tax  (34,496) (17,249) 

 
CONSOLIDATED: 

(In 000’s) 
PARTICULARS 31.03.2025 31.03.2024 
Income 277,420 269,740 
Less: Expenditure 319,059 290,680 
Profit /Loss before Exceptional Items Tax (41,639) (20,940) 
Less: Exceptional Items -- 51.30 
Profit/Loss before Tax (41,639) (15,810) 
Less: Current Tax -- -- 
Less: Deferred Tax -- -- 
Profit after Tax  (41,639) (15,810) 
Share of loss from associate (2) (2) 
Profit after tax and share of loss from associate (41,641) (15,812) 

 
SEGMENT WISE: 
(In 000’s) 

Revenue in INR Lakhs FY 2025 FY 2024 % Increase 
Export 2279 2028 12% 
Domestic 432 642 -33% 
Other Income 63 27  
Total 2774 2697 3% 

 
OPERATIONS: 
The Company sell Indian Ethnic wear primarily to South Asian Diaspora through our websites 
cbazaar.comand ethnovog.com. The Company directly sell to end consumer and get orders from 
over 100 countries with United States, United Kingdom, Australia and Canada being the primary 
markets. In the international market, 100% of our orders are prepaid orders. Only in India the 
Company provide COD option. Our registered office is in Chennai, Tamilnadu and our corporate 
office and fulfilment centre is based in Surat, Gujarat. 
 
Product categories includes 
• Lehenga Choli, 
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• Salwar Kameez, 
• Gowns, 
• Kurtas, 
• Sherwani, 
• Kurta Sets, 
• Kids wear 
• Accessories 
 
We sell both third party vendor products and exclusive curated collection. 
 
Third party vendor products: 
We list third party vendor products on our website. It could be semi stitched or readymade. We 
provide customers an option to choose customization while placing their orders. Once a customer 
places an order by selecting third party vendor product, we place a back to back order with the 
vendor. We get the product from our vendor to our Surat fulfilment centre where the quality check 
is done and moved to exclusive outsourced tailoring units for stitching. After stitching the products 
are again received at our fulfilment centre where final quality check is done and then the products 
are shipped to the end customer through reputed international courier partners like DHL, FedEx, 
Aramex etc. 
 
RaiR Collection– The Exclusive Curated Collection 
RaiR is the crown jewel of Cbazaar: an exclusive collection born out of a desire to preserve artistry 
and revive the charm of traditional craftsmanship. It represents the essence of handwork, 
individuality, and timeless beauty. 
 
2. DIVIDEND: 
The Directors do not recommend any dividend for the year. 
 
3. TRANSFER TO RESERVES: 
The following transfers were made to the General Reserves during the year under review: 
           (In 000’s) 

Particulars 31.03.2025 
General Reserve balance at the beginning of the year 22,977 
Add: Amount transferred to General Reserve on account of forfeiture 164 
Add: Amount transferred to General Reserve on expiry of options granted to Promoters -- 
Balance at the end of the year 23,141 

 
4. SHARE CAPITAL: 
(a) AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL: 
There is no change in authorized share capital during the year. 
As on 31.03.2025 the authorized share capital is Rs.23,000,000/- divided into 23,000,000 equity 
shares of Rs.1/- each. 
 
(b) ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED &PAID UP CAPITAL: 
The Company has not issued any shares during the year. 
As on 31.03.2025, the issued, subscribed and paidup capital is Rs.21,454,078/- divided into 
21,454,078 equity shares of Rs.1/- each. 
 
(c) Employee Stock Option Scheme (ESOP): 
The information relating to the options granted to the employees is morefully detailed in the 
Annexure ‘A’ attached. 
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(d) Initial Public Offer (IPO): 
The Company had offered equity shares by way of Initial Public Offer (IPO) and allotted shares as 
stated hereunder; 
 

Date of 
allotment 

Type of Issue No. of shares 
issued 

Face Value in 
(Re.) 

Premium per 
share (Rs) 

Total amount in 
(Rs.) 

December 05, 
2023 

Initial Public 
offer (IPO) 

56,96,000 
 

1/- 17/- 102,528,000/- 

 
5. DETAILS OF UTILIZATION OF FUNDS RAISED THROUGH INITIAL PUBLIC OFFER (IPO): 
The particulars of funds raised and details of utilization of funds as at 31st March, 2025 are as 
follows; 

 (Value in Lakhs) 
Original Object Original 

allocation 
Funds 

Utilised 
Amount of 
Deviation 

Remarks 

Issue Related Expenses 124.36 124.36 - - 
General Corporate 
Expenses 

82.28 41.14 - - 

Working Capital 120.00 120.00 - - 
CustomerAcquisition - 
Marketing &Awareness 

698.64 185.68 - In view of weakness in demand, the 
Company has reduced the marketing 
spend. 

 
6. DEPOSITS: 
The Company has not accepted nor renewed any deposits during the year under the review and 
therefore details mentioned in Rule 8(5)(v) & (vi) of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 relating to 
deposits covered under chapter V is not required to be given. 
 
7. BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY’S WORKING DURING THE YEAR / STATE OF COMPANY’S 
AFFAIR & NATURE OF CHANGE IN BUSINESS: 
The company is engaged in sale of Indian designer clothes and accessories. There is no change in the 
nature of business during the year as compared to previous year. 
 
8. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS REPORT:  
Pursuant to Regulation 34(2) of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements), Regulations, 2015, a Management Discussion and Analysis Report are 
given in Annexure ‘B’. 
 
9. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)  
Your Company does not fall under the ambit of provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 
2013. Accordingly, the provisions of Corporate Social Responsibility are not applicable. 
 
10. MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS: 
No material changes and commitments, affecting the financial position of the company which has 
occurred between the end of the financial year of the company to which the financial statements 
relate and till the date of this report.  
 
11. VIGIL MECHANISM / WHISTLE-BLOWER POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES:  
The Company has formulated a comprehensive Whistle-blower Policy in line with the provisions of 
Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013. The Vigil Mechanism has been placed in the website of the 
Company at https://www.natl.in/corporate-policies.html 
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12. DISCLOSURES AS PER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE (PREVENTION, 
PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013: 
Your Company has adopted a policy against sexual harassment in line with the provisions of Sexual 
Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 and the rules 
framed thereunder. The Company has constituted an Internal Complaints Committee for the 
redressal of complaints on sexual harassment. During the year, the Company had not received any 
complaint on sexual harassment and no complaint was pending as on March 31, 2025.The Policy on 
Prevention of Sexual Harassment at workplace has been placed in the website of the Company at 
https://www.natl.in/corporate-policies.html 
 
13. DISCLOSURE OF ORDERS PASSED BY REGULATORS OR COURTS OR TRIBUNAL: 
No significant and material orders have been passed by any Regulator or Court or Tribunal which can 
have an impact on the going concern status and the Company’s operations in future. 
 
14. ANNUAL RETURN:  
Pursuant to the amendments to Section 134(3)(a) and Section 92(3) of the Act read with Rule 12 of 
the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014, the Annual Return (Form MGT-7) for 
the financial year ended March 31, 2025, will be available on the Company’s website and can be 
accessed at https://www.natl.in/home.html 
 
15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
The transactions entered with the related party were in the ordinary course of business and at arm’s 
length basis. The particulars of transactions entered are disclosed in the notes forming part of the 
financial statements and form AOC 2 is enclosed as Annexure ‘C’. 
 
16. PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES AND INVESTMENTS: 
The Company has not advanced any loan, given guarantees and made investments during the year. 
 
17. DETAILS OF APPLICATION MADE OR ANY PROCEEDING PENDING UNDER THE INSOLVENCY AND 
BANKRUPTCY CODE, 2016 (31 OF 2016) DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR  
Not applicable. 
 
18. DETAILS OF DIFFERENCE BETWEEN AMOUNT OF THE VALUATION DONE AT THE TIME OF ONE 
TIME SETTLEMENT AND THE VALUATION DONE WHILE TAKING LOAN FROM THE BANKS OR 
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS ALONG WITH THE REASONS THEREOF: 
Not Applicable. 
 
19. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS 
AND OUTGO: 
Your Company is taking utmost care to conserve energy wherever possible. There was no technology 
absorption during the year. The details of foreign earnings and outgo are disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements. 
 
20. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARY/ JOINT VENTURES / ASSOCIATE COMPANIES: 
The details of subsidiary / associate in Form AOC-1 are attached as Annexure ‘D’.  
 
21. NUMBER OF MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS: 
5 Board Meetings were held during the year and the gap between two meetings was not more than 
120 days. The date of the meetings and the attendance of directors are mentioned below. 
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SN DATE OF 
MEETING 

Mr. RAJESH 
NAHAR 

Mr. RITESH 
KATARIYA 

Mr. 
NARESH 

JAIN 

Mr. MURALI 
RAJAGOPALACH

ARI 

Ms. RIYA 
JAIN 

1 25.05.2024 Present Present Present Present Absent 
2 02.09.2024 Present Present Present Present Absent 
3 14.11.2024 Present Present Present Present Absent 
4 07.02.2025 Present Absent Present Absent Present 
5 12.03.2025 Present Present Present Present Absent 

 
22. DIRECTORS’ & KEY MANAGERIAL PERSON: 
(a) The Company comprises of Five Directors as at 31.03.2025 as stated below: 
 

SN DIN  NAME OF THE DIRECTOR DESIGNATION Category 
1. 01015059 Mr. Rajesh Nahar Managing Director  Promoter - Executive 
2. 01019455 Mr. Ritesh Katariya Whole time Director Promoter – Executive 
3.  07026135 Mr. Naresh Kumar Director Non-Independent 
4. 00759040 Mr. Murali Rajagopalachari Director Independent 
5. 10309330 Ms. Riya Jain Director Independent 

 
(b) The details of key managerial personnel as at 31st March, 2025 are as follows: 
 

S No PAN NAME OF THE DIRECTOR DESIGNATION 
1 AVEPP7521N Mr. Prakash  CFO 
2 BQHPD2523B Ms. Bhumisha Darshan Dadwani Company Secretary 

 
(c) The details of appointment, change in designation of Directors and Key Managerial Person during 
the year are mentioned below 
 

SN DIN / PAN NAME OF THE 
DIRECTOR/ KMP 

PARTICULARS 
 

DATE OF APPOINTMENT / CESSATION 
/ CHANGE IN DESIGNATION 

NIL 
 
(d) Mr. Rajesh Nahar, Chairman cum Managing Director, retires by rotation at the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting and being eligible offers himself for re-appointment. 
 
23. INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS:  
The Independent directors have given declaration under Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013, 
that they meet the criteria of independence. In terms of requirements under Schedule IV of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 25 (3) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, the Independent Directors at their meeting, inter alia, reviewed the following.  
 
• Performance of Non-Independent Directors and Board as a whole. 
• Performance of the Chairman of the Company, taking into account the views of Executive Directors 
and Non-Executive Director.  
• Assess the quality, quantity and timeliness of flow of information between the Company 
Management and the Board that is necessary for the Board to effectively and reasonably perform 
their duties.  
 
The Company has received declarations of independence in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act as well as the LODR Regulations from all the Independent Directors 
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24. ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL CONTROLS AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS: 
The Company has in place adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements. During the year under review, such controls were tested and no reportable material 
weakness in the design or operation was observed. 
 
25. SECRETARIAL STANDARDS:  
The Company has complied with the applicable provisions of Secretarial Standards 1 and 2 issued by 
the Institute of Company Secretaries of India and notified by Ministry of Corporate Affairs. 
 
26. COMMITTEES  
a) Audit Committee 
In terms of Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 6 of the Companies  
(Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014, the Company has constituted Audit Committee 
comprising of three members and the committee met three times during the year on 25.05.2024, 
02.09.2024 and 14.11.2024. The composition of the Audit Committee and details of meeting held 
are provided hereunder: 
 

S No Name of Directors Designation Category No. of Meetings 
Entitled to 

attend 
Attended 

1 Mr. Rajagopalachari Murali Chairman NEID 3 3 
2 Ms. Riya Jain Member NEID 3 0 
3 Mr. Ritesh Katariya Member ED 3 3 

 NEID – Non Executive Independent Director  ED – Executive Director 
 
b) Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
In terms of Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 6 of the Companies  
(Meetings of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014, the Company has constituted a Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee comprising of three members and the committee met once during the 
year on 02.09.2024 with requisite quorum present throughout the meeting. The composition of the 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee and details of meeting held are provided hereunder: 
 

SN Name of Directors Designation Category No. of Meetings 
Entitled to 

attend 
Attended 

1 Mr. Rajagopalachari Murali Chairman NEID 1 1 
2 Ms. Riya Jain Member NEID 1 0 
3 Mr. Naresh Kumar Member NED 1 1 

NEID – Non Executive Independent Director  NED – Non Executive Director 
 
c) Stakeholders Relationship Committee: 
In terms of section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rules thereof and Regulation 20 of the 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirement), 2015, the Company has constituted 
Stakeholders Relationship Committee consisting comprises of three members. The composition of 
the Stakeholders Relationship Committee is provided hereunder: 
 

SN Name of Directors Designation Category 
1 Mr. Rajagopalachari Murali Chairman NEID 
2 Mr. Rajesh Nahar Member ED 
3 Mr. Ritesh Katariya Member ED 

NEID – Non Executive Independent Director  ED – Executive Director 
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27. REMUNERATION POLICY 
The Company has adopted a Nomination and Remuneration Policy in terms of the Section 178 of the 
Act. The policy, inter alia, lays down the principles relating to appointment, cessation, remuneration 
and evaluation of directors, key managerial personnel and senior management personnel of the 
Company. The Nomination & Remuneration Policy of the Company is available on the website of the 
Company at https://www.natl.in/home.html 
 
28. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION AND DISCLOSURES: 
None of the Independent/Non-Executive Directors have any pecuniary relationship or transactions 
with the Company which in the Judgment of the Board may affect the independence of the 
Directors. 
 
29. AUDITORS AND AUDIT REPORTS 
a) Statutory Auditors: 
M/s. PKF Sridhar & Santhanam LLP, Chartered Accountants, Chennai, were re-appointed as Statutory 
Auditors of the Company for a term of four years in the AGM held on 28.09.2024. The Company has 
received confirmation that their appointment is within the limits specified and iseligible to continue 
as Auditors of the Company. 
 
b) Secretarial Auditors: 
The Board of Directors, pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013, 
appointed M/s. AK Jain and Associates, Company Secretary in Practice, as the Secretarial Auditor of 
the Company, to carry out the Secretarial Audit for the Financial Year 2024-25. Secretarial Audit 
Report, issued by the Secretarial Auditor in Form No. MR-3 forms part of this Report and is annexed 
herewith as Annexure ‘E’. 
 
c) Internal Auditors:  
In terms of Section 138 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company had appointed M/s. Ronak G Jain 
& Co, Chartered Accountants, as Internal Auditor of the Company. 
 
30. REMARKS / OBSERVATION OF THE AUDITORS AND REPLY OF THE BOARD: 
Statutory Auditors: 
 
Observation: 
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Reply: Two employees had KYC issue in the PF portal because of which the Company was not able to 
deposit the amount in October. The KYC issue was subsequently rectified and the Company had 
deposited the amount in Dec 2024. The Company have started paying the Gujarat Professional tax 
on time. 
 
Observations:  

 
 
Reply: The Company have received order in its favor for the AY 2022-23 and the demand has been 
dropped. The Company have received rectification order for AY 2021-22 and the demand amount 
has been dropped. The other two years are still in process. 
 
31. REPORTING OF FRAUD BY THE AUDITORS: 
The statutory auditors have not reported any frauds under section 143(12) of the Companies Act, 
2013. 
 
32. MAINTENANCE OF COST RECORDS:  
The Company is not required to maintain cost records as specified by the Central Government under 
Section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013. 
 
33. PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES: 
The information required under Section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made 
thereunder are annexed to this Report as Annexure ‘F’ 
 
34. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY: 
The Company has a Proper Risk Management Policy towards Operations and Administrative affairs 
of the Company. The Directors review the Policy at regular intervals of time and ensure Proper 
Implementation of the Policy. 
 
35. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE: 
Regulation 15 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, does not 
apply to your Company. Hence, the report on Corporate Governance is not provided. 
 
36. DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT: 
To the best of their knowledge, belief and according to the information and explanations obtained 
by them, your Directors make the following statements in terms of Section 134(3)(c) of the 
Companies Act, 2013: 
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a) In the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards have followed 
and that no material departures have been made for the same. 

b) appropriate accounting policies have been selected and applied consistently, and have made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the company as at 31st March 2025 and of the loss of the Company for 
the year ended 31st March 2025, 

c) proper and sufficient care have been taken for maintenance of adequate accounting records 
in accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the company and 
for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities, 

d) the annual accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis 
e) the directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all 

applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively. 
f) the directors had laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the Company and that 

such financial controls are adequate and were operating effectively. 
 
37. COMPLIANCE WITH MATERNITY BENEFIT ACT: 
The Company has complied with the provisions of the Maternity Benefit Act. 
 
38. TRANSFER OF UNCLAIMED DIVIDEND TO INVESTOR EDUCATION & PROTECTION FUND: 
There are no amounts which need to be transferred to Investor Education and Protection Fund. 
 
39. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS: 
Your directors take this opportunity to acknowledge all stakeholders of the Company viz members, 
customers, suppliers, bankers, business partners/associates, financial institutions and various 
regulatory authorities for their consistent support/encouragement to the Company.  
 
 
On behalf of the Board 
For NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
 
 
Sd/- 
Rajesh Nahar 
Chairman cum Managing Director 
DIN: 01015059 
 
Place: Chennai 
Date: 02/09/2025 
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ANNEXURE A 

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION 
 

SN NATURE OF DISCLOSURE PARTICULARS 
1 Options Granted 3,68,550 
2 Options Vested 2,26,170 
3 Options Exercised 0 
4 The total no. of shares arising as a result of exercise of 

option 
Not exercised so far. 

5 Options Lapsed 13,300 
6 Exercise price Rs. 60/- for 7 options 
7 Variation of terms of option - 
8 Money realized by exercise of options - 
9 Bonus options issued, post balance sheet date 31 March 

2025 
- 

10 Total number of options in force 3,68,550 
11 Employee wise details of options granted to;  
(i) key managerial personnel 1,57,500 
(ii) any other employee who receives a grant of options in 

any one year of option amounting to five percent or more 
of options granted during that year. 

Yes there are employees who received 
5% or more of options granted in a 
year. 

(iii) identified employees who were granted option, during 
any one year, equal to or exceeding one percent of the 
issued capital (excluding outstanding warrants and 
conversions) of the company at the time of grant; 

- 

 
 
On behalf of the Board 
For NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
 
 
Sd/- 
Rajesh Nahar 
Chairman cum Managing Director 
DIN: 01015059 
 
Place: Chennai 
Date: 02/09/2025  
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ANNEXURE B 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS REPORT 
 
OVERVIEW OF APPAREL RETAIL MARKET 
 
Domestic Market 
The India ethnic wear market is a rapidly growing segment of the country's overall apparel industry, 
valued at approximately USD 19 billion in 2023 and projected to reach around USD 30.4 billion by 
2030, with a CAGR of about 6.9%. It holds a significant cultural footprint, accounting for the largest 
share of the nation's garment industry and evolving beyond traditional occasions into everyday 
fashion. The market is heavily skewed towards the unorganized sector, which constitutes 80-85%, 
while the organized segment is growing robustly at around 20% annually. Key drivers include rising 
disposable incomes, urbanization, and a growing preference for fusion styles that blend ethnic and 
contemporary fashion, especially among younger consumers. The segment is also seeing significant 
growth in online retail channels alongside traditional offline stores. Women’s ethnic wear dominates 
the market share, complemented by expanding men’s and kids’ segments.The key growth drivers for 
the market include urbanization, rising incomes, and expanding internet and smartphone use which 
are expected to boost e-commerce sales. 
 
International Market 
As per the Ministry of External Affairs, there are over 35 Mn Indian diaspora living across the world 
with the United States having the largest diaspora population of about 5 Mn. Regions like the United 
States, Canada, United Kingdom, Middle East have huge opportunities for Indian Ethnic wear. 
Amazon US platform is annually selling over $100 Mn Indian Ethnic wear products.  
 
According to the Apparel Export Promotion Council (AEPC), exports of Indian garments have surged 
because, as their 2024 report puts it, "the world market is appreciating the rich heritage, intricate 
craftsmanship, and eco-friendly processes used by Indian textile manufacturers." 
 
The global demand for Indian ethnic wear is not just about nostalgia. These designs offer a fresh 
story in a world full of fast fashion - they’re expressive, unique, and conscious. — FashionUnited, 
2024 
 
What’s driving the sale of Indian Ethnic wear in the International market? 
 

 Big Indian festivals like Diwali and Eid are huge social events even outside India, fueling 
demand for something colorful and authentic. 

 Wedding is one of the biggest drivers of Indian Ethnic wear sale even in the International 
market 

 The type of fabrics used in the Indian dresses gives comfort and sustainability. 
 
Risk and Concerns 
The tariff threaten by the US which is the company’s major market is a serious concern. Your 
company is evaluating options to navigate this difficult time. Your company is also planning to 
increase the focus on other global markets. 
 
Our current growth strategies include: 
a) Go deeper into other key markets like United Kingdom, Canada and Australia 
b) Scaling up RaiR, our exclusive hand embroidered collection 
c) Build brand awareness through social media marketing 
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Key Growth Drivers: 
a) Requirement of customized ethnic wear among diaspora population 
b) Increasing disposable income 
c) Large and growing Indian wedding and celebration wear market driven by increased consumer 
spending 
d) Increasing tendency to wear appropriate celebration wear for respective festive events 
 
Company overview and Segment performance: 
The Company sells Indian Ethnic wear through cbazaar.com primarily targeting the diaspora 
population. The Company offers custom stitching solutions as a value added proposition to its 
customers. Its primary markets are the United States, United Kingdom, Canada, Australia and India.  
 
The company’s 84% of the operating income is from exports. Over 50% of the orders processed are 
customized orders.  
 
Discussion on financial performance with respect to operational performance 
The revenue from the operations for the year has decreased by 2% as compared to the previous 
year. The loss during the year has increased as compared to the previous year. 
 
Our export business has seen a growth of 12% this year. We were able to maintain a gross margin of 
69% for our export business.  
 
During the year we took two key decisions in order to improve the business efficiency: 1) to scale 
down our business through domestic third-party marketplaces due to high returns which has 
resulted in drop in domestic business and 2) to liquidate non moving inventory which were built for 
third-party marketplaces.  
 
The overall gross margin dropped to 58%* compared to 66%* in the previous year. The drop was 
due to 1) liquidation of inventory at deep discounts, 2) write off of aged and damaged inventory and 
3) the order fulfilment contractor charges are part of “Fabric conversion & Redesign charges” 
whereas in the previous year, this function was executed by employees. 
*Gross margin calculation includes “Fabric conversion & Redesign charges” as part of COGS. In the 
financials it is part of other expenses. 
 
Material developments in Human Resources / Industrial Relations front, including number of 
people employed. 
As on 31st March 2025, the number of employees in the Company was 58 employees and about 22% 
of them are women employees. 
 
SWOT ANALYSIS: 
Strength: 
a) Technology capability to offer customized products 
b) Company has the capability to execute customized orders on scale 
 
Weakness: 
a) Inconsistency in supply chain 
b) Inadequate infrastructure like logistics hampers the efficient functioning of the industry 
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Opportunities: 
a) the expanding middle class with rising disposable incomes and evolving fashion preferences offer 
immense growth opportunities. 
b) the rapid growth of organized retail, both offline and online, provides a significant opportunity for 
the apparel industry. 
 
Threats: 
a) increase in tariffs by the target market. 
b) volatility in rates of freight can impact the profitability of the players. 
 
Key Financial Ratios 
 

Particulars March 31, 
2025 

March 31, 
2024 

Variance 
% 

Reason for variance more than 
25% 

(a) Current Ratio 1.75 1.89 -7%  
(b) Debt-Equity Ratio 0.33 0.65 -49% Due to repayment of loan   
(c) Debt Service Coverage Ratio  (4.33)  (0.90) 378% Due to higher losses as 

compared to PY 
(d) Return on Equity Ratio  -161.07% -80.54% 100% Due to higher losses as 

compared to PY 
(e) Inventory turnover ratio 6.46 5.18 25%  
(f) Trade Receivables turnover ratio  77.97 36.08 116%  Due to higher turnover as 

compared to PY  
(g) Trade payables turnover ratio 2.25 2.24 0%  
(h) Net capital turnover ratio  4.66 3.07 52%  Due to higher turnover as 

compared to PY  
(i) Net profit ratio  -12.72% -6.46% 97% Due to higher losses as 

compared to PY 
 
 
On behalf of the Board 
For NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
 
 
Sd/- 
Rajesh Nahar 
Chairman cum Managing Director 
DIN: 01015059 
 
Place: Chennai 
Date: 02/09/2025  
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ANNEXURE C 

FORM NO. AOC-2 
(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3)of section 134 of the Act and 

Rule 8(2) of the Companies(Accounts) Rules, 2014) 
 
Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with 
related parties referred to in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including 
certain arm’s length transactions under third proviso thereto 
 
1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis: 
 
Sl. No Particulars Details 
(a) Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship 

NIL 

(b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transactions 
(c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements/transactions 
(d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions including the 

value, if any 
(e) Justification for entering into such contracts or arrangements or transactions 
(f) Date(s) of approval by the Board 
(g) Amount paid as advances, if any 
(h) Date on which the special resolution was passed in general meeting as required 

under first proviso to section 188. 
 
2. Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions at arm’s length basis: 

(In 000’s) 
SlNo Particulars Details 

(a) Name(s) of the related 
party and nature of 
relationship 

Mrs. Sarala Nahar – 
Relative of KMP 

C.bazaar.INC – Subsidiary Aviato Software 
Solutions Private 
Limited - Enterprise 
in which Director’s 
relatives are 
interested 

(b) Nature of contracts/ 
arrangements/ 
transactions 

Remuneration – 180/- (a) Marketing, Internet 
banking and other 
expenses – 59,289/- 
(b) Collections received 
on behalf of the Company 
– 223,706/- 
(c) Payments received out 
of collections received on 
behalf of the Company – 
212,492/- 
(d) Business facilitation 
fee – 497/- 

Marketing, internet 
banking and other 
expense – 487/- 

(c) Duration of the contracts/ 
arrangements / 
transactions 

2024-25 2024-25 2024-25 

(d) Salient terms of the 
contracts or arrangements 
or transactions including 
the value, if any 

In the ordinary course 
of business and at 
arm’s length 

In the ordinary course of 
business and at arm’s 
length 

In the ordinary 
course of business 
and at arm’s length 

(e) Date(s) of approval by the 
Board 

25.05.2023 25.05.2023 29.05.2025 
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(f) Amount paid as advances, 
if any 

Nil Nil Nil 

 
 
On behalf of the Board 
For NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
 
 
Sd/- 
Rajesh Nahar 
Chairman cum Managing Director 
DIN: 01015059 
 
Place: Chennai 
Date: 02/09/2025 
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ANNEXURE D 

 
FORM NO. AOC.1 

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of 
/associate companies/joint ventures 

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 
read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014) 

 
Part "A": Subsidiaries 

(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in 000’s) 
 

Sl. No. Particulars Details 
1 Name of the subsidiary  M/s. Cbazaar.com Inc, 

Unites States of America 
2 Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if 

different from the holding company's reporting period 
31st December, 2024 

3 Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date 
of the relevant financial year in the case of foreign 
subsidiaries.  

1 USD = INR 85.45 

4 Share capital  Rs. 85,570 
5 Reserves & surplus (-) Rs.1,45,82,240 
6 Total assets Rs.38,60,662 
7 Total Liabilities Rs.1,84,42,902 
8 Investments - 
9 Turnover Rs.5,03,152 

10 Profit before taxation  Rs.21,136 
11 Provision for taxation  - 
12 Profit after taxation  Rs.21,136 
13 Proposed Dividend - 
14 % of shareholding  100.00% 

 
1. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations: NA 
2. Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year: NA 
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Part "B": Associates and Joint Ventures 

 
Statement pursuant to Section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 

related to Associate Companies and Joint Ventures 
 

Name of Associates/Joint Ventures ETHNOSERVE BESPOKE SERVICES 
PRIVATE LIMITED 

1. Latest audited Balance Sheet Date 31stMarch, 2025 
  
2. Shares of Associate/Joint Ventures held by the 
company on the year end 

 

No. 29412 Equity Shares of Rs.1/- each 
Amount of Investment in Associates/Joint Venture Rs.2,48,962/- 
Extend of Holding % 29.41% 
  
3.Description of how there is significant influence Due to Shareholding 
  
4. Reason why the associate/joint venture is not 
consolidated 

NA 

  
5. Net worth attributable to Shareholding as per 
latest audited Balance Sheet 

(2,09,997) 

  
6. Profit / Loss for the year  
i. Considered in Consolidation (2,000) 
ii. Not Considered in Consolidation  

 
1. Names of associates or joint ventures which are yet to commence operations: NIL 
2. Names of associates or joint ventures which have been liquidated or sold during the year: NIL 

 
 
On behalf of the Board 
For NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
 
 
Sd/- 
Rajesh Nahar 
Chairman cum Managing Director 
DIN: 01015059 
 
Place: Chennai 
Date: 02/09/2025 
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ANNEXURE E 
Form No.MR.3 

Secretarial Audit Report 
(For the financial year ended 31st March,2025) 

[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014] 

 
To, 
The Members 
M/s. NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
New No. 16, Old No. 13, 1st Floor, Prithvi Avenue, 
Alwarpet, Teynampet, Chennai – 600018 
 
We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and 
the adherence to good corporate practices by M/s. NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED (CIN: 
U72900TN2001PLC047220) (hereinafter called the Company). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a 
manner that provided us a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory 
compliances and expressing our opinion thereon.  
 
Based on our verification of Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and 
other records maintained by the Company and also the information provided by the Company, its 
officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct of secretarial audit, We hereby 
report that in our opinion, the company has, during the audit period covering the financial year 
ended on 31st March, 2025, complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that 
the Company has proper Board-processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in the 
manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter: 
 
We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records 
maintained by M/s.NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIESLIMITED (“the Company”) for the financial year 
ended on 31st March, 2025 according to the provisions of: 
 
i) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the Rules made thereunder. 
ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the Rules made thereunder; 
iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Byelaws framed thereunder; 
iv)The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange Board of 
India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’) 
 

(a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and 
Takeovers) Regulations, 2011; 

(b) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 
2015; 

(c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer 
Agents) Regulations, 1993 regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client; 

(d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories and Participants) Regulations, 
2018; 

(e) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015. 

(f) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits and Sweat 
Equity) Regulations, 2021; 
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We report that, the provisions of the following regulations are not applicable to the Company during 
the audit period: - 
 

(a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 
2008; 

(b) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2021; 
and  

(c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 2018; 
(d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) 

Regulations, 2018; 
 
We further report that the Company has no External Commercial Borrowing. 
 
We further report that the Company has complied with the rules and regulations pertaining to 
Foreign Direct Investment and Overseas Investment for the year under review. 
 
We further report that, having regard to the compliance system prevailing in the Company and 
based on the written representations received from the officials/executives of the Company, we 
state that there are adequate systems and processes commensurate with the size and operations of 
the company to monitor and ensure compliance of the laws applicable to the Company; 
 
We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following:  
 

(a) Secretarial Standards with respect to Meetings of Board of Directors (SS-1) and General 
Meetings (SS-2) issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of India. 

(b) The Listing Agreement entered into by the Company with National Stock Exchange Ltd. 
 
We further report that the applicable financial laws, such as the Direct and Indirect Tax Laws, have 
not been reviewed under our audit as the same falls under the review of statutory audit and by 
other designated professionals. 
 
During the period under review, the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, 
Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. 
 
We further report that: 
 

(a) The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Non-
Executive Directors and Independent Directors. The changes in the composition of the Board 
of Directors that took place during the period under review were carried out in compliance 
with the provisions of the Act: 

(b)  Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule the Board Meetings, agenda and 
detailed notes on agenda were sent in advance, and a system exists for seeking and 
obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and 
for meaningful participation at the meeting and other business which are not included in the 
Agenda are considered vide supplementary agenda subject to consent of the Board of 
Directors.  

(c)  All the decisions at Board meetings and Committee Meetings are carried out unanimously as 
recorded in the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors or Committee of the 
Board, as the case may be. 
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(d)  There are adequate systems and processes in the Company commensurate with the size and 
operations of the company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
regulations and guidelines. 

 
We further report that during the audit period, there were no instances of: 
 
(i) Public Issue / Right issue of shares / debentures / sweat equity, etc. 
(ii) Redemption / buy-back of securities. 
(iii) Merger / Amalgamation / Reconstruction, etc. 
(iv) Foreign technical collaborations. 

 
For A.K JAIN & ASSOCIATES 

Company Secretaries 
Place: Chennai 
Date: 16.08.2025 
 

PANKAJ MEHTA 
Partner 

M. No. A29407 
C. P. No. 10598 
PR: 1201/2021 

UDIN: A029407G001020751 
 

This report is to be read with our letter of even dated which is annexed as Annexure A and form an 
integral part of this report. 
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ANNEXURE A 
To 
The Members 
NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
New No. 16, Old No. 13, 1st Floor, Prithvi Avenue, 
Alwarpet, Teynampet, Chennai – 600018 
 
Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter. 
 
1. Maintenance of Secretarial Records is the responsibility of the management of the Company. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based on our audit. 
 
2. We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable 

assurance about the correctness of the contents of the Secretarial Records. The verification was 
done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected in secretarial records. We believe 
that the processes and practices we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 
3. We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books of 

Accounts of the Company. 
 
4. Wherever required, we have obtained the Management representation about the compliance of 

laws, rules and regulations and happening of events, etc. 
 
5. The compliances of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, 

standards is the responsibility of management. Our examination was limited to the verification 
of procedures on test basis. 

 
6. The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor 

the efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the 
Company. 

 
For A.K JAIN & ASSOCIATES 

Company Secretaries 
Place: Chennai 
Date: 16.08.2025 
 

PANKAJ MEHTA 
Partner 

M. No. A29407 
C. P. No. 10598 
PR: 1201/2021 

UDIN: A029407G001020751 
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ANNEXURE F 

 
DISCLOSURE AS PER SECTION 197 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 AND RULE 5(1) OF THE 
COMPANIES (APPOINTMENT AND REMUNERATION OF MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL) RULES, 2014 
 
(i) The ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median remuneration of the employees of 
the Company for the financial year: 

 
SN Name of the Employee Designation Ratio of Remuneration 
1 Mr. Rajesh Nahar Managing Director 25 
2 Mr. Ritesh Katariya Whole Time Director 25 
3 Mr. Naresh Kumar Director Not applicable 
4 Mr. Murali Rajagopalachari Director Not applicable 
5 Ms. Riya Jain  Director Not applicable 

 
(ii) The percentage increase in remuneration of each Director, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive 
Officer, Company Secretary or Manager, if any, in the financial year: 
 

SN Name of the 
Employee 

Designation Remuneration 
(31.03.2025) 

Remuneration 
(31.03.2024) 

% Increase / 
(Decrease) in 

Remuneration 
1 Mr. Rajesh Nahar Managing Director 74.15 Lakhs 64.67 Lakhs  
2 Mr. Ritesh Katariya Whole Time Director 75.00 Lakhs 66.67 Lakhs  
3 Mr. Naresh Kumar Director Nil Nil - 
4 Mr. Murali 

Rajagopalachari 
Director Nil Nil - 

5 Ms. Riya Jain  Director Nil Nil - 
6 Mr. Prakash CFO 24 Lakhs 24 Lakhs  
7 Ms. Bhumisha 

Darshan Dadwani 
Company Secretary 2.5 Lakhs 2.5 Lakhs - 

  
 (iii) The percentage increase in the median remuneration of employees in the financial year: 7% 
 
(iv) The number of permanent employees on the rolls of the Company: 58 
 
(v) Average percentile increase already made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial 
personnel in the last financial year and its comparison with the percentile increase in the managerial 
remuneration and justification thereof and point out if there are any exceptional circumstances for 
increase in the managerial remuneration: The weighted average increase in salary for both the 
managerial persons and other employees is about 7% during the last financial year. 
 
(vi) Affirmation that the remuneration is as per the remuneration policy of the Company: Yes 
 
Statement showing the details of Employees of the Company as per Rule 5(2) of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014: 
 
(A) Top ten Employees in terms of remuneration drawn: 
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SN Name of the  
Employee 

Designation  
of the  

employee 

Remunerat
ion 

received  
(Rs.) 

Nature of  
employme

nt, 
whether  

contractual 
or 

otherwise 

Qualifications 
and  

experience  
of the employee 

Date of  
commencem

ent of 
employment 

Age of 
the  

emplo
yee 

Last 
employment 
held by such 

employee 
before joining 
the Company 

Percentage 
of Equity 
Shares 

held by the 
Employee 

in the 
 Company 

Whether any 
such employee is 

a  
relative of any  

Director or  
Manager of the 
Company and if 

so, name of such 
Director or 
Manager 

1 Prakash A Chief Financial 
Officer 

24,00,000 Permanent 
Employee 

Master of 
Business 

Administration 
and experience 

of 16 years 

17-08-2015 41 Private Nil Nil 

2 Prathees Kumar. 
C 

IT and Business 
Analyst 

13,60,008 Permanent 
Employee 

Master of 
Science in 
Computer 

Science 

01-07-2008 44 Private Nil Nil 

3 Naveen Kumar. 
K.P 

Software 
Developer 

13,48,008 Permanent 
Employee 

Master of 
Computer 

Applications 

01-11-2014 35 Private Nil Nil 

4 Satyavrata 
Swain 

Manager - 
Operations 

11,04,720 Permanent 
Employee 

Master in 
Personnel 

Management 
and Industrial 
Relation and 

overall 15 years 
of experience 

04-05-2015 40 Private Nil Nil 

5 Rajan.A Lead - UI/UX 
Designer 

9,71,358 Permanent 
Employee 

Bachelor of 
Computer 

Applications 

16-07-2014 47 Private Nil Nil 

6 Ahmed Khan. H Manager 
Sourcing 

9,25,914 Permanent 
Employee 

Overall 17 years 
of experience 

01-11-2007 40 Private Nil Nil 

7 Christopher Accounts - 
Assistant 
Manager 

7,80,000 Permanent 
Employee 

Bachelor of 
Commerce- 11 

years 

12-09-2018 32 Private Nil Nil 

8 Ilayaraja G Business 
Analytics 

7,44,000 Permanent 
Employee 

Bachelor of 
Engineering in 
Electrical and 

Electronics 
Engineering 

15-11-2012 40 Private Nil Nil 

9 Imran Khan J Marketing - 
Assistant 
Manager 

7,00,000 Permanent 
Employee 

Bachelor of 
Engineering in 

Computer 
Science - 10 

years 

01-07-2021 33 Private Nil Nil 

10 Santhosh Kumar 
M 

Operations - 
Assistant 
Manager 

6,99,600 Permanent 
Employee 

 13-03-2013 36 Private Nil Nil 

 
 
 



NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED    Annual Report 2024-25 

34 
 

 
(B) Employee(s) in receipt of remuneration, not less than Rs.1.02 crores p.a.: 
 

SN Name of the  
Employee 

Designation  
of the  

employee 

Remunerat
ion 

received  
(Rs.) 

Nature of  
employme

nt, 
whether  

contractual 
or 

otherwise 

Qualification
s and  

experience  
of the 

employee 

Date of  
commencemen

t of 
employment 

Age of 
the  

emplo
yee 

Last 
employment 
held by such 

employee 
before joining 
the Company 

Percentage 
of Equity 
Shares 

held by the 
Employee 

in the 
 Company 

Whether any 
such employee is 

a  
relative of any  

Director or  
Manager of the 
Company and if 

so, name of such 
Director or 
Manager 

NIL 

 
 
On behalf of the Board 
For NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
 
 
Sd/- 
Rajesh Nahar 
Chairman cum Managing Director 
DIN: 01015059 
 
Place: Chennai 
Date: 02/09/2025 
  



NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED    Annual Report 2024-25 

35 
 

 
 

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S DECLARATION ON CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
To, 
The Members of 
M/s. NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
 
I, Rajesh Nahar, Chairman cum Managing Director of the Company declare that the Board members 
and Senior Management of the Company have affirmed compliance with the code of conduct or the 
year ended March 31, 2025. 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board 
For NET AVENUE TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED 
 
 
Sd/- 
Rajesh Nahar 
Chairman cum Managing Director 
DIN: 01015059 
 
Place: Chennai 
Date: 02/09/2025 
 
 



PKF SRIDHAR & SANTHANAM UP 

Chartered Accountants 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Members of Net Avenue Technologies Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Net Avenue Technologies Limited ("the 

Company"), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2025, and the statement of Profit and Loss 

and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies an_d other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as 

"standalone financial statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 

aforesaid financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 ('the Act') in the 

manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Accounting Standards prescribed 

under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006, as amended, 

(AS) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as 

at 31 March 2025, its loss and its cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under Section 

143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor's

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of India ("ICAI"} together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

standalone financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. 

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion on the standalone financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgme11t, were of most significance in our 

audit of the standalone financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the standalone financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in 

our report. 

Tel +914428112985 to 88 I Fax +91«2811298911:,,.... sands@pl<fiodta ,n • wwwplcfindia in 

PKF SRIDHAR & SANTHANAM LLP • KRD Gee Gee Crystal• No 91 92 71h Floor• Dr RadhHnlhna� Sala, • Mytapc<e •Chennat • 6000()4 
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S.No Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter 

1. Revenue Recognition Our audit included but was not limited to the 

following procedures: 

The Company is engaged in the sale of 

Indian designer clothes and accessories. Among other procedures, we obtained ar 

The Company has its own website and also 

sells its goods on e-commerce sites. 

understanding of the revenue recognition proces� 

including the design and implementation 01 

relevant controls. 

The Company's revenue is derived 

primarily from sale of goods. As per its Accounting policies: 

accounting policy, revenue is recognized Assessed whether the Company's revenue 

when significant risks and rewards of recognition policy is consistent with the 

ownership are transferred to the buyer, requirements of AS 9. 

which generally coincides with the time of 

delivery of goods to the customer. Tests of details: 

Given the volume and variety of •

transactions, including the incidence of 

sales returns, there is a risk of 

inappropriate timing of revenue 

recognition and inaccurate estimation of 

sales returns, which could lead to 

Performed substantive testing of selected 

revenue transactions recorded during the 

year and near year-end, including verification 

of underlying documents such as sales 

contracts, invoices, delivery challans and 

goods dispatch notes. 

misstatement of revenue. • Verified that revenue was recognized only

when risks and rewards had been transferred

Accordingly, the timing of revenue 

recognition and the estimation of sales 

return provisions have been identified as a • 

Key Audit Matter. 

The accounting policies (Refer Note 2.8) 

provide additional information on how the • 

Company accounts for its revenue. 

and no significant uncertainty existed

regarding the amount or its collection.

Reviewed sales transactions recorded either

side of year end as well as credit notes issued

after the year end date to determine whether

revenue was recognized in the correct period.

Reviewed the methodology and assumptions

used by management to estimate provisions

for sales returns, including testing the

historical data used to support such

estimates and assessing whether the

provision was reasonable and consistent with

past trends, current circumstances, and the

• latest information available subsequent to

the balance sheet date.

• Compared the current year estimates to the

prior year and, where relevant, completing

further inquiries and testing.

• Performed analytical procedures to identify

any unusual trends or variances in revenue
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and sales returns. Reviewed significant 

fluctuations and obtained explanations from 

management. 

Control testing: 

Tested key controls over revenue recognition, 

including review of management's testing for 

operating effectiveness. 

Disclosures: 

Tracing disclosure information to accounting 

records and other supporting documentation. 

Information Other than the Stan(lalone Financial Statements and Auditors' Report Thereon 

The Company's Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation of the other 

information. The other information comprises the information included in the Company's annual report I

Directors report but does not include the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon. The 

annual report I Director's report is expected to be made available to us after the date of auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the audit or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. 

Responsibilities of the Management and Board of Directors for Standalone Financial Statements 

The Company's Management and Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in Section 

134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a true 

and fair view of the state of affairs, loss and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting 

principles generally accepted in India, including the Accounting Standards (AS) specified under Section 

133 of the Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for 

preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate 

accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, 

implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively 

for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and 

presentation of the standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the standalone financial statements, Management and Board of Directors are responsible for 

assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either 

intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements as 

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

these standalone financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also

responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal financial

controls with reference to the standalone financial statements in place and the operating

effectiveness of such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by the Management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of Management and Board of Directors use of the going concern

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue

as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention

in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the standalone financial statements or, if such

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence

obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Company to cease to continue as a going concern; and

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements of the current period and are 

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors' report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 

that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 

would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

1. As required by the Compa<1ies (Auditors' Report) Order, 2020 ("the Order"). issued by the Central

Government of India in terms of Section 143 (11) of the Act, we give in the "Annexure A" a

statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

2. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our

knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so

far as it appears from our examination of those books, except for non-compliance with the

requirement of maintaining daily backups on servers physically located in India, as mandated

under proviso to Rule 3 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. Attention is also drawn to the

matters stated in the paragraph 2(h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies

(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss and the statement of cash flows dealt with

by this Report are in agreement with the books of account.

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the AS specified under

Section 133 of the Act.

(e) The observation relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith

are as stated the paragraph 2(b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) of the Act and

paragraph 2(h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors)

Rules, 2014.

(f) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31 March 2025

taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March

2025 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

(g) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to the standalone

financial statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to

our separate Report in "Annexure B".
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(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors' Report in accordance with Rule

11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our

information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations as at 31 March 2025 on its

financial position in its standalone financial statements - Refer Note 28 to the standalone

financial statements;

ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which

there were any material foreseeable losses.

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and

Protection Fund by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025; and

iv. 

(a) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as

disclosed in the notes to the accounts, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested 

(either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the 

company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities 

("Intermediaries"), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the 

Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities 

identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the company ("Ultimate Beneficiaries") 

or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries 

(b) The management has represented, that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as

disclosed in the notes to the accounts, no funds have been received by the company from any 

person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities ("Funding Parties"), with the understanding, 

whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the company shall, whether, directly or 

indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or 

on behalf of the Funding Party ("Ultimate Beneficiaries") or provide any guarantee, security or 

the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries 

(c) Based on such audit procedures that we have considered reasonable and appropriate in

the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the 

representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material mis-statement. 

v. The Company has not paid/declared any dividend during the financial year. Accordingly,

reporting on compliance with the provisions of Section 123 of the Act are not applicable.

vi. Relying on representations/explanations from the company and software vendor and based

on our examination which included test checks, the Company has used,

• Accounting software for maintaining its books of account, which has a feature of

recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the

year for all relevant transactions recorded. The accounting software is such that it

has no database but only objects and collections, hence, no changes is possible at

that level.
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• lnhouse developed software which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log)

facility and the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions

recorded. The feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled at

the database level to log any direct data changes for this software.

Further, during the course of our audit we did not come across any instance of audit trail 

feature being tampered with. 

The audit trail has been preserved by the company as per the statutory requirements 

for record retention. 

3. With respect to the matter to be included in the Auditors' Report under Section 197(16) of the Act:

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the remuneration

paid by the Company to its directors during the current year is in accordance with the provisions

of Section 197 read with Schedule V of the Act.

For PKF Sridhar & Santhanam LLP

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's f\egistration No.003990S/S200018 

P.Devi

Partner 

Membership No. 223137 

UDIN : 25223137BMINVG3046 

Place: Chennai 

Date: May 29, 2025 

Page 7 of 15 

42



Annexure A 

Referred to In paragraph 1 on 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' of our report of even date 

to the members of Net Avenue Technologies Limited ("the Company") on the financial statements as of and 

for the year ended 31 March 2025. 

(i) (a)

(ii) 

(A) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars including quantitative
details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment

(B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

(b) The Company has a regular programme of physical verification of its Property, Plant and
Equipment by which all Property, Plant and Equipment are verified in a phased manner over a
period of two years. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification is reasonable having
regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its assets. Pursuant to the programme, certain
Property, Plant and �quipment were physically verified by the management during the year. In our
opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, no material discrepancies
were noticed on such verification.

(c) There is no immovable property (other than properties where the Company is the lessee and the
lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee), held by the Company and accordingly,
the requirement to report on clause 3(i)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(d) The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment or intangible assets during the
year and hence this clause is not applicable to the Company.

(e) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of
the records of the Company, no proceedings have been initiated or are pending against the
Company tor holding any benami property under the Bena mi Transactions (Prohibitions) Act, 1988
(45 of 1988) and rules made thereunder.

a) The inventory, except goods in transit and stocks lying with third parties, has been physically verified
by the management at reasonable intervals during the year. In our opinion, the frequency of such
verification is reasonable. For stocks lying with third parties at the year-end, written confirmations
have been obtained and in respect of goods-in-transit, subsequent goods receipts have been verified
or confirmations have been obtained from the parties. In our opinion, the coverage and procedure of
such verification by the management is appropriate. The discrepancies noticed on verification
between the physical stocks and the book records are more than 10% of net value (net of provisions)
of stock in hand tor raw materials as March 31, 2025, and these have been properly dealt in the books
of account.

b) Based on our audit procedures and according to the information and explanation given to us, the
Company has not been sanctioned loan in excess of five cr�es from banks or financial

:::;-

Page 8 of 15

43



institution on the basis of security of current assets and hence the question of filing quarterly returns 

or statements by the company with banks or financial institutions does not arise. Accordingly, 

paragraph 3(ii)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

(iii) Based on our audit procedures and according to the information and explanation given to us, the

Company has not made investments in, provided any guarantee or security or granted any loans or

advances in the nature of loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, Limited Liability

Partnerships or any other parties during the year. Accordingly, paragraph 3(iii) (a) to (f) of the Order is

not applicable to the Company.

(iv) Based on our audit procedures and according to the information and explanation given to us, the

Company has neither given any loan, guarantees and security nor made any investment during the year

covered under section 185 and 186 of the Act. Therefore paragraph 3(iv) of the Order is not applicable

to the Company.

(v) Based on our audit procedures & according to the information and explanation given to us, the

Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are deemed to be deposits within the

meaning of the Act and the directives issued by the Reserve Bank of India and the provisions of sections

73 to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the Act and the rules framed thereunder. No order has been

passed by Company Law Board or National Company Law Tribunal or Reserve Bank of India or any court

or any other tribunal. Accordingly, paragraph 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(vi) The Company is not required to maintain cost records specified by the Central Government under sub

section (1) of section 148 of the Act. Accordingly, paragraph 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable to the

Company.

(vii) 

(a) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined

by us, the Company has been regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues including Goods and

Service Tax, Provident Fund, Employees' State Insurance, Income-tax, Sales-tax, Service tax, Duty of

Customs, Duty of Excise, Value added tax, Cess and any other material statutory dues as applicable

with the appropriate authorities, though there has been delay in a few cases of Provident Fund and

Professional Tax remittances as per table below. According to the information and explanation given

to us and the records of the Company examined by us, no undisputed amounts payable in respect of

statutory dues were in arrears, as at 31 March 2025 for a period of more than six months from the date

they became payable.
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Name of the Statute 
Nature of 

the Dues 
Amount 

Period to which 

it relates 
Due Date Date of Filing Delay 

The Employees' 

Provident Funds and Provident September, 
15-10-2024 15-12-2024 61 Days 

Miscellaneous Fund 4,504 2024 

Provisions Act, 1952 

The Gujarat State Tax 

on Professions, 
Profession 

Trades, Callings and 
al Tax 

November, 2024 15-12-2024 05-02-2025 52 Days 

Employments Act, 
5,800 

1976 

The Gujarat State Tax 

on Professions, 
Profession 

Trades, Callings and 
al Tax 

December, 2024 15-01-2025 05-02-2025 21 Days 

Employments Act, 
5,000 

1976 

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the

records of the Company, there are no statutory dues referred to in sub-clause (a) as at 31 March 2025,

which have not been deposited with the appropriate authorities on account of any dispute, except as

stated below:

Amount Period to 

Name of the 
Amount 

Nature of demanded which Forum where dispute is 

Statute the Dues {In 
paid (In 

amount pending 

thousand) 
thousand) 

relates 

The Income Tax 

Act, 1961 
Income tax 49.98 NIL AV 2021-22 CPC 

The Income Tax Commissioner of IT 
Income tax 3320.27 NIL AV 2022-23 

Act, 1961 (Appeals) 

The Income Tax 

Act, 1961 
Income tax 1036.18 NIL AV 2020-21 CPC 

The Income Tax 
Income tax 891.87 

Act, 1961 
NIL AV 2011-12 Assessing Officer of IT 

(viii) As per the information and explanations given by the management and on the basis of our examination

of the records of the Company, no amount has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year

in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961. Accordingly, paragraph 3(viii) of the order is not

applicable to the Company.

(ix) 

(a) Based on our audit procedures and as per the information and explanations given by the management,

the Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in payment of interest

thereon to any lender.
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(x) 

(xi) 

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination of the

records of the Company, the Company has not been declared willful defaulter by any bank or financial

institution or government or government authority.

(c) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined by

us, there were no term loans taken by the Company and hence the question of the amount of loan so 

diverted and the purpose for which it is used does not arise. Accordingly, paragraph 3(ix)(c) of the Order

is not applicable to the Company.

(d) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined by

us, no funds raised on short term basis have been utilized for long term purposes.

(e) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined by

us, the Company has not taken any funds from any entity or person on account of or to meet the

obligations of its subsidiaries, joint ventures or associate companies. Accordingly, paragraph 3(ix)(e) of

the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(f) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the Company examined by

us, the Company has not raised any loans during the year on pledge of securities held in its subsidiaries,

joint ventures or associate companies. Accordingly, paragraph 3(ix)(f) of the Order is not applicable to 

the Company.

(a) The Company has not raised any money during the year by way of initial public offer/further public offer

(including debt instruments) hence, the requirement to report on clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not

applicable to the Company.

{b) During the year, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares 

or convertible debentures (fully or partly or optionally) and hence reporting under clause (x)(b) of the 

Order is not applicable to the Company. 

(a) To the best of our knowledge and belief and according to the information and explanations given to us,

we report that no material fraud by the Company or on the Company has been noticed or reported during

the year.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us including the representation made to us by

the management of the Company, no report under sub-section 12 of Section 143 of the Act has been

filed by secretarial auditor or by us in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under Rule 13 of Companies (Audit and

Auditors) Rules, 2014, with the Central Government of India for the period covered by our audit.

(c) As represented to us by the management, there are no whistle blower complaints received during the

year by the Company.
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(xii) The Company is not a Nidhi company in accordance with Nidhi Rules 2014. Accordingly, paragraph

3(xii)(a) to (c) of the Order is not applicable.

(xiii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the transactions with

related parties are in compliance with Section 177 and 188 of the Act, where applicable, and the details

of the related party transactions have been disclosed in the financial statements as required by the

applicable accounting standards.

(xiv) 

(a) To the best of our knowledge and belief and according to the information and explanations given to us,

the Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its business.

(b) We have considered the reports of the Internal Auditors of the Company issued till date for the period

under audit.

(xv) On the basis of the information and explanations given to us, in our opinion, during the year the Company

has not entered into any n.,on-cash transactions with its directors or persons connected with its directors

and hence provisions of section 192 of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable to the Company.

(xvi) 

(a) Based on our audit procedures and according to the information and explanations given to us, the

Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 (2 of

1934).

(b) Based on our audit procedures and according to the information and explanations given to us, the

Company has not conducted any Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finance activities without a valid

Certificate of Registration (CoR) from the Reserve Bank of India as per the Reserve Bank of India Act,

1934. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(c) Based on our audit procedures and according to the information and explanations given to us, the

Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made by the Reserve

Bank of India and hence the questions of fulfilring criteria of a CIC, and in case the Company is an

exempted or unregistered CIC, whether it continues to fulfill such criteria, do not arise. Accordingly,

paragraph 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(d) Based on our audit procedures and according to the information and explanations given to us, none of

the group companies are Core Investment Company (CIC) and hence the question of number of Cl Cs

which are part of the Group does not arise. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xvi)(d) of the Order is not applicable

to the Company.
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(xvii) The company has incurred cash losses of Rs.(19,661) thousand in the financial year and there was no

cash loss in the immediately preceding financial year.

(xviii) There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and accordingly this clause is not

applicable.

(xix) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of the financial ratios, ageing

and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, other

information accompanying the financial statements, our knowledge of the Board of Directors and

management plans and based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing

has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that any material uncertainty exists as on the date

of the audit report that the Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance

sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however,

state that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of the company. We further state that our

reporting is based on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor

any assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date, will

get discharged by the company as and when they fall due.

(xx) Based on our audit procedures and according to the information and explanations given to us, the

company is not required to spend any amount for corporate social responsibilities and Accordingly,

paragraph 3(xx)(a) and 3(xx)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

For PKF Srldhar & Santhanam LLP

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration No.003990S/S200018 

P.Devl

Partner 

Membership No. 223137 

UDIN : 25223137BMINVG3046 

Place: Chennai 

Date: May 29, 2025 
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Annexure B 

Referred to In paragraph 2(1) on 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' of our report of even 

date 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to the aforesaid standalone financial statements 

under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements of Net 

Avenue Technologies Limited ("the Company") as of 31 March 2025 in conjunction with our audit of the 

standalone financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date. 

Management's and Board of Dirnctors' Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

The Company's Management and the Board of Directors are responsible for establishing and maintaining 

internal financial controls based on the internal control with reference to financial statements criteria 

established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance 

Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of India (the "Guidarice Note"). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and 

maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and 

efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, 

the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 

and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to 

financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note and 

the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of 

internal financial controls with reference to financial statements. Those Standards and the Guidance Note 

require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements were 

established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial 

controls with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial 

controls with reference to standalone financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal 

financial controls, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and 

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the 

auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is-sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to standalone financial statements 

A Company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements is a process designed to provide 

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the p�paration of financial statements 
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for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A Company's internal 

financial control with reference to financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 

to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 

dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 

as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with 

authorisations of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 

prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets that 

could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to standalone financial statements 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, 

including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements 

due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial 

controls with reference to financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal 

financial control with reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in 

conditions, or that the degree of coo,pliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference 

to financial statements and such internal financial controls were operating effectively as at 31 March 2025, 

based on the internal control with reference to financial statements criteria established by the Company 

considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note. 

For PKF Sridhar & Santhanam LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration No.003990S/S200018 

P.Devi

Partner 

Membership No. 223137 

UDIN : 25223137BMINVG3046s 

Place: Chennai 

Date: May 29, 2025 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") Standalone Balance Sheet for the year ended 31 March 2025 (All amounts are in thousands except share data or as stated) 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Shareholders' funds Share capital 
Rcsc1·vcs and surplus Non-currfnt liabilities Long-tcnn provisions Current liabilities 
Short-tcm1 borrowings Trade payables - Dues 10 micro and small enterprises - Total outstanding dues to creditors other than micro and small enterprises Other current liabilities Short-term provisions 
TOTAL 

ASSF.TS Non-current ass�ts Property. plant and equipment & Intangibles a) Tangible assets h) lntang1blc assets 
'Jon-current investments Deferred tax asset Amount recoverable from Net Avenue Technologies Private L1m1ted Employees Welfare Trust (net) 
Long-term loans and advances 

Curru1t u�sNs Current Investments 
ln,cntorh!s 

Trade rccc1vablcs Cash and bank balances Sho11-term loans and advances 
Other current assets 

10TAL 
Sig1111ic.1nt accounting policic� The notes rele1Tcd 10 above form an 1111cgral part of the standalone tinanc1al ,tatemenL, 

Note 
3 
4 

5 

6 7 
8 

5 

9 10 II 12 39 13 
14 15 16 17 13 18 
2 

As at 31 i\larch 2025 
21.416 44,604 
66,020 3,811 3,81 I 7,005 5,664 20.512 39,237 5,314 
77,732 

1,47,563 

2,564 139 
5.120 3,845 11,668 

37,267 28,904 3,223 33.952 11,526 21.023 1,35,895 1.47,563 
A, per our report of e, en da,c attached For PKF Sridhar & Santhanam LLP for and on behalf of the Board of Director, of 
Clwrleretl Accmmtant.v Firm's Rcg1s1ra11on No: .003990S 'S:!000 I 8 
�w� P Dc,i Parwer Membership No. 2 Place Chennai Dale 29 May 2025 

f, � 
--

I • l.i 
00J990�2 

!\ct Avenue Technologies Limited 
�rn,oo,ncoom 
Ritcsh K•tariya Wlwle-rime di DIN 0101945 Place . Surat Date 29 May 

('#I N*<" Prn� Arlhanurl :::::: Chief Financ1,1J Olftccr Place Sumt Date 2'1 May 2025 

As at 31 March 2024 
21.416 80,162 

1,01,578 3.910 
3,910 IJ.837 3,544 28,339 47,771 4.864 

98,355 

2.oJ,843 

3.258 214 
10,960 3,971 18,403 
52.212 55,083 3.732 26,659 26,231 21.523 1,85,440 2.03,843 

51



Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Statement of Standalone Profit and Loss for the year ended 3 I March 2025 
(All amounts are in thousands except share data or as stated) 

Income 
Revenue from operations 
Other income 

Total revenue 

Expenses 

Cost of materials consumed 
Purchases of stock-in-trade 
Changes in invent01y of work-in-progress and stock-in-trade 
Employee benefits expense 
Finance cost 
Depreciation and amortisation 
Other expenses 

Total expenses 

Profit/ (loss) before tax 

Tax expense: 
- Current tax (Net off MAT Credit entitlement)
- Deferred tax

Profit/ (loss) for the year 

Earnings per share 
Ba,ic 
Diluted 
Nominal value of equity share 

Significa111 accounting policies 

The notes referred to above form an integral pa11 of the standalone financial statements 

Note 

19 
20 

21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 

38 
38 

2 

For the year ended 
31 March 2025 

2,71,149 
6,271 

2,77,420 

12,482 
61,636 
13,745 
45,484 

610 
950 

1,77,009 
3,11,916 

(34,496) 

(34,496) 

( 1.61) 
( 1.61) 
1.00 

As per our report of even date attached 
For PKF Sridhar & Santhanam LLP

Chartered Accountants 
for and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Net Avenue Technologies Limited 

For the year ended 
31 March 2024 

2,67,053 
2,687 

2,69,740 

15,470 
40,399 

1,804 
53,931 

1,749 
1.-105 

1,72,231 
2,86,989 

(17,249) 

(17,249) 

(1.01) 
(1.01) 
1.00 

Firm's Registration No: .003990S/S200018 

f n� #£ 

CIN, U729DOTN2001PTC047220 f. ½',,J,-
.J

u'-,/

.l,,,,v � ••J�h N•""'P Devi 
Partner 
Membership t' 223137
Place: Chemr 
Date • 29 May 5 

t: 
�,:.;.;..�;, 

Whole-11111e dij/4:Jy>r.

�

C 

1 

Managmg Director 
DIN 010194$�. 

NNAI l 
DIN: 01015059 

Place Surat!\ 1018 j Place : Chennai 
Date • 29 Ma� 2Ql5 C Date : 29 May 2025 

.:tN* o'}'/ 
� � 

Pra�1 Arthanari 
Chief Financial Officer 
Place . Surat 
Date : 29 May 2025 

Company Secretary 
Place : Surat 
Date : 29 May 2025 
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Nel Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Nel Avenue Technologies Privale Limited") 
St11nd:1lonc Cash Oo" 1h1tcmcn1 for lhe yen ended JI March 202S 
(All amoun1s are in thousands cx.CC()t share d.11..1 or n1o: stated) 

Ca�h no" from operalln,: aclh illes 
Prolil I (loss) before tax 
\dJustmcnts· 

Depreciation and rtmort1sauon 
Finance cost 
Interest income 
Fmploycc c;tock compcnsa11on c�rcnsc 
Gam on sale of inHstmc.nt 
Prov1s1011 for doubtful debts advances 
Pro\lsion for rcco,crablc from Net Avenue Tcchnoloi;1c� l'm,atc L1m1tcd Employees Welfare Trust 
Bad dcbL\ wnltcn off 
Pro,, .. 1011 for non-mo, mg inventory and Inventory \Hillen olT 
Lnrcah,cd foreign c�changc (�am) los,. 
Pro, is Ion no longer required wn1tcn bai,:l 
Opera1in� ush no" before '"orkine capil:11 chan,::es 
( lncrcasc)/01..-crcasc 111 trade n.a.·c1vabks 
(lm.:rcasc)/Occ-rcasc in 11wcn1orics 
{lncrcasc)/Dccrcasc m loans and advance:., and other as:,t,;ts 
lncr��c/(Dcc;rcasc) m traJe payables, olhcr lia�1ht1cs and prm IMOR!i 

Cash c.enerated fro111 operations 
Income ia-..cs rcrund (pJid) 
'\ie1 cash used b} operaline aclhities 

Cash no" from invest in� acth i1ies 
l'urchasc of property. plant and cqu1pmcn1 and intangible fixeJ assel'i 
Sale of Propl"rt). Plant & Equ1p1ncn1 
Pur\'ha:i.c of inwsrments in mutual fund::. 

Sale: of lnY!!:,lm�nh m muluJI fund:, 
Bank deposits (htl\ mg ongmal m:uunty more than three month:,) 
lntt:rt.·::.1 rtcc1vetJ 
\N cash 11rovidrd b} inustin� ncth i1ies 

Chh flu" frum finandnc 1tclh itici 
rrocccds from issue of shares. nc1 of share IMiUC CXf'h!n�, 
kcr,aymcnl llf borrowmg� 
f'rocc-cds frnn, issue of preference ,hare� (1nclud1ng ,;;ccunllc, rircm1um) 
rnxccds from borrowmg-. 
Finance co:,ls paid 
\el cash used h\ finundne ncli\'ilies 

\er decrease in ush and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash cqui\'alems at the bcginnmg of year 
Cash and cash equivalents ot tht end oftht �•tar 

'lolt"S to cash now s1a1emen1 

Componcnu ofc.ash and cash 1.-qu1vah.-n1s 
Cash on hand 
B,1lanc;c:, w11h b.mb 
- On current nccounb 
local 

Significant m,;countmg policies 

IA) 

(B) 

(C) 

(A+B+C) 

TI1c no1c:-. referred lo above form an integral part of the standalom.· linanc1al ,1.atcmcnts 
I\, per our n:porl or even dJtc ;HLac:hcd 

For PKF Sridhar & Sunthanam LLP 
Cl,artered Accowlldlll.'t 
Fmn', Reg.,nauon t-.o: OOW90S S21K)(} IX 

' 

p.D�-� 
�,,?,:�, ���· '��
Membership l\o. :!2� I �7 11, 
Pl.ice Chenmu 
Date 29 May �025 

Chief Financial Officer 
Pince Surat 
Oati: 2'J May 2025 

Year ended 
31 March 2025 

(34,496) 

950 
610 

(1,842) 
1,938 
(750) 

1,749 
5,840 

986 
7,388 

(95) 
12,936 

(20,657) 
395 

18,791 
10,258 

(11,730) 
(2,944) 

352 
(2,592) 

(195) 
13 

(),600) 
19,295 
11,603) 
1,814 

15,724 

18.33 I 1 

1,499 
(610) 

(7,J42) 

5,690 
4,024 
9,714 

As:at 

March 31, 202S 

9,70'! 

9 714 

Year ended 
31 March 2024 

(17,249) 

1,405 
1,749 

(1,425) 
7.()63 
(212) 

4,064 

11,693 
(47) 

7,041 
9,051 
5,495 

62,704 
(1,01.333) 

(17,042) 

(17,042) 

(439) 

(1,14,998) 
63,000 
(4,826) 
1,425 

(55,838) 

91,849 
C 17,205) 

3,420 
ll.7J9) 
76.315 

3.435 
589 

J,024 

As lit 

l\1arch 31, 202.t 

Company Secretary 
Place Surat 
Date 29 M•) 2025 

41 

3,983 
4,024 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the year cnded 31 March 2025 
(All amounts arc In thousands except share data or as stated) 

Background 
Net Avenue Technologlcs Limited ("the Company") was Incorporated on 7 June 2001 The Company is engaged In the sale of 
Indian designer clothes and accessories online. The Company has its own portal "Cbazaar com" in the Indian fash ion c-tail space. 

The company also sells Its goods on c-commerce sites. 

2 Sign ificant accounting policies 
The accounting pobclcs sct aU{ below have been applied consistently to the periods presented In these standalone financial 
sl<ltcmcnlS 

2.1 Basis of preparation of 5tandalonc financia l state menU 
The standalone financial statements have been prepared and prcsented In accordance with the generally accepted accounting 
prinCiples In India ("' ndlan GAA P"). The standalone finanCial statements have been prepared to comply In all materia l respects 
with the Accounting Standards ("AS") nOllfied under $.ectlon 133 of the Compames Act. 2013 and the other relevant provisions 

of Compames Act. 2013 as applicable The standalone finanCial statemen ts have been prepared on accrua l basis under the 
hlstoncal cost convent ion 

All assets and liablllllcs have been classified Into current or non-currcnt as per the normal operating cycle of the Company and 
other cntena as set out in Schedule III to the Companics Act. 2013. Based on thc nature of the services and the time between the 

acquIsition of asscts for proccssing and thclr realization In cash and cash equivalents. the Company has ascerta ined Its operahng 

cycle as twelve months for thc purpose of current and non-current classification of assets and liabilities 

TI1C Board. duly takmg mto account all the relevant disclosures made. has approved these financial statements in its meeting held 
on 29th May 2025 

TI1C financial statcmcnts have been prepared on a gomg concern baSIS 

, , 
~~ .. 



Net Avenue Technologies Limited (J<'ormerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
(All amounts arc in thousands except share data or as stated) 

2.2 Use of estimates 

The preparation of standalone financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts or assets and liabiltlles, the disclosure or contingent liabilities on the date of the 
standalone financial statements and reported amounts of income and expenses during the period. Actual figures may differ from 
these estimates. Any revision to accounting estimates is recognized prospectively in current and future periods. 

2.3 Current-non-current classification 

All assets and liabilities arc classified into current and non-current. 
Assets 

An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following cntcria: 
a. it is expected to be realised in, or is intended for sale or consumption 111, the company's nom1al operating cycle;
b. it is held pmnarily for the purpose of being traded;
c It 1s expected to be realised within 12 months after the reportmg date; or
d. it 1s cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from bemg exchanged or used to scule a liability for at least 12 months after

Current assets mcludc the current portion of non-current assets. All other assets arc classified as non-current. 

Liabilities 
A ltab1lity is classified as current when It satisfies any or the following criteria: 
a. 1t is expected to be settled in the company's nonnal operating cycle;
b. it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;
c. it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date; or
d. the company docs not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
date. Tenns of a liability that could. at the option of the countcrparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do
not affect its classification.
Current liabilities include current portion of non-current liabilities. All other liabtliues are classified as non-current.

Operating cycle 1s the tnnc between the acqu1s11ton of assets for processmg and their realisation 111 cash or cash equivalents. 

2.4 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 
ll1e cost of property. plant and equipment mcludcs freight. duties and taxes and other incidental expenses related to the 

acquisition. but exclude duties and taxes that arc recoverable subsequently from tax authorities. Borrowing costs directly 

attributable to acquisition of those property, plant and equipment which necessarily take a substanttal period of lime to get ready 

for their intended use arc capitalized. Deprcc1a11011 is provided on wnttcn down value method over the useful life as prescribed 

under Part C of Schedule II of the Companies Act. 2013. Pursuant to the above. the useful life of the assets arc as below: 

Catce:orv of asset Useful life 
Computers 3 years 
Office equipments 5 years 
Plant and macluncry 15 years 
Furniture and fittmgs IO years 
Vch1cle 10 years 

Deprecianon 1s calculated on a pro-rata basis from the date of tnstallatton ttll the date the assets are sold or disposed. 

Leasehold improvements arc amortised using straight line method over the lease period. 

Advances patd towards acquisition of property, plant and equipment and the cost of assets not ready to be put to use before the 
year end are disclosed under long-term loans and advances. and capital work in progress respectively. 

2.5 Intangible assets and amortisation 
lntang1blc assets arc recorded at the cons1dcratton paid for acqu1s11ton mcludmg any import duties and other taxes ( other than 
those subsequently recoverable by the enterprise from the taxmg authoriues). and any directly attributable expenditure in making 
the asset ready for tis mtendcd use. Intangible assets comprise pnmanly of software licenses that are amortized over their 
estimated useful h fc of 3 years 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the year ended JI March 2025 
(All amounts arc in thousands except share data or as stated) 

2.6 Impairment 
The Company assesses at each balance sheet whether there 1s an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such condition 
exists, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. If such recoverable amount of the asset or the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is less than its carrymg amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. The reduction is treated as an impainnent loss and 1s recognised 111 the statement of profit and loss . If at the 
balance sheet dale there is an indication that a previously assessed impaim1cnl loss no longer exists, the recoverable amount is 
reassessed and the asset is retlected at the recoverable amount subject to maximum of depreciated historical cost. 

2.7 Inventories 
Inventories which comprise raw materials, work in-progress. fimshed goods and stock-111-trade are carried al the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. The comparison of cost and net realizable value is made on an item by item basis. Cost of inventories 
comprises of purchase costs, costs of conversion. and �1ther costs 111currcd 111 br111g111g the uwentorics lo their present condition and 
locauon. In dctcnn111mg the cost, specific 1dcnuficauon method 1s used 

2.8 Income from operations and other income 
Revenue from sale of goods including shippmg charges 1s recognised on delivery of goods to customers. which generally coincides 
with the transfer of all significant risks and rewards of ownership to the buyer. Sale value of goods is exclusive of sales tax, 
returns, and inclusive of price adjustments and quantity discounts. 
Dividend income is recognized when the shareholders' right to receive payment is established by the balance sheet date. 

Interest income is recognized on time proportion basis. 

2.9 Investments 
Investments arc either classified as current or non-current based on the management's mtcntion. Current investments arc earned at 
the lower of cost and fair value. In case of mvesrments 111 mutual funds, the net asset value of umts declared by the mutual funds 1s 
considered as the fair value. Non-current mvestmcnts are carried at cost and prov1s1ons arc recorded to recognize any declme, 
other than temporary. 111 the carrymg value of each mvestment. 

2.10 Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transacttons are recorded at the exchange rates preva1lmg on the day of the respective transactions. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies arc translated at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Exchange 
differences arising on foreign currency transactions during the year and on restatement of monetary assets and liabilities are 
recognized in the statement of profit and loss of the year. 
Integral foreign operations arc those which carry on their business as if they were an extension of the Company's operations. 
The financial statements of an integral foreign operation are translated into Indian rupees as if the transactions of the foreign 
operation were those of the Company itself. 

2.11 Earnings per share 
Basic eammgs per share amounts arc compurcd by d1v1d111g net profit or loss for the year annbutable to equity shareholders by the 
weighted average number of shares outstandmg dunng the year. 
For the purpose of calculatmg diluted canungs per share, net profit after tax attnbutable to the equity shareholders for the year and 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year arc adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity 
share, The dilutive polcnttal equity shares arc deemed converted as of the begmnmg of the penod, unless they have been issued at 
a later date. The diluted potcnttal equity shares have been adjusted for the proceeds receivable had the shares been actually issued 
al fair value (i.e. the average market value of the outstandmg shares). 

In computing diluted eammgs per share. only potenttal equity shares that arc d1luttvc and that reduce profit/ loss per share are 
111cludcd. 

2.12 Leases 

Leases under which the Company assumes substanttally all the nsks and rewards of owncrshtp arc classified as finance leases. 
Such assets acquired arc capitalised at the fair value of the asset or present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception 
of the lease. whichever is lower. Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of 
the leased items arc classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments arc recognised as an expense in the�t�of 
profit and loss on a strnight line b� over the period of the lease.
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
ores to the standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 

(All amounts arc in thousands except share data or as stated) 

2.13 Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services arc classified as shon-tenn employee 

benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages. bonus and ex-gratia The undiscounted amount of shon-tenn employee 

benefits to be paid in exchange for employee services is recognised as an expense as the related service is rendered by employees. 

Post-employment benefits 

Defined contribution plan: 

Provident F1111d: A defined contribuuon plan is a post employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specified 

contributions to a separate entity and has no obliga'tton to pay any funher amounts. The company makes specified monthly 

contributions towards employee provident fund and pension to Government admimstered provident fund scheme and pension 

scheme which is a defined contribution plan. The Company has no funhcr obhgauons under the plan beyond its monthly 

contnbutions. The company's contribuuon is recognized as an expense rn the Statement of profit and loss during the period in 

which the employee renders the related service 

Defined benefit plan: 

Gratuity: The company's gratuity benefit scheme is the defined benefit plan. The company's net obligation in respect of the 

defined benefit plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that the employees have earned in return for their 

service 111 the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to deterinine its present value. Any unrecognized past service 

costs and the fair value of any plan assets arc deducted. The calculation of the company's obligation is performed by a qualified 

actuary using the projected unit credit method. The Companies gratuity scheme is admimstcrcd by Life Insurance Corporation of 

India. 

The company rccogmzes all actuarial gains and losses arising from the defined benefit plan immediately in the statement of profit 

and loss. All expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized 111 employee benefits expense in the statement of profit and 

loss. When the benefits of the plan arc improved, the ponion of the increased benefit related to past service by employees is 

recognized in the statement of profit and loss on a straight line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. The 

company recognizes gains and losses on the cu11ailment or settlement of the plan when the cuna1lment or settlement occurs 

Ct1111pe11sated absence.,: The employees can carry-forward a pon1on of the unu11hsed accrued compensated absences and ullhse 1t 

111 funirc service periods or receive cash compensation on tcn111na11on of employment. The obhgauon 1s measured on the basis of 

independent acmarial valuation using the projected unn credit method as at the balance sheet date. 

2.14 Taxation 

[ncome-tax expense comprise current tax (i.e. amount of tax for the period detennined in accordance with the income-tax law), 

and deferred tax charge or credit (reflecting the tax effects of timing differences between accounting income and taxable income 

for the period). The deferred tax charge or credit and the corresponding deferred tax liabilities or assets are recognized using the 

tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognized 

only to the extent there is a reasonable ccnainty that the assets can be realized in future; however, where there is unabsorbed 

dcprcciauon or carried forward loss under taxation laws, deferred tax assets arc recogmzed ooly if there is a vinual cenainty of 

realization of such assets. Deferred tax assets arc reviewed as at the balance sheet date and written down or written up to reflect 

the amount that is rcasonably/vinually certain (as the case may be) to be realized. 

Current tax and deferred tax assets and hab1h11cs are offset to the extent to which the Company has a legally enforceable nght to 

set off and they relate 10 raxes on mcome levied by the same govern mg taxation law5 

2.15 Provisions, contingent liabilities nnd contingent assets 

Prov1s1011 1s rccogmLcd when there 1s a present obhgat1on as a result of past event and it 1s probable that an outflow of resources 

will be required to settle the obhgallon. in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made. Prov1s1ons are detennmed based on 

best estimates required to settle the obhgauon at the balance sheet date. These arc reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted 

to rc!lect the current management estimates. A disclosure of contmgcnt liability is made when there is possible obligation that 

may, but probably will not, require an out!low of resources. Where there is a possible obligation or a present obligation in respect 

of which the likelihood of out!low of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure 1s made. Contingent assets are neither 

rccogmzcd nor disclosed in the standalone financial statements. 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 March 202S 
(All amounts are in thousands except share data or as stated) 

2.16 Employee stock option based compensation 
The Company calculates the compensation cost based on the fair value method. wherein the excess of the fair value of the 
underlying equity share as on the date of the grant of the option over the exercise price of the option given to the employees under 
the employee sto.:k option scheme of the Company 1s amonised over the vesting period on a straight line basis. The Company 
follows the Guidance note on accounting for employee share based payments issued by Institute of Chanercd Accountants of India 
for account111g for employee stock options. 

2.17 Cash and cash equivalent 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise or cash at bank and in hand and shon-tenn 111vcstments with an original maturity of three 
months or less. 

2.18 Cash flow statement 
Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, whereby net profit or loss before tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions 
of non-cash nature, any deferrals, or accruals of past oi- future operating cash receipts or payments and item of expenses associated 
with investing or financmg cash flows. The cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities of the Company are 
segregated. 

< This space has heen i111e111io11ally lefl hlank > 

/ 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly" et Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the year ended J 1 March 2025 

(All amoun!s arc m thousands except share data or as stated) 

3 Share capital 

Particulars As at 

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

Authorised: 

I. E1111ity shares

2.30.00.000 (31 March 202·1 2.30.00.000) equity shares of INR I each

Issued, subscribed and paid up 

I. Eq11ity shares

2, 14.54,078 (31 March 2024 2, 14,54,078) equity shares of JNR. I each 

Less Amount recoverable from Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited Employees Welfare Trust -

Face value of 38,420 shares (31 March 2024 38,420 ) allotted to the trust 

"' 
,. 

< Thi.f space lta.1 !teen intentumallr left lt/a11k > 

23,000 

21,454 

(38) 

21.416 

21 416 

23.000 

21.454 

(38) 

21.416 

21,416 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly " et Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
otes to the standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 

(All amounts arc in thousands except share data or as stated) 

(a) Reconcilbtion of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting year 

Particulars 

I. Equity shares 

At the beginning and end of the year (face value fNR I each) 
Add'. Conversion of preference shares and Series A equity shares· 
Add: Issue of bonus shares 
Add Issue of shares on account of IPO 
At the end of the year 

II. 0.0/ 0;, compulsorily co11vertib/e a11d 11011 cu11111/atfre 

Series A prefere11ce shares 

As at 
31 March 2025 

Number 
of shares 

21,454 

21,454 

Amount 

21,454 

21,454 

As at 
31 March 2024 

Number 
of shares 

1,238 
1,013 

13,507 
5,696 

21,454 

Amount 

1.238 
1.013 

13,507 
5.696 

21,454 

469 469 At the begmnmg and end of the year (face value INR I each) 
Less On conversion to equity shares ------ ------- ____ _,_(4--'6

"""
9,_) ____ ..,_(4-'6

-'--
9,_) 

At the end of the year 

Ill. 0.0/ 0i, mmpul.\tJrily c1111vertible a11d 11011 c,111111/ative Serie; B 

preference .,hare.,· (fttce ,•alue INR. I each) 

At the begmmng of the year 
Less On conversion to equity shares 
At the end of the year 

(c) Terms/rights attached to equity shares 

544 544

__________ ____ (,;c5_44_,_) ___ _.;(s;c.5.c.44_,_) 

As at the balance sheet date, the Company has only ordinary equity shares. having a par value of Re. I per share each respectively.

Fach holder of cquny shares shall have one vote per share. The company declares and pays dividends in Indian rupees. The dividend proposed, if any,
by the board of d1r�-ctors is subJcct to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing annual general meeting.

,.._ 

;7 
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ct Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly " ct Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 !\larch 2025 
(All amounts arc 10 1housands excepl share data or as stated) 

(d) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares of a class of shares of the Company 
The shareholders, mdiv,dually, hold mg more than 5% shares of a class of shares of the Company are as under: 

Particulars As at 

31 March 2025 

I. Equity shares

RaJesh Nahar
R1tesh Karariya
lnvcnius Capital Partners (Maun11us) Ltd
Nadathur Estates Pvt Ltd for and on behalf of OJ as Partners 
Forum Synergies India Trust
Agnus Ventures LLP 

(e) Shares held by promoters at the end of the )Car 

S. ",o Promoter 'fame 

RaJcsh Nahar 
2 R1tcsh Katanya 

TOTAL 

No. of shares 

30,45,000 
35,70,000 
21,71.939 
21,53,935 
13,81.632 
13.81.63'.! 

�o. of Shares 

30.45.000 
35,70,000 
66,15,000 

(f) Bonus issue, buy back and issue of shares without payment being received in cash 

% holding 

14.20% 
16.60% 
10.10% 
10.00% 
6.40% 
6.40% 

% of total 
shares 
14.20% 
16.60% 
30.80% 

As at 

31 March 2024 

No. of shares % holding 

30,45,000 14.20% 
35,70,000 16.60% 
21.71,939 10.10% 
21,53.935 10.00% 
13,81.632 6.40% 
13,81,632 6.40% 

% Change during the year 

The Company allotted 1,35,06,924 equity shares of� I each, m the ra110 of 6 I. to the existing shareholders holding 22,51, 154 equity shares
pursuant to the bonus issue approved on August 16, 2023. 

< This space has hee11 111tentio11ally left hlank > 

61



62

Net Avenu e Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited" ) 
Notes to th e standalone finan cial statements for th e year end ed 31 March 2025 
(All amounts arc in thousands except share data or as stated) 

4 Resc n 'cs and surplus 

Particulars As at 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

I . General reserve 
Balance at the begmning of the year 
Add: Amounltransferred to general reserve on account of forfetlure 
Add: Amount transferred to genera l reserve on account of expIry of options granted to promoters 
Balance at th e end of th ... year 

II. Securities premium account 
Balancc at the begmnmg and end of the year 
Add: Prcmnun received on account of share issue 
Less Amounts ullllsed for share issue expenscs· 
Less Amounts utilised for Issue of bonus shares 
Balance at the end of the year 

22.977 
164 

23.141 

4.98.433 

(3.000) 

4,95,433 

6.299 
583 

16.095 
22,977 

4.25.787 
96.832 

(10.679) 
(13.507) 

4,98,433 

Note The securilles: prellllum account balance is f\'!t ofJNR 89.25.020 '- recO\erable frolll the Net Avenuc Tcchnologies Private LImited Employees 
Welfare Trust 

*'Thc Company, considering the subsidy claim of :00 lakhs under the 'Subsidy for Fund Raising from SME Exchange' scheme as pending for over a 
year and based on oral communication of rejcction from the department, has recognised the amount as share issue expense durmg the year and 
adjusted II agalllst securitIes premium reserve. However. Company IS eonunumg to pursue this claim with the appropriate authority. 

III. Employee stock olHioli outstanding 
Balance at the begmnmg of the year 

Add: Employee share options expenses 
Less: Options exercised during the year 
Less: Amount transferred to general reserve on aeeounl of forfeiture 
Less: Amount transferred to general reserve on account of expiry of options granted to promoters 
Balance at the end of the year 

IV. Surplus I (Deficit) in th e statement of Jlrofit and loss 
Balance al the beginning of the year 
Profit (loss) for the year 
Balance a t the cnd of the) car 

Total r(se n !;' :lUd surplus 

Long-term 
As at 

31 March 2025 31 Marcb 2024 

PrOVISion for employee benefits: 
- for gratuity (refer note 34) 
- for compensated absenccs 
PrOVISion for sales return allowance 

3,580 
231 

3,811 

3,617 
293 

3,9 10 

8.925 18.540 
1,938 7.063 

(164) (583) 
(16.095) 

10,699 8,925 

(4 ,50,173) (4.32.924) 
(34,496) [17.249) 

(4,84 ,669) (4,50,173) 

44,604 80,162 

Short-term 
As at 

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

3.466 
320 

1.528 
5.3 14 

~ 

~
ft~(CF. 

~ CHENNAI £a' w COOO 18 I" 

:76, '" , , . ' 

2.894 
363 

1.607 
4.864 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Not es to the standalone financial statements ror th e year ended 3 1 M a rch 2025 
(All amounts arc in thousands except share data or as stated) 

6 Shorl-term borrowings 

Particulars 

Overdra n facili ty rrom ba nk (secured) • 
Unsecured Loans 

- Employees 
- Related parties •• 

As at 
31 M a rch 2025 31 March 2024 

1,499 

5,506 13,837 
7,005 13,837 

• Overdran ba lance represents facility availed from Induslnd bank which carnes mterest rate at 8.5% per annum and are repayable on demand . The 
facility IS secured against the fixed deposits of the Company. The company also has 00 facility In IDFC Bank Limited which has been closed In the 
current year 

•• The loan is repayable on demand. The loan is received from director and their relatives and is unsecured. (refer note 37) 

7 Trade payahles 

Particulars 

- Dues to micro and small enterprises (refer note 32) 

- Dues to creditors other than micro and small enterprises 

Trade Payables ageing schedu le (refer note 42) 

8 Other current liabiliti es 

P;!. rticulars 

Interest accrued and due on borrowings 

Deferred income 

Advance from customers 

Accrued Expenses 

Other statutory dues payab lc 
Employee benefits payable 

I Payable 10 subsidiaries ( refer note 37) 

< This sp(/(:e has been intentionally left blank> 

As.at 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

5,664 3,544 

20,5 12 28,))9 

26,176 31 ,883 

As at 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

192 85 

3,049 397 

12,000 23,434 

10,834 8,424 

462 812 
3,432 5,427 

9,268 9, 192 

39,237 47,771 
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Net A\'enue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Nel Avenue Technologies Pri\'3te Limited") 
Notes to thl' standalone financial statelllents for the rear ended Jt 1\brch 2025 
(All amoun!S are in thousands C,,(Cl"PI share data o r as stated ) 

Pronerl\, pl:1I1l and clluinml'nl 

9 Tangible AnelS 

Particulars 
Leasehold Plant alld 

Office equipments 
FurnilUre Ind 

impro,'ellll."lIts 1'1Iichlner) fitlin~J" 

Gron block 
Balance:u:lt 31 M::trch 2023 229 2,083 2,607 4,428 
Addillons - 21 224 100 
Delelions wrile otT 25 
Recl::tssi licalion 
Balance as at J I March 2024 229 2,104 2,806 4,527 
Additions 60 66 9 
Deletions write oil' 13 
B::tl:uu:e as al 31 March 2025 l!9 2,164 2,859 4,536 

ACCUlllublcd dl."prccialion 
B::tlanct':u al 3 I March 202.3 200 '65 2,365 3,073 
Addition> 16 2.60 171 347 
Deletions write oil 4 
ReclaSSification -
Balanct' as at 3 I March 2024 215 925 2,532 3,420 
Additions J 221 134 266 
Deletions wnte off -
Balance liS It 31 March 2025 m 1,146 2,666 3,686 

Net blotk 
As at 31 March 2024 14 1,179 274 1,108 
As at 31 March 2025 11 1,018 193 .50 

10 Intanl,;ible Assets 

PlIIrliculan; 

Gro~s block 
Balancl' 1115 III I ,\pril1023 
Addlf10ns 
Dclelion.~ write ofT 
Balance liS at 3 1 1'1 irlrch 2024 
Additions 
DelellOns wnteo tT 
Ballmce as al 3 1 March 2025 

Accumulaled IIll1ortization 
Balance as al I April 2023 
Additions 
Dl'lctions wnteoff 
Balance as lit 31l\Jarch 2024 
Addlhons 
Deletions wnte off 
Balance as lit 31 March 2025 

Nel block 
As :It.'1 March 2024 
AS :II 31 March 2025 

Computers Vehicle Total 

8,297 319 17,964 
116 - 460 

25 

8,413 319 18.)99 
60 - 195 

13 
8,473 319 IS,SSO 

7,414 147 I3,S64 
443 44 1,281 

4 

7,857 191 15, 141 
219 12 875 

-
8,076 m 16,016 

555 128 3,258 
396 9' 2564 

Compull'f sonware 

10,153 

10,153 

10,153 

9,815 
124 

9,939 

75 

10,014 

214 
139 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Not" to th t. standalone fimlncialltatem~nt s for the year ended 31 M a rch 2025 
(All amounts arc 10 thousands except share data or IS Slated) 

II Non'<urrelli ilwestments 

Particu lars 

Trad~ inl"Cstments (UIIIIUOICd) 

/I"·<tsI".,ml j" I!II"j/)' .f"ure.~ 

1.000 (JI March 2024 . 1.000) eqully shares ofCba7.aar.Com Inc a subsidiary. of 
USD I each. fully paid up 

29.412 (31 March 2024 29.412) eqult)' shares of Ethnoseryc Bespoke Ser.'lces Pm·ate 
limIted. an aSsOClatc. ofRe I each. fully paid up 

i..l.'ss·lmpainllelil In value of1Ovestmcnts 

12 Dererred ta ): lusets 

As al 
31 March 2025 31l\1areh 2024 

63 63 

249 249 

(312) (312) 

The Company has unab.wrbed losses as per taxal10n laws Since the Company does 001 have vtnual cenamlY of future pro fits, the 
deferred tax assets ha\e 001 been recognl7.ed 

IJ LO IlIIS and advances 

P:lrliculars 

To parlies othl' r than reilited parties 

Deposits (unsecured , con5idered good) 
Secufny depu~il 

Othen (unsl'c ured, considered good) 
Prepaymcnt~ 

MAT (rclhe Entltlemcnt 

l3:dancc~ wl1h Incume Tax Iluthuntle~ 1I1Clud1llg 
refund receivable 
Auvance~ 10 employee~ 

[lepuslt Wllh SIOl:k C"(ChUllgC 
Ao.l\!'.III~es tu supphers 
Ralance with guvernmcnt atlthuntlcs 

Othen (unsec ured, considered doub tful) 
Seetlney depOSit 
Balances with Income Tax authontles mcludmK 
rerund receivable 
AdV',mces to supplLer5 
Advances 10 employees 
Less: ProvIsIon for deposIts, advances 

14 CUHentin\"5tfllent l 

Plirticul:a rs 

ll1\'cstmcllIl11 Mutual !-unus (At cost) 

Name 

ICICJ Pru All Seasons Bond 

HDFC Low Duralion 

ICICI Pru Equity Arbitrage 

ICJCI Pro LiqUid 

KOlak EqullY Arbtlragc Fund 

Edelweiss Arbitrage Fund 

SBl Arb~ Opp Fund 

Total ~ 

I ~ 

Long-"rm Short-term 

A s a t Asal 

31 March 2025 March 31, 2024 31 March 2025 l\1arch 31 , 2024 

2,969 3.095 
2,969 3,095 

668 515 

'" 876 

764 1,617 
1,053 

1,371 2,926 
6,309 18,024 

876 876 10.112 24, 135 

506 3. 

2,1110 2,504 

11,916 10,296 
9 100 

(30) (12,69 1) ~IO,I.;o4l 

1,414 2,096 

______ ~(5~06~1 ______ ~~ _____ ~~ 

3.1W5 3.97 1 11.526 26.231 

AI at 

31 March 2025 Marcb 31 , 2024 
37,267 52,212 

37,267 52,212 

Un ltl 

3,O(i,~93 

\.33,012 

1,66.925 

462 

1.49.132 

2,87.454 

1,64,932 

12,08.5 10 
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Net A\'enue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Noles 10 Ihe Slandalone finandl15lateRienti for Ihe ytllr ended 31 Mareh 2025 
(Allimounts are in thousands except share data or.s stated) 

\" 

IS Innntoriu 
(Valued at the lower ofeost and nel realisable \'a lue) 

Partitulars 

Ra" mattrials and components 
Worlc.m-progress 

Flm:;ht'd goods (goods 111 lranst( amounts to INR 971 K ; PY INR 22·12K) 

Stoclc·m·trade (goods In transitlmount to lNR 436K • PV lNR 1111 K) 

Less ProvisIon for non·mo\ 109 10' entory 

Pllrtitulars 

Receh'lIbles outstanding for a pe~iod tlccedlng six nlonths fronl the dllte thcy became 

due for plI)'IIH' nt 

·Secured, conSidered good 

·Unsecured, consIdered good 

.considered doubtful 

Less ProviSion for doubtful receIvables 

Other recehllble, 

·Secured. considered good 

-Unscl; lIred, conSIdered good • 
Less ProVISiOn for doubtful recel\'abll:li 

Trade Rel;elvable~ ageing Sl:hedule (refer note 4J) 

17 Clilsh IIl1d blink tJllJ lIl'ICes 

Plirtituilln 

Cash and u ish eqUIvalents 

As at 

31 l\lartb 2025 
12.579 
2,265 

31,784 
8,177 

54.805 
(25.901) 

28,904 

AI III 

~1arth 31, 2024 
11.380 

7.649 
40,668 

7,654 

77.351 
(22,268) 

55,083 

31 Much 2025 Marth 31, 2024 

48l 
(483) 

3,113 3,732 

3.223 3,732 

3.223 3.732 

Alit 

31 March 2.025 ~brch 31, 2024 

Cash on hand 41 
IhJan~ec( WIth ban"'~ 

On current aCl;ounts 

Other b:lnk bal:lnces 

DePOSIts "Ith onglnal matunty of more than 3 months and less than 12 months 
Dep65I1S (held:b seeunty agamst borrowmgs/guarantee) 

18 Other currenl luets 

Particulars 

Unsecured. considered gO'Od 
RCl:clVlIble from subsld!arles 

Eltp611 Jm;entlvc ReceIVable 

Olheh 

Unsecured. considered doubtful 
Recelvahle from Sub~ldlanes 

Less_ PrOVISIon for doubtful rece .... ables (Refer Note 36) 

1" II :.I rlies othl'r Ih :.ln re lated partiu 

Lnncured. considered good 
SubSidy rccel\'ab1c on account of hSlln! expenses • 

Intcrest accrued on dePOStI "ith bank 

Unsecured. considered d oublful 
Others 

Less: PrOVISIon for doubtful recelvablcs 

9,709 

11,191 

15.947 

33.952 

AH' 

],98] 

7.741 

14.1194 

26.659 

31 March 2025 l\lllrcb 31. 2024 

205]4 
2K3 

2.170 
(2.170) 

206 

697 
(697) 

111.161 

JI 

2.170 
(2.170) 

3,000 
210 

1,282 

(1,161) 

21.023 2bS2J 
• 'Thc Company, considcring the subsidydalm of UO 1akhs under the 'SubSidy for Fund Rllslng from SME Exchange' schcme as 

pending for O\'cr a year and based on oral commUllleatlon of reject,on from the department, has recoglllsed thc amount as share Issue 

C'x~n$e durmg the year and adjusted It against secunlles prcmlum reser ... c I-Iowe ... er. Company IS continuing to pursue thiS daun 
wllh the approp~e authority. 

,{ ~ 

< Tl.i • ... "',." 1., .. - h,. •• " ,.".,",,,,,,,,/1,· /,.1, "1",," '" 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 

(All amounts are in thousands except share data or as stated) 

19 Revenue from operations 

Particulars 

Sale of products 
Other operating revenue 

20 Other income 

Particulars 

Interest income on bank deposits 

Interest on IT Refunds 

Discount received from vendor 
Provision no longer required wril1 en back I vendor wntc back 
Other Non Operating income 

21 Cost of materials consumed (Fabrics) 

Particulars 

Inventory of raw materials al the beginning orthe year 
Add: Purchases during the year 
Less : Inventory afraw material s allhe end of the year· 

Year ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

2,45,998 
25,15 1 

2,71,149 

Year ended 

2,47,3 15 
19,738 

2,67,053 

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

1,814 1,425 

28 

517 
2,936 

976 
6,271 

796 

466 
2,687 

Year ended 
31 March 2025 

21,380 
3,68 1 

( 12,579) 
12,482 

J 1 March 2024 

25,070 
11 ,780 

(2 1,380) 
15,470 

·lnvcntory write down ofRs.2, I 09 thousands has been included under Cost of Materials Consumed (31 March 2024 : Nil) 

22 Purchases of stock in trade 

Particulars Year ended 
JI March 2025 JI March 2024 

Appare ls 61,636 40,399 
61,636 40,399 

< This space has been intentionally lelt blank> 
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Nel Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Nel Avenue Technologies Private Limited ") 
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the yca r ended 31 March 2025 

(All amounts are in thousands except share data or as stated) 

23 Changes in inventory of work-in-progress and stock-in-trade 

l'articulars 

Inventories at the beg inning orthe year 
Work-in-progress 

Finished goods 
Stock-in-trade 

Inven tories of stock in trade at the end orthe year· 
Work-ill-progress 
Finished goods 

Stock-ill-trade 

Year ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

7.649 10,610 
40,668 33,709 

7,654 13,456 

(2.265) (7,649) 
(3 1,784) (40,668) 

(8, 177) (7 ,654) 
13,745 1,804 

*lnventory write down of Rs.l.646 tholls~nds has been included under Changes in In ventori es (3 1 March 2024 : Nil) 

24 Employee benefits expense 

Particulars 

Sa lari es, wages and bonus * 
Contribution to provident and other funds 
Employee stock compensation expenses 
Staffwclfare expenses 

., Related party (refer note 37) 

25 Finance cost 

Particulars 

lnterest 
- to banks 
- to related partlcs 

Year ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

40,22 1 43,173 
1,90 I 2,725 
1,938 7,063 
1,424 970 

45,484 53,931 

Year ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

16 
594 
610 

801 
948 

1,749 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to the standalone financial statemenlS for the year ended 31 March 2025 

(All amounts are in thousands except share data or as stated) 

26 Depreciation and amortisation 

Particulars 

DeprecIation on property. plant and equipment (refer oote 9) 
Amortisati on of intangible assets (refer note 10) 

27 Other expenses 

Fabric conversion & Redesign charges 
Internet banking and other charges 

Markcllng expenses 
Advertisement and business promotIOn expenses 
Power and fuel 
Prmlmg and stallOneI)' 

Repairs and maIntenance 

. Computer:, 
- Others 

Insurance 
Office expenses 
Rates and taxes 
Rent 

ProfeSSional and technical fees (includes payment to auditor refer note 31) 
Travelling and conveyance 
Freight and handling charges 
Collection Charges 
Communication expenses 
Provision for non moving inventory 
Foreign exchange fluctuation Loss (net) 
ProViSlO1l for doubtful debts' advances 
Bank charges 
Bad Debts wntten olT 
Miscellaneous e.'<penses 
ProvIsion for amount recoverable from Net Avenue Technologies Pnvate 
LLLl1l1cd Employees Welfare Trust 

< Tlris space Iras been intellt/onally left blank > 

Year ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

875 
75 

950 

Year ended 

1,28 1 
124 

1,405 

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

26,884 33.541 
8,234 7,798 
3,323 4,034 

53,169 45,315 
1.454 1,394 

541 624 

154 230 
648 1,050 
597 688 

1,083 1,259 
223 408 

3,703 3,441 
10,588 9,502 
1,279 900 

46,444 39,146 
2,942 4,042 

40 140 
3,633 11 ,693 

456 408 
1,749 4,064 

169 97 
986 

2,870 2,456 

5,840 

1,77.009 1,72,231 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Aven ue Technologies Private Limited") 
Noles to the standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
(All amounts arc in thousands except sbare data or as stated) 

28 Contingent liabilities and commitnH.'nts (i n INR) 

a) Contingent li abilities 
I. The Company has appointed Cbazaar.com.lnc, USA ("CB rNe") as a Business Associate who shall assist and accept orders from various 
customers and 31so collect payment from these customers on behalf of the Company, for which the Company pays commission charges to CB 
INC. The Company also reimburses certain expenditu res like marketing, internet banking and other charges which arc incurred on its behalf to 
CB INC. The Company based on a legal opinion believes that service lax/goods and services tax is not applicable on such transactions and 
accordingly, no provision has been made for service tax/Goods and Services Tax in these financial statements. 

2. Demand Raised for Rs.1 7 .80.880/~ by income tax authorities for A Y 2011-12. the reason being challan paid was not cons idered by the IT 
Authomy 

J . Demand Raised for Rs.1 O,77 ,4 60J~ by Income lax authorities for A Y 2020~21. the reason being inconsistency between tax audit report and 
ITR 

4. Demand Raised for Rs.JJ,20.270/- by Income tax authorities for A Y 2022-23, the reason being disallowance of marketing expenses 
claimed in ITR. 

5. Demand Raised for Rs.1,67, 712/- by Income tax authonties for A Y 2021-22. the reason bemg disallowance of some expenses claimed in 
ITR. 

6. In the Current year. the company has received a notice from the GST department based on audit for the period FY 20 18 to 2023 for nOI1-
payment of GST as leviable on reimbursement of expenses to subsidiary company for Rs2.65 .82.814 (excludtng interest and penalty) 

b) Commitments 
Particolars As at 

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to bc executed on capital account and not provided 
for 

Guarantees given 

Total 

29 Earnings in foreign currency (o n accrual basis) 

Particulars 

FOB va lue of exports 

Siupprng charges 
TOlal 

30 Expenditure in foreign currency (o n accrual basis) 

Particulars 

Advertisement, Marketing and business promotion expenses 
Intemet banking and other charges 

Professional and technical fees 
Communication expenses 
Olhers 
Total 

J I Payment to auditors (excluding service tax I goods SCl"vice lax) 

Particulars 

As auditor 

S d F tatulory au 17 . 
~ Others ".-

Total h 

•. • 1: 
;" ,\\,111} I 

r-
~ 

Year ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

2.07,077 1,88.267 
20.876 14.557 

2,27,953 2,02,824 

Year ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

45,323 32,827 
8,108 7,314 

6.484 7.012 
5 

2,064 

61,984 

Year cnded 

3 
2,000 

49,155 

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

#'~~~" 
645 445 

80 440 

'.::--'/ "\ -' 725 885 (r (CH""'\) ) 
oj 600018 2 
7.\' / 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
NO les to (he standalone financial statement s fo r th e yea r ended 3 1 Ma r ch 2025 
(All amounts arc in thousands except share data or as staled) 

32 Micro and small enterprises 
The Mmistry of Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises has issued an ortiee memorandum dated August 26, 2008 which recommends that the 
Micro and Small Enterprises should mention in their correspondence with its customers the Enlrcprcneurs Memorandum Number as allocated 
afier filing oflhe Memorandum in accordance with the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006 (,the Act'). Accordingly, 

the disclosure in respect of the amounts payable to such enterprises as at 31 March 2025 has been made in the financ ial statements based on 
infonnation received and available with the Company. Further in view of the Management, the impact of interest, if any, that may be payab le 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act is not expected to be material. The Company has not received any claim fo r interest from any 
supplier as at the balance sheet date. 

Parti culars 
As at As al 

3 1 M arch 2025 3 1 March 2024 

(a) the principal amount and the interest due thereon (to be shown separately) remamlllg 
5,664 3,544 

unpmd 10 any supplier at the end of each accounting year 

lnterest on the above, remaini ng unpaid althe end of the accountmg year 258 375 

(b) the amount of interest paid by the buyer in tcnm ofseclLon 16 of the Micro, Small and 
Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006, along with the amollnt of the payment made to - -
the suppl ier beyond the appointed day during each accollllung year: 

(c) the amount of in terest due and payable for the penod of delay in makmg payment (whIch 
have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but without adding the mterest - -
specified under the Micro. Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006; 

(d) the amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year; 
313 530 

and 
(e) the amount of funher interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years. until 
such date when the interest dues above are actually paid to the small enterprise, for the purpose - -of disallowance of a deductible expenditure under section 23 of the Micro, Small and MedIUm 

Enterprises Development Act, 2006. 

33 Particul a rs of un-hedged foreign cu r ren cy exposures as a t the ba la nce sheet date 
The Company does not use any derivative instruments to hedge its foreign currency assets I liabilities. The details of foreign currency balance 
which arc not hedged arc as follows : 

Particul a rs 

Receivable 

Foreign currency equivalent (USD ) 
Indian Rupee equivalent 

Payotblc 

Foreign currency equiva lent (USO) 

Indian Rupee equivalent 

As al 
31 Mot r ch 2025 31 March 2024 

266 
22,704 

119 
10.164 

244 
20,331 

110 
9,192 
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Net Avenue Technologics Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to th e Sla nd:1lonc fi na ncial sl atcmc nts for the year ended 31 March 2025 
(All amounts arc in thousands except share data or as slated) 

34 Employee bcnl' filS 
Defi ned contribution pla ns 

The Company makes contributions, dctcnnincd as a specified percentage of employee salaries, in respect of qualifying employees towards 
Provident Fund, whIch IS a defined contribution pian. The company has no obligations other than to make the spcclfied contnhutions. The 
contributions arc charged to the statement of profit and loss as they accrue. The amount recognised as an expense towards contnbution to 
Provident Fund for the year aggregated 10 INR I ,745K (previous year: INR 2,514K ) 

Defined benefit Ilia ns 

The Company's gratuity benefit scheme is a defined benefit plan . The Company's nct obligation in respect of a defined benefi t plan is 
calculated by estimating the amount or ruture benefit that employees have earned in return ror their service in the current and prior periods; that 
benefit is discounted to detcnnine its prescnt value. Any unrecognised past service costs and the rair value of any plan assets are deduct,,-d. The 

ca lcu latIOn of the Company's ob ligation under Ihis plan is perfonned annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method 
.The gratuity plan entitles regular employee, who has rendered at least five years of continuous service, to receive one-ha lf month's salary for 

each year of completed service at the time of retlremenli'exll 

G ratui tY 
Particul ars (Cha no cs in th e I)rcscnt Value of Oblil!a tion) 31 M arch 2025 31 M arch 2024 
Present Value ofObligall0n as at the begmnmg 7.479 6,931 
Interest Cost 531 497 
Current Service Cost 463 475 
Benefits Paid (334) (566) 

Actuarial (Gain) / Loss on the Obligation . (20) 143 
Present Value of Oblij!,ation as at the end 8,118 7,479 

G ra tuity 

Pa rticulars (C han1!cs in the f air Value of Plan Assets) 3 1 March 2025 31 March 2024 
Fair Va lue of Plan Assets as at the beginning 968 1,216 
Expected Return on Plan Assets 69 92 
Employer's Contributions 349 239 
Benefits Pa id (301) (566 

Actuarial Gam (Loss) on the Plan Assets ( 13 ( 11 
Fair Value of Plan Assets as at the end 1,072 968 

Gratui tv 
Pa rticul ars (Ex ll ense r ecognised in P& L) 3 1 M arch 2025 3 1 M ar ch 2024 
Current Service Cost 463 475 
Interest Cost 531 497 
Expected Return on Plan Assets (69 (92 
Net Actuanal (Gain) Loss recognised In the pcnod (7) 154 
Expenses Recognised In statement of Profit and Loss 91 8 1,035 

Disclosure requirements under Revised Accounting Standard 15 (Revised) on employee benefits 

Pa rticula rs Year ended Year ended 

31 M a r ch 2025 3 1 March 2024 

Discount rate 6.45% 7.10% 

~Iary escalation 9.00% 8.00% 
AtUillon rate 40 .00% 35.00%. 

J5 Leases 

The Company has entered I11tO operall1\g lease arrangements for the lease of office premises The lease payments recognised In the statement of 
profit and loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 amounts to fNR 3.703K (31 March 2024: JNR 344 1 K) 

36 Pa~'ablcs/receivabl es to/fro m subsid iaries 

I\s on 31st March 2025. the Company has outstandmg foreign currency payable and receivable balances to/from Its wholly-owned subSidiary. 
These balances relate to inter-company transactions With Its SubSidiary towards procurement of services. reimbursement of expenses. 
collectIons made by the subs idiary company on behalf of the Holdmg Company etc In the past and the current year. Further, dunng the 

financial year ended 31 st March 2025. the Company has evaluated the rccovcrabdll), of receIVables from Its subsldlRry by assessmg Its 
finanCial positIOn. mcludmg bank balances and other assets Based on this evaluation. the Company has is confident of realising its receivables 
m due course. 

( 
1 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly " Net Avenue T echnologies Private Limited") 
Not('.'J to the stundalon(, fin:lnchll statements for the year ended 3 I M a rch 2025 
(All amounts arc in thousands except shure data or as staled) 

37 Related party transactions 

(.) The coml)311't' hud transactions "lIh the followln ' related IllI r ties 
Key management personnel Mr. Rajesh Nahar (Director) 

Mr. Ritesh Kataria (DLrector) 

Relltti,·es of key mllnagement IIC!r SOnnel Mrs. Kastun DeYI 

Mrs. ManJu Shree 
Mrs. Sarala Nahar 

Subsidian' Cbazaar.com Inc, Umted Slales of America 
Enterprise over which th e Comp a ny exercise • Ethnoserve Bespoke ServiCes Private Limited 

51c.nincant innuence 
Enterprises owned or significantly Innuenced Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited Employees Welfare Trust 

(b) 

b,' kCl' mana ·erhlillersonnel or their relatives 
Enterprise ;n which Directo r 's relatives m Aviato SoRwarc SolutIOns Private Limited 
inter u ted 

PIOn('er Tradmgs Unllicd, Untied Amgdom $irlk~ off/rom RegmrurofUftl/~d Kmgdom K-lih ~U«lfrom February 181h. 1013 and 
(lis,m/led on Mtm:h 071h. 1021 

R elated lurt,· transa ctions . 
Plirtieulars 

Yur e nded Year ended 

3 I March 2025 31 March 2024 

I. Remuneration paid 

Mr Rajesh Nahar 7,415 6,467 

Mr. Rltesh Katarla 7.500 6,667 
Mrs. Sara la Nahar 180 620 

II . !\1arkctin~ . inter net banking !l nd other expense 
Cbalaar.com Inc 59.289 48.133 
Aviato Software Solutions Pm'ale Limited 487 

III . Collecti ons reuh ed on behalf of the Com pa n) 
Cbazaar.Com Inc 2,23,706 2,16.712 

IV. Pal ments r ecch ed ou t or coll ections r eee h ed on behalf or th e Compa nv 
Pioneer Trni.lmgs LLlllIted 

CbazaarCom Inc (2.12.492) (2.84.93 I) 

V. Sale ur proper t). plant and eq uipml'nt: 
Elhno~cl"\"c Be .. poke Services Printe LlmHed - -

VI . l..O!l llS ll\ ailed rrom I (pa id to) kel m anagement personnel (KMP) a nd n la tive of 
Mr Rllcsh Katana (4.175) 1.900 
Mr RaJcsh Nahar (500) -
Mrs. MmljU Shree (3.000) 600 
Mrs. Kusturi 01'\11 (656) -

VIJ. IntereSI on loan pa id key m.aageml'nt personnel (KMP) and relatives or KMP 

Ms. Kurun Den Il 196 

Mr Rajesh Nahar 57 

Ms MallJu Shrce 190 521 
M,., Sarala Nahar - 142 
Mr RJlcsh Knl.anya 224 455 

VII I. Busi ness FacilitlitioD Fees: 

CbazaarCom Inc 497 487 

IX. Sa le or Prod ucts 

Mr RaJesh Nahar 10 

X. Rei mbursement of EXI.c nscs: 
M, Ralesh I\ahar 12 
M, Rltcsh K:lIana 205 147 

/ .... .. ~" < ThIS sp(J(.·~ has beell mlclllionufl), leli blank> , -

I 



Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
(All amounts are in thousands except share data or as stated) 

(c) Balances as at the year end· 

A. Cbazaar.com Inc 
Receivable 
Payable 

Particulars 

B. Ethnoscrve Bespoke Sen/4ces Pri\'ate Limited 
Receivable 
Payable 

C. AYiato Software Solutions PriYate Limited 
Receivable 
Payable 

D. Salary Payable 
Mr. RaJesh Nahar 
Mr Ritesh Kataria 
Mrs Sarala Nahar 

E. Amount receivable from Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited Employees 
Welfare Trust (Net) ' 

F. Bal:mce payable to key managerial personnel / relatives of ke) managerial 
personnel - Unsecured loans 

Ms. Kasturi Dev, 

Ms. ManJu Shrec 

Ms. R Sarala Nahar 

Mr. RaJesh Nahar 

Mr R1tesh Kataria 

G. Interest on loan payable key management personnel (KMP) and relatives of 

Ms Kasturi Dev, 

Mr Raiesh Nahar 

Ms ManJu Shrcc 

Ms Sarala Nahar 

Mr Ri tcsh Katan ya

ll. Reimbursement of expense payable -Advance to employees 

Mr. Ritesh Kataria 

38 Earnings per share (EPS) 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (INR.) 
Particulars 
Earnings 

Profit/ (loss) for the year 
Less: D1v1dcnds on preference shares and tax thereon 
Net profit/ (loss) attributable to equity shareholders for 
calculation of basic EPS 

Outstandmg number ol shares 
Weighted average number shares for basic eammgs per share 
Eflect of bonus issue 
Effect of potenual equaty shares 
Compulsorily convenable Series A preference shares 
Compulsorily convertible Series B preference shares 
Effect ofOpllons issued, where there is no anti dilutive 
Weighted average number shares for diluted eammgs per share 

Basic earnings per share 

Diluted earllHl'P"$ per dlare 

/ 

. 

'$1 

As at 

31 March 2025 

22,704 
9,268 

. 

. 

82 

1,264 
1,317 

92 

5,120 

2,753 

2,753 

49 

106 

37 

31 March 2025 

(34,496) 
. 

(34,496) 

21,416 

. 

21,416 

(1.61) 

� 
<'-' (1,61) 
.... 

. Q 

As at 

31 March 2024 

20,331 
9,192 

. 

. 

. 

. 

1,650 
1.676 

. 

10,960 

656 

3,000 

3,253 

6,928 

6 

5 

28 

46 

147 

31 March 2024 

(17,249) 
. 

(17,249) 

3 636 
13.507 

. 

. 

17,143 

(1.01) 

(1.01) 
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Net Aven ue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited ") 
NOIM 10 tht siandalont financial stall'ml'n!s for Ihl' )'u r I'ndtd 3 1 M.-rch 2025 
(All amoonlS are 10 Ihoosands elCl;cpl share: data or as Slated) 

39 EmllloyC'e shart-based pa) mtnl planl 

(oj 

Dunng the year ended 31 March 201 4, the Company had fonned an ESOP lrust, -Net Avenue Technoloil~ Pnvate limited Employees Welfare Trust- The Company 
had fnllnetllrn: guidc:lincs on issue of shares to liS emplo)'l'l'l The ESOP IfUSI has pUl'l:hasetl46,980 shares from the Wl'eoolders anti subscribed addl llOnally for 38,420 
shares issue:d by lhe Company al a prmlium of Rs 232 per share for lhe pwpose of issUing It 10 the emplOyei'll Share premIum of Rs 89,13,440 on these 38,420 shares has 
been SInce rever~'tl from 5«unuelli pn:mlUm account SIl1l11arly 38,4:!0 shares (Ils 38.420) hlive been m.lucC<i from share capital a:a; ooosll.lerallon not Tl:(:elved, The 

Company had accounted for the ESOP 10 acconlance with GUIdance Note on ACCOWllmg for Employf.:c Share Ba..ed Paymenl$ Acoordmgly. the loan gwen 10 the ESOP 
Irwt againsI46,980 shares has bee:l dlsclosc:tl as -Amounl recovernble from Nel Avenue TechnologIes Pnvale: Lnmled Employees Welfare: Trusl- m thl' balancl' shel'l and 

the shall'S pUreha)N (lUI oflhe loall are shown u a part of Ihe share eapllal 

DUring 11K: current lill .. nclal year. the Compan) has made II proVISIOn 10 respect ot amounts r~el\lIble rrom NI'l Avenue TechnologlC.ls Pnvale Llmltro Employees Welfare 
Trust ThIs pmvl~lolI I'; based on the e~erelse price of ~tock options lL'> delenmnro under Ihe Company's ESOP scheme. The net amoun! of shares held by the Employee. 

Welfare Trusllw. been "alul"ll al Ihe s;ml eliertls( pnce, and any shortfall In reco~eTllb,hly ha:; bc:en duly provldro for 

ParHculllrJ 2024-25 2023-24 

Amount recover .. ble from NI."l Avenue Technologies I'nvale Lmllied Employees 10.960 10,960 

Welfare Trusl (nell 

l.ess: ProviSIon (5,840) 

NI'l Amount rtcol'l'rllhll' from Nt! AI'tnul' Technologies Prh'ltl' Limiltd 
5.120 10,960 

Employt" Welfare Trust (nl'l ) 

(b ) Oelllib uf lilt' Jhares rut'ntd for issue undtr uplions 
The COnlpany ISSued opuons under the Employcc.~ sHx:k oplion pohcy 2013 ("2013 Plan") m lhe financial year 2013-2014 The 2013 Plan oover:s all employees on the 
pcnnanenl rolb of Ihe Orgamsallon and who can be ll.'i.'i lgncd ehglbilllY Stores us1l1g an ESOP Seonng Matm 20 I]. The obJlXtlve of th,S 2013 Plan 15 10 encourage: 
owneNhlp of the Company's equity by Il~ employet'j; on an ongomg ba.~IS The 2013 Plan IS mtended 10 reward the employCC5 for their contnbulIOn to the successful 

opcmll0n of Lhe Cmnpany and to prOVide an meenllve 10 eontmue conmbullng 10 Ihe SutCCM of the company 

In l'Y 24-25, thc board ha.~ approved 111 II.~ mceling dared 25th May 2024 for lSSuarK:e of 11 bonu.~ OpIlOn.~ for Ihe Cltlst10g OptlOl1$ illSued pnor 10 Aug 2023 and also 

reduced the elterel~ pnee from Rs 100 to Rs.6O for 7 opIlOn.~ and also the cllerct~ pcnod IS elttended 10 14 years Accordingly the urne IS COl1$tdered 15 modlfieauon to 
Ihe ESOP schc'me and con.~ldcred the clTect oflhe '1i1lIC m Ihe fmanetal slalements for the year ended 3151 Mllreh 2024 

The Icnn.~ in thc I,SOP pohey wlI$l1lod, fi cd as fol1ow~ I~ltcrcl~ prlee WII$ changed to R~ 60 from Rs 100 The c..'CrcLo;I." period hu been lOcrea.~ed 10 10 years from 4 

yean 

The scheme provld~ that Ihese Options would be "~tcd In trand~ as follows 

Period wi lhin ¥lhlt h Ihc tI lion ¥liII vrst unlO th~ artici ani 
One Yellr from the dale of acteptance of offer 
Two Yeal'l' from th~ dale of acceptance of offer 
ThTl:(: Year; from Ihe date of acceplance of olTer 

f our Yean from the date of acceotJnee of ofTer 

r rrnUllluions unod in fair vl lue tomuulations; 

Gran l dal. IS-Oct- 13 0 1-Jul-14 
Various dalrs in 
20 14- I S 

OPl10OS granted 23400 1500 2500 
Vestmg renod 1104 years I to 4 years 1 104 years 

Expecled opllon Iir~ 2.3 years (1.3 years 6.3 years 

RIsk frcc mte 11.80-/. UO"Io 8,So-/. 
Option \'alue as on 'SI 15' 15' 

rant dale 

Various 

dalU in 

2015-16 

Jl(;)() 

I to 4 years 

6.3 yean 
II.IID-/, 

43. 

The faIr \'lIlue of stock opllons has been delcmllned \lsmg the Black Scholes opllon pricmg model. 

Pllrliculau 

Opllons granted IlI1d oUlStandmg at the begmnmg or thc year 
Add; OphUll'i gr.mled dunng Ihe year 

Less Exen: lsed dunng the ycar 
Less ExpIred dUTlng Ihc ),(;I.r 

Less: Forfelloo during the year 
Add Bunus upllulU I~ucd. po~1 baiarK:e Shccl date 
Dpllons granted anJ uulslandm ' al thc end of the vear 

40 Transfcr pririnj! 

"I. of oUliun. thll ¥li ll \ 'rsl 

01-Jul-16 01-Jul-17 Ol-Jul-I R 01-Oel-21 

]100 50616 ]SOO 21450 

1104 )'I'ilI'S 1104 yean: 1 104 years 110 4 years 

6.3 years 6J .n 6J "n 63 ,~ 

8.80'1. UO"I. 8.80"" 8.110", 

486 351 351 '" 

for Ihr ,.,tll r ended For the yrar rndtd 

3t ~breh 2025 3 I March 2024 
3,611.550 75.866 

511,600 

(45, 11 6) 
(1].300) (1,700) 

2.112.900 
3.55.250 3,61(550 

OI-Jul-23 

18100 

110 4 yeatS 

6.3 = 
11.110"/. 

Jl 

TIle ('omp .. ny h~ lIItem.lhunal1r.lnsawul1$ wlilt relal~-d panics For the: year ended 31 MlIn:h 2U24, the Ilold1Og Company has obtllmcd Ihe Aeeounlllnl', Report from a Chartered 
A~C\lulltal\l a~ ltI(ulfcd by Ihe re!c\am pruvI~lon) uf the Im:llme-I.t., Act. 1911 I IlOd has filed the same WIth the tax aUthonltCi. For the finaflC lul ycar endIng 3 1 March 2025. the 
m~nJgemrnl conflnns Ihat II mamtatlUi documents as prcscnbed by Ihe Income-talC ACI, to prove th:lt Ihest Illtemallonaltrunsacllons are a t ann's lcnb'lh and the aforesaId ICglSlahon WIll 

nut h~"e ifn} Impacl on the: imanuallotatcmcnts, parllculotrly un the amuunl ofta, c:<pcnsc and thaI of proVISIon for \.axallon 

4 1 Prior )e~rcoml'aralh'n 'eg~ ~, 
Prior ye--,u comparuU\es haw been ri . ro.::lasslfil'Q,~erever nttessary 10 confonn ..... ,Ih elll'TCnt YClir'S dl1S~ilfil;atlon 

0 1-Jll h-24 

311500 

1104 years 

63 '''' 
1I.80~" 

27 
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N.I A,.nll. TKhnololt1es UmilHlIForlDfrl) ~~'I A>'fllu, Tn".lIllIgi" PriViIf UmilHl~l 
NOI'. 10 Int II.ndako, fiouti.t 1I.I"n,olS rD. Tht yn. ,.ut.d 31 M.r~h 20:5 

C .... II amolllltS ilr~ In tb.",saovJ, C~CCpl ~hafc dati .. " n "~lfdJ 

P.,'iflll"" Oul"lndi. fD' follo .. i. uio.h rrolllla~oK. d.,,· 
Mon I .... 

Lrut .... \ .., ,., un 1--3Y ....... 1 , ..... TDI.i 
ht!l.ISM[ , .... 
h,o.tw:r. 20.SI' 
1"'1 UISp,,!ed dUd MS\lE 
"\'jlll>.I'."r,;d dllC'>. O\hcr, 
M I I1I Ma.e" 20IS 26. 176 

htMSMr 3.291 m 

~~n 26.897 '" ." . 
.... ~.,.l1 Much 2024 10,111 Il. '" " OiCn!> Outsla"dm I.k~n fr m I . "" " 0 1 "'~ ICC w Ih on· IInI. , ac OUOI " n FIF 0 .... . 
Putleulus Ollbl.adl. f •• lallo .. in riedJ r",," '''01« d.t,O 

IAnlh. , moatlTJ. Monlh. 
, _a'''. I)'r.or 1·2 V .... 2· 1 V ... n l)'un TOlal 

") Undl$pll!t:d Trade: '~f"'IIblc:J . WMI,!t:.W p>n<l 3.070 IS' 
(oi) UnJlSplltro Trade r«c,vabk:s - ~"UModaN doubtful 

To;".1 T .... e R""""".bk:s 3.070 '" Uu' (),)uhlful =ewlIhlcl 
AI all l Marth 101S 1,010 IS' 
(,) Urt<losrUIC,1 T ...... " r""e,vab"', COM,de,cd ,ood 3.211 '" (III U ... hsputC'tl T.-.d<: rvce,,~l'ob ~O/Ul"ICf .. -d doublful '" T[lI;IITl1IIlc R\'(;r1 .... bks 1.21"1 ", '" I,m DlNblflil r«"""abb 4~~ 

A. al 11 MIr~h 2t2" J.l77 ." 

, .... 
20.S 13 

26,176 

3.S4] 

28.340 
lUlU 

3.223 

3.223 

3.213 

1.132 

'" 4.21S 

'" 1,732 

, 
'on,"" ' ... ro, r", "h" ". • I""k", .. 'OIl "" I'" ,,"'"' .,,',. '" .." .7'" , ., , , , 

, , , , , 

~ 
, 

, . 
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IU' , I:~'~bk N",. N",. 
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Nee A,·cnuc Tct·hnolugll's Limited (Former!) "Net A,·cnue Technolo,eks Prh111e Lln1lled") 
Notes 10 the 5f11nd11lonr Onandal s1a1tmtnls for 1hc ynr ended 31 March 2025 
(All .11mount5 arc m thou�and.s except share da1.1 or as stated) 

45 Other s1111u1or) 111forrn:uio11 
The Cou:r,any docs not have any benam1 propcny, where any proceeding. hai been tmllatcd or pcndmg agams1 the Company for 
holding any Dcnam1 ptopcny. 

11 The Company docs nor have any ttansacttom, w11h companies �truck otf 
111 Th.: Company hJs not hccn dcdarcd wilful defaulter by 1my bank or fina.nc1al mi.l\tut1on or other lender. 

The Company has not adnmcc-d or loaned or m ... c:stcd fund.-. to any other pcrs.on(s) or entll>11ei.), mcludmg rorc11:n cntmes 
(mtcrmcdumcs} with the understanding that the 1n1crmcdiary shall 

I\ a d1rec1ly or md1rectly lend or 111\aC�t mother pc�on� or cnuue., 1dcnt1fied 111 any manner "'ha13oc\acr by or on behalf of lhc 
cump.1ny (ull11na1c hcnctic1am:)o) or 
b pruv1Jc .any guaron1ec. !!,�'\:linty or the like 10 or on behalf of rhc ul11m:11c bt:ncfk1anc\ 

The Coml'any has n01 rece1vcJ ,my fund lrom any person(:.) or enl!l)'\le)), 1m;luJmg fore1in ent1t1e:; (funding party) w,th 1hc 
unJers1.ind1ng (whether recorded 1n wn11ng or 01he�1sc) 1ha1 the Compa.n)' shall 

\I a d1rcc1ly or 1nd1rcc1ly lend or in\lCSl mother persons or cn11uci; identified 1n an)' manner what:.ocvcr by or on behalf of Lh1: 
fundmg p.trty {uluma1c bcnctk1anc�) or 
h prov1d,.: any �•lUif'Jntcc. M:CUnt)' or the hkc on hchalfofthc uh1mat1: hcndi.:1ancs 

The Company has not nny -.uch 1111n"-OCt1un which 1s not recorded m the books of accoJnl!\ that ha'i been �urrcndcred or 
\ 1 disclosed as mcomc dunng the year m the tax ar;scssmcn1-. under the Income Tu Act, I W, I (such as. search or '!>urvcy or any 

other rc:lc\·anl pro, 1s1ons of 1hc ln,.:ome Tax Ac 1, I 961 

vu The CnmpJn} hJs nut 1m<lcd or ln\'Cstcd m Cl)fllU t.:urrcm:y or, 1nual cum:ncy dunng lhc finant:1al year. 

A, per nur report ofcH:n date Jllachcd 

For Pt-.':F Sridh:ir & San1han:1m LLP 
Chu, tcred :fn:mmr,uus 
fim1':,, Rcg13trJlion No 00:lQ90S, S2000 IS 

. 

lJJIC 2 'A� 
_/fl

,vN-:W --==----·�ny Sttrci.lry 
l'l.i1,� .._SW'al 
()iu� :!lJ May 2025 
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PKF SRIDHAR & SANTHANAM UP 

Chartered Accountants 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Members of Net Avenue Technologies Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Net Avenue Technologies 

Limited (hereinafter referred to as the 'Holding Company") and its subsidiary (Holding Company and its 

subsidiary together referred to as "the Group"), and its associate which comprise the consolidated 

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss and the consolidated 

cash flows Statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter 

referred to as "the consolidated financial statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based 

on the other financial information of the subsidiary and its associate, the aforesaid consolidated 

financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (the "Act") in the manner 

so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted 

in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group and its associate as at March 31 2025, and their 

consolidated loss, and consolidated cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 

143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described 

in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 

report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI, and we 

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 

2013. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 

the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in 

our report. 

Tel +914428112985to 88 I Fax +9144 28112989 ftrnatl aands@pl<find,a ,n twwwpl<findia on 

PK[' SRIDHAR & SANTHANAM LLP • KRD Gee Gee Crystal I No 91-92 7111 Fico< • 0, Radhaknllhnan Sala, IMylapore IIChenna, � 

REGISTRATION NO. WtTH ICAI • 003990S/S200018 
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SI. Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter 

No 

1. Revenue Recognition Our audit included but was not limited to the 

following procedures: 

The Company is engaged in the sale of 

Indian designer clothes and accessories. 

The Company has its own website and also 
sells its goods on e-commerce sites. 

Among other procedures, we obtained ar 

understanding of the revenue recognition proces� 

including the design and implementation 01 

relevant controls. 

The Company's revenue is derived primarily 

from sale of goods. As per its accounting Accounting policies: 

policy, revenue is recognized when Assessed whether the Company's revenue 

significant risks and rewards of ownership recognition policy is consistent with the 

are transferred to the buyer, which requirements of AS 9. 

generally coincides with the time of delivery 

of goods to the customer. Tests of details: 

Given the volume and variety of •

transactions, including the incidence of 

sales returns, there is a risk of inappropriate 

timing of revenue recognition and 
inaccurate estimation of sales returns, 

which could lead to misstatement of 

revenue. • 

Accordingly, the timing of revenue 

recognition and the estimation of sales 

return provisions have been identified as a •
Key Audit Matter. 

The accounting policies (Refer Note 2.7) 

provide additional information on how the •
Company accounts for its revenue 

• 

• 

Performed substantive testing of selected 

revenue transactions recorded during the year 

and near year-end, including verification of 

underlying documents such as sales 

contracts, invoices, delivery challans and 

goods dispatch notes. 

Verified that revenue was recognized only 

when risks and rewards had been transferred 

and no significant uncertainty existed 

regarding the amount or its collection. 

Reviewed sales transactions recorded either 

side of year end as well as credit notes issued 

after the year end date to determine whether 

revenue was recognized in the correct period. 

Reviewed the methodology and assumptions 

used by management to estimate provisions 

for sales returns, including testing the 

historical data used to support such 

estimates and assessing whether the 

provision was reasonable and consistent with 

past trend�. current circumstances, and the 

latest information available subsequent to the 

balance sheet date. 

Compared the current year estimates to the 

prior year and, where relevant, completing 

further inquiries and testing. 

Performed analytical procedures to identify 

any unusual trends or variances in revenue 

and sales returns. Reviewed significant 

fluctuations and obtained explanations from 

management. 
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Control testing: 

Tested key controls over revenue recognition, 

including review of management's testing for 

operating effectiveness. 

Disclosures: 

Tracing disclosure information to accounting 

records and other supporting documentation. 

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditors' Report Thereon 

The Holding Company's Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation of the other information. 

The other information comprises the information included in the Directors report but does not include 

the consolidated financial statements and our auditors' report thereon. The annual report/ Director's 

report is expected to be made available to us after the date of auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 

not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 

other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 

that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

Responsibilities of the Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 

Financial Statements 

The Holding Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these 

consolidated financial statements in terms of the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 that give a 

true and fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial performance, and 

consolidated cash flows of the Group including its Associate in accordance with the accounting 

principles generally accepted in India, including the Accounting Standards specified under section 133 

of the Act. The respective Board of Directors of the company included in the Group and of its associate 
. 

are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of 

the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other 

irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and 

estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of 

adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and 

completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid. 
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the company 

included in the Group and of its associate are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group and of 

its associate to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 

and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 

Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The respective Board of Directors of the company included in the Group and of its associate are 

responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group and of its associate. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the

override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are

also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Holding Company, its subsidiary

company and its associate company, which are companies incorporated in India have adequate

internal financial controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group and its associate to continue

as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw

attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions

may cause the Group and its associate to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group and its associate to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit
of the financial statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial statements of
which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated financial
statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated -:Vith those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors' report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication. 

Other Matters 

We did not audit the financial statements of the subsidiary (Cbazaar.com INC) whose financial 

statements reflect total assets of Rs. 7,041 thousand (before consolidation adjustments) and net assets 

of Rs. (6,506) thousands (before consolidation adjustments) as at March 31, 2025, total revenues of Rs. 

65,236 thousand (before consolidation adjustments) and net cash inflows amounting to Rs.250 

thousands for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements. The 

consolidated financial statements also include the Group's share of net loss of Rs. 2 thousand for the 

year ended March 31, 2025, as considered in the consolidated financial statements, in respect of 1 

associate whose financial statements have not been audited by us. These financial statements are 

unaudited and have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these 

subsidiary, and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 and sub-section (11) of Section 197 

of the Act in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiary is based solely on such unaudited financial 

statements. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us by the 

Management, these financial statements are not material to the Group. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, ?nd our report on Other Legal and Regulatory 

Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the 

work done and the financial information certified by the Management. 
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Report on Other legal and Regulatory Requirements 

1. As required by the Companies (Auditors' Report) Order, 2020 ("the Order"), issued by the Central 

Government of india in terms of sUb-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the "Annexure A" 

a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable. 

2. As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act, based on our audit and other financial information of subsidiary 

and its associate, as noted in the 'Other matters' paragraph, we report, to the extent applicable, that: 

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge 

and belief were necessary for . the purposes of our aud it of the aforesaid consolidated financial 

statements. 

b) in our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it 

appears from our examination of those books, except for non-compliance (pertaining to the Holding 

Company) with the requirement of maintaining daily backups on servers physically located in india, as 

mandated under proviso to Rule 3 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. Attention is also drawn to 

the matters stated in the paragraph 2(h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule l1(g) of the Companies (Audit 

and Auditors) Rules, 2014. 

c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and the Consolidated 
Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of account 
maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

d) in our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards 
(AS) specified under Section 133 of the Act. 

e) The observation relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith are as 
stated the paragraph 2(b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) of the Act and paragraph 2(h)(vi) 
below on reporting under Rule l1(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014. 

f) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company as on 
March 31, 2025 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company, none of the directors 
of the Group companies incorporated in india is disqualified as on March 31, 2025 from being appointed 

as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act except for the directors of associate company. 

g) With respect to adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the 
Holding Company and its associate company incorporated in india and the operating effectiveness of 
such controls, refer to our separate Report in "Annexure B". Our report expresses an unmodified opinion 
on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial controls with reference to financial 
reporting of those companies , for reasons stated therein . 

h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors' Report in accordance with Rule 11 of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration other financial information of 
the subsidiary and associate, as noted in the 'Other Matters' paragraph: 
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i. The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the

consolidated financial position of the Group and its associate - Refer Note 28 to the

consolidated financial statements.

ii. The Group and its associate did not have any material foreseeable losses on long-term

contracts including derivative contracts.

iii. There are no amounts, that are required to be transferred, to the Investor Education and

Protection Fund by the Holding Company and its associate company incorporated in India.

iv. (a) The management of Holding Company, and associate company incorporated in India has

represented that, to the-best of their knowledge and belief, no funds (which are material either

individually or in the aggregate) have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from

borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Holding

Company and associate company incorporated in India to or in any other person(s) or

entity(ies), including foreign entities ("Intermediaries"), with the understanding, whether

recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend

or invest in other persons•or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 

Holding Company and associate company incorporated in India ("Ultimate Beneficiaries") or 

provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(b)The management of the Holding Company and associate company incorporated in India has

represented, that, to the best of it's knowledge and belief, no funds (which are material either

individually or in the aggregate) have been received by the company from any person(s) or

entity(ies), including foreign entities ("Funding Parties"). with the understanding, whether

recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Holding Company, and associate company

incorporated in India shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or

entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party ("Ultimate

Beneficiaries") or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate

Beneficiaries

(c)Based on such audit procedures that we have considered reasonable and appropriate in the

circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the

representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material mis-statement.

v. The Board ofDirectors of the Company have not paid/ declared any dividend during the financial

year. Accordingly, reporting on compliance with the provisions of Section 123 of the Act are not

applicable.

vi. Relying on representations/explanations from the company and software vendor and based on

our examination which included test checks, the.holding Company has used,

• Accounting software for maintaining its books of account, which has a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout the year for
all relevant transactions recorded. The accounting software is such that it has no
database but only objects and collections, hence, no changes is possible at that level.
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• lnhouse developed software which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility

and the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded.

The feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled at the database

level to log any direct data changes for this software.

• Further, during the course of our audit we did not come across any instance of audit

trail feature being tampered with.

• The audit trail has been preserved by the company as per the statutory requirements for

record retention.

• No audit trail is enabled throughout the year by associate company for its books of

accounts

3. As required by Section 197(16) of the Act, we report that the remuneration paid by the Holding Company

to its directors is in accordance with the prescribed provisions and the remuneration paid to every

director is within the limit specified under Section 197.

For PKF Sridhar & Santhanam LLP

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration No.003990S/S200018 

� \J#. 
P.DEVI

Partner 

Membership No. 223137 

UDIN: 25223137BMINVl8384 

Place of Sjgnature: Chennai 

Date: May 29, 2025 
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Annexure A 

(Referred to in paragraph 1 under 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' section of 

our report of even date) 

(i) As required by Paragraph (xxi) of Companies (Auditor's Report) Order (CARO), there have been no

qualifications or adverse remarks by the respective auditors in the CARO reports of the companies

incorporated in India and included in the consolidated financial statements except:

Name of the entity CIN 

Net Avenue U72900TN2001PLC047220 
Technologies 

Limited 

For PKF Sridhar & Santhanam LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration No.003990S/S200018 

P.DEVI

Partner

Membership No. 223137

UDIN: 25223137BMINV18384

Place of Signature: Chennai 

Date: May 29, 2025 

Nature of Relationship Clause number of the CARO 

report which is qualified or 

adverse 

Holding company Clause (iia), (viia), (xvii) 
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Annexure B 

Referred to In paragraph 2(f) on 'Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements' of our report of even 

date on the consolidated financial statements of Net Avenue Technologies Limited 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting under Clause (I) of Sub-section 3 of 

Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act") 

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Net Avenue Technologies Limited 

(hereinafter referred to as "the Holding Company") as of and for the year ended March 31, 2025, we have 

audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding Company, which 

is company incorporated in India, and for which reporting under this clause is applicable, as of that date. 

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

The Board of Directors of the Holding company, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal 

financial controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the respective 

companies considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of 

Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India 

("the ICAI"). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 

internal financial controls that wete operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its 

business, including adherence to the respective company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the 

prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 

and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls over financial reporting based on 

our audit of the holding Company, which is the company incorporated in India. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the 

"Guidance Note") and the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 

143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those 

Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial 

reporting were established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 

financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal 

financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls 

over financial reporting , assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the 

design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected 

depend on the auditors' judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion on the internal financial controls system with reference over financial reporting of the Holding 

Company. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over financial reporting 

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal 

financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
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maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance 
with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting including the 
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or 
fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls 
over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over financial 
reporting and may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Opinion 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us the Holding 
Company, have, in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting and 
such internal financial controls over financial reporting statements were operating effectively as at March31, 
2025, based on the internal financial controls over financial reporting criteria established by the respective 
companies considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

For PKF Srldhar & Santhanam LLP

Chartered Accountants 
Firm's �egistration No.003990S/S200018 

P.Devi �' 
Partner 

\�Membership No. 223137 
UDIN: 25223137BMINVl8384 

Place of Signature: Chennai 
Date: May 29, 2025 
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et Avenue Technologies Limited ( Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Gonsolidntcd balance sheet as at 31 l\larch 2025 
(All amounts arc in thousands except share data or as stated) 

EQUITY ASD LIABILITIES 

Shareholders' funds 

Share capital 
Reserves and surplus 

Non-current liabilities 
Long-tenn provisions 

Cu rrent liabilities 
Shon-term borrowings 
Trade payables 

- Total outstanding dues to micro and small enlerpnses 
- Total outstanding dues to creditors other than micro and ,mall enterprises 

Other current liabilities 
Shon-term provisions 

TOTAL 

ASSETS 

'on-current nssct, 
Property. plant and equipment & Intangibles 
a) Tangible assets 
b) Intangible assets 
Non-current investments 
Deferred tax asset (net) 
Amount recoverable from Net Avenue Technologies Private Lmuted 
Employees Welfare Trust 
Long-term loans and advances 

Current assets 

Current investments 
lnven1oncs 
Trade receivable, 
Cash and bank balances 
Short-term loans and advances 
0Lhcrs current ass(;IS 

TOTAL 

Note 

3 
4 

5 

6 
7 

8 
5 

9 
10 
11 
12 

35 

13 

14 
15 
16 
17 
13 
18 

Significant accounting policies 2 
The notes referred to above form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements 

As at 
31 March 2025 

21,416 
40,370 
61,786 

3,81 I 
3,811 

7,005 

5,664 
18,871 
3 l.658 

5.314 
68,512 

I 3-1,109 

2,564 

139 
39 

5,120 

3,845 
I 1,707 

37,267 
28,904 

3,223 
39,616 
12.903 

489 

1,22,402 

1,34,109 

As per our report of even date attached 
For PKF Sridhar & Santhanam LLP 
Chartered Ac:c:011nra11l� 

for and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Net Avenue Technologies Prirnte Limited 

Fim1\ Rcg1stratmn No· .0
7

1s:!O00
� 

t�'/ ,, '

lC f.1. ·� ·��, ,�018 �}) -.;, t: I
• 'l>' 

;,-� 
P Devi 
Partner 

Membership l\o. 223137 
Place : Chenna1 
Date : May 29 2025 

C U72900TN200 I PTC047220 

11110/e-time director 
DIN- 01019455 
Place Surat 
Date : May 29 2025 

91 -,-A 
Prakash Arthanari 
Chief Financial Officer 
Place Surat 
Date May 29 2025 

As at 
31 March 2024 

Rajcsh Nalrnr 
Managing Director 

DIN: 01015059 
Place : Chennai 
Date May 29 2025 

21,416 
83,073 

1,04,489 

3,910 
3,910 

13,837 

3.5-l-l 
22.507 
39,515 

4.865 
84,267 

I 92,666 

3,258 

214 
41 

10,960 

3.971 
18,444 

52,212 
55,083 

3,732 
32.073 
27.760 

1.361 
1,7-1,222 

1,92,666 

�.�!:':.";. 
Company Secretary 
Place • Surat 
Date May 29 2025 
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Net Avellu e Technologies Limited (Formerly tiNct Avenue Tec hnologies P"ivale Limited") 
Consolidaled Slalell1enl of profit and loss for the year ended 3 I l\lnrch 2025 
(All amounts i.ITe in thousands except share data or as Slated) 

Note 
Asal 

31 March 2025 

As at 
3 I {\lIIreh 2024 

Income 
Revenue from operations 

Olher Income 

Tota l income 

Expl'nses 
Cost of materials consumed 
Purchases of stock-in-trade 
Chanyes in imentory of work-in-progress and stock-ItHTilde 

Employee benefits 

Finance cost 

Depreciation and amortisa tion 

Olher expenses 

Tota l expenses 

Profit before exceptional items a nd tax 

ExceJltional item s 

Profit I (loss) before tax 

Tax expense: 

. Current lax (Net off MAT Credit entitlement) 

-Adjustments for earlier years 

• Deferred tax 

Profi t I (Luss) after lax 

Share uf luss from assuciate 

Prolil l (loss) after tax and share of loss from associate 

Earnings IIH share 

Basic earnings per equity share 

Diluted earnmgs per equity share 

\lominal \aluc of equity share 

Significanl accounting policies 

19 
20 

21 
22 
23 
24 

25 

26 
27 

38 

33 

2 

2.71.149 
6,271 

2,77,420 

12,482 

61,636 
13.745 
45,484 

610 

950 

1.84.152 

3,19,059 

(41.639) 

(41.639) 

(41,639) 

(2) 

(41,641) 

(1.94) 

(1.94) 

1.00 

The notes referred 10 above form an integral part oflhe consolidated financial statements 

As per ollr repol1 of even date allached 
For P){F Sridhar & SloInlhanam LLI' 

Ciu/I'lered Aa'ollfll(mls 
Fiml'S Reglstratioll No : .003990S/S200018 

P Dcvi 

Purtllcr 
Membership No 223137 

Place : Chcnnai 
Date: May 292025 

" ,-. 

for and on behalf of the Board ofDlrcctol'S of 

Nel A\'enue Technologies Prlvatc Limited 

CIN : U72900TN200 1 PTC04 7220 

0::,," WllOlc-time director 
DIN: 01019455 

Prllkash Arlhanari 
Chief Financial Officer 
Pli.lce : Sural 
Dllte : Mlly 29 2025 

Rajesh Nahar 

Chennai 
May292025 

Company Secretary 
Place: Sural 

D!lte : Muy 29 2025 

2,67,053 

2.687 

2,69,740 

15,470 
40,399 

1.$04 
53,93] 

1,749 

],405 

1,75.922 

2,90,680 

(20.940) 

5,1)0 

(15.810) 

(15.HIO) 

(2) 

(15,812) 

(0.92) 
(0.92) 

1.00 
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Nel Avenue Tt'chnologics Limited ( Form t! rly "NN A"t!nue Tcch nologies Private Limited") 
CO llooHdalrd (~,II no .. il~It''''~nl ror Ihf yu r endrd 31 ~ I a""h !l}2S 

(All anlQUnl. are III loous.m.L,' e~ce r l shan, ilina or a. >Ialed) 

CMI II now (mm "p~ra li ng aO ll" ilkJ 

!'ro lil l (10'" bdon' IU 
AdJuslmCIl15 

D" """~ l.lu"n ~lwJ alTk>n osa llO" 
Firl30CC COSI 
Int erest !RcOnle 
l:mploy<:c 310Ck COrl'lfl'l:osa llUn c '~n;;e 
G.'n on 1II1c or 'n"csl"""nt 
I' r"~~,,oll rur doubt ful d,-bt~ I ad, .. ,,,,cs 

I'nwlSmn rur omo"nl rl'Cowrab lc 1T0m N~I Avenl'e T ~'ChnoIo8""" 
I'mulr L,mll(d Employ(rs Wd rar( Tru.1 
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Nel A\ tnue Technologies limiled ( Formerly "Nel A\'enue Tet::hnologlt5 Prh'ale LlmitM") 
!'I OIU 10 tonsolld.IH n".nd.1 )1. lfn~ .. tJ for III~ )ur ~ndfd 31 Mlre h 2025 
(All Il110lInli Ire In Ihou5andl c~ecpl Ihare dm or u Iialed) 

81r "'~round 

/\cl A'cn\IC T.xhnolol.e, L.nuled I Form<Tly "Net A'enuc Tr.:hnolo,," I'm .. te Limned") C'the CQmplny· I "the parmI" "the holdln, cOmplny") lind ill 
1Iw...d ... OC'J Cl>e.£ur,com lno:, L:SA an.! P_c, Tndlllp: LulUit'd. l:nued KJllplom ulil«ll\cly c.IIN u -1Iw Group" Thc Compan), "'If In~OJfIl>flIletl on i 

J\I"~ 2001 IS ptr lhe p,ovision of Iii< COI1'1fW\1f:s ACI, 19'6. The COII1pIn)" I~ mpp-d III lhe pic of Indlall dM.fIICT ck>thes and IHCS)OrIe. ooJme. The 
Com~ny hli IU o"'n I'DIUI "Cblt .. ,.Com" 10 the Ind.an fl1hlon c-II.I ~JIII~e Thc lIull.ldllne;. ICIII Iii • comml~~.nn Ilkl colledllll I ,enl for IIIe lM'kllnl 

'Dfl'4lan} 

Lalil) Countl") uf ''';''ctrperiliol ,.llIre orintcrnt 0,. of thucholdr .. 

Net A\'C1\1I(' TcchnologJCI Luruttd ('NATL ') Ind .. lIolchn. COII1pIny 
Cbaaar ct>m Inc United SuoIC:tl of ~nci Sub6ldary or I'OA TL , .... 
[thOO\('f\'C Iks!)Okc S<-nlccl Pnnte lill'lltcd '''''. A.I~llteofNATl ,... 
Slltnlfic"l If_dal politics 

1.1 8"i, or preplrilion of 'Inwlidll,d flnlMll1 Jlltcmnu 

The consohdlted financlll illtem:ntS hi" been prepared end prescnted under Ihe hlSIOf1CII COM con'cnuon and Iccrual b.~11 ofl((OIInllll&- IInleS!; ollie ..... lie 
)utcd. an.! In KCoroancf ... ·,m Ihe .~lIy ICCcptcJ IICCOUnl1nl principles m Indll ("Inthan GAM") "!'h.: consolidated fir1lllklal SUlcmcnl$ ha,·c lIcen 
P"'Jlllrcd 10 evn ... ly In 111 malenal rnpccl$ .... "h thc /lctounun, SundoLn:b I' \S") ""Cllied uoda Scc1_ ll.l Ind Ihc vlher relc~""1 pn .. ",vns of Ihe 
('OITlfl1m.", ACI, 2011 I. ap/lhcllIle 

The Board. dul), lakin,lnto accounlili the n::lcnnl dlKkmircs made, hot appro,·ed these (tninciaJ .lIlernenlli In IU mceLtnl held 00 29th \t.y 2025 

2. 1 tlnb of prrpanlilon or nouolidatrd finondll "lltftlCltll t~.II"""~1I 

The eonsohd~lc.llin;lnc.llltalcmt:n\J h1\c bee .. rrcpa.n::d on the follo"'lng bull 
I' Tho: 1i .......... 1 ~ ... Icnwnl. uflht panni company and Ihe )lIblld,arw~ ha,t _n combined on I hne-by-Ione bIolJ by add""lOgethn CM book ~.I~s "fllke 
llelNo of _I .. hablhllC§. IIKOn-..: and c.\ptnscs lfie, thrrunallnl! Inul-grou.p balanoc.tJ f tlllltlClions Ind mullIn, "",rallKd profi ... In fuJl:u per ACCOIInllll, 
Stwnd~td 2 1- ( '()IU(lhd"ltd hnlln(lll Suote,,"'ntS 

b) The !inane"" ~"'ICD1enb oflht !lUb .. d.a!)' co~ntoe. Ind a.uoc,ak cOlTlfllny Ife d,. .... n up 10 the .... me ,rpmlln, <bte .. th"l of the Iloldlllil Cump~ny Ie, 'I 
M~h ~02~ Lnrelbscd IoJsn ,"11\1:"" from lIt1n-voup Cr&JlJ;al;tlons N.>c lito been elumnaced C.\(cp 10 th< eM,'n! lhat rc,,,,~bk- ~aJyc ofrclllrd aSSCiS IS 
10 .. " Ibn their COliIIO the p1)UI' The amounu .OO",n In """peel of .... __ cOmpnK the atl10lllll ofthc .... 1e.alIt fC$Cf>CS I~ pet the h1b.nee ~ C)ftbc rarenl 
rotl1jlln) and IIJ .lIlrt In thc posr-acqulsmon In.e .... IK '11 the rdc, .. nt f"C"R"n,." ofthe subsldlinci. 

c) The d.ff,rence In the COJI of the III"'SlmCnllO!be parmI compan)' of lIS inYeliitmezllIII lbe wbtldlanC:tl alllle respoxlm= <bles C)n ",hleh ,n'C5unent 'n su.;h 
~"II"C5 "'· .. Il: ... tk" r .. tOllnlltd In Ihe financ •• I.tlternent, .. Iood .... lllicapltll ruc:rw 

d) The COIIJOh<bted fin.ancw .tllernenlJ include: the sbau ofprofil . loss of the "NlClate ~y ... hM;:h .... beC1\ accounled II peT the: 'Equity method', Ind 

,,·,oNIII,ly, Ihe .. In- of profil lou of coch ofliK' 1I!1Oelite rompany (ihc 10M bot",. IMtnCled 10 IIw eDIt of rnv"m~.II) has been lidded 10 tkdutled from 

lhe ~0.1 Oflllvt'11tl'1entS 

An _uole II .... ~'fIlerpnsc rn .. hICh the In,CSlOf lu, "J1llfiClnt ",fluenct I.IId .. h.ch 1) flClIhcr a ,ub.ld.art nor I jollll 'mtun: onhe 1II'>!SIO' 

e) The eonwhcbkd Iinlik:1lI1 nllcmenl5 ..... prcstnted. 10 Ihe elllcnt poM.blc. 10 the _ f"onnal ... thai odopted by the ~I cOfIlI;u!y lor III sep;arate 
Iin.n~I.1 ~Ull .. rnenl$ 

i) The- colUo()hdllCd financul Stllemcnll an: prepared \d,." umfonn I(counun. pollelCS 10, hke transact,onS Ind OIlier t\'C:OII HiSmular Cllell""'ln"s 

Thc finlincIIlII"'lcn~nt. of the fOll:ljI11111CfVlliubsidiana 1Ill1ra11l1l1Cd Into Indian rupc<:'I' follow. 
Rc>"CI1UoC 1I~ art lrall)lattd I,!be respectiVe' monthly 1"'l1Ile I1let. Iltpre<: .. Lton IJ tnnJlaled It the rita uxd for IIIe Ulnllallon orlhe .... IIICII orliK' IUClI on 
... hICh dq>rec:",11Cln i. uleulalcd Monetary nc:ms ..... translalCd Willi' the dotiUlI rite Non-monetary llaM, are InllIlaled Willi, thc C:>.changt rill: on the dale 
OflranSICtlOn i.e .. the: date .. hen Ihey .. ·ere KqUlred. The nCl ",chalilc d,lTcrc:lltt muhln. from Ihe tnnllauon of lterns In the finlncill st"ernenlJ orrarelan 
mlcll11l1 OfM'rah'LnII. R:COII"Ilcd l1J IIICIlmt: OfUPCI\JC for the y.:ar Conhnlenl hlOb"lI .... are translaled .llhe elo~lnlrate 

2.2 UH' of c'llmatn 

The ~rallOtl of collUOlt<blro fi~"1 Il.IltmcOIi 111 eonfo.">mlily .. ,In <.iMP reqUIre. nWllllcrnenl 10 mll..e ellLl1\;l1.'1 Ind aUIIRlj'IKln. thac IITeet thc 
rc-poncd ImOUnlJ of tiUb Ind hlblhh6, 1M dl:.dQ~u"" of cOnl1ni>'m1 "abd,lle;. on the diCe ofllle euru.ohdalN fiflln<:",I.Ii1lemcnlS Ind .... JIUfIN ImOUnt. uf 
lllcon~ and c.\petI5CS dUflll1 Ihe period Acrull IiJUTn may differ from lheir aUlTllt" Any re,"l.on 10 KCOllnl.R, cstltnlle. " recof!\u:ed proIpc~"~ly III 

/.V<'1'lT-..d fUl1Il't ~ 

I .~ 
"\';~ 
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Nel Avenue Technologies LimHed (Formerly "Ncr Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notet to consolidated finandal statements for the year end{'d 31 /'o1ar('h 2025 
(All :unOUnlS are m thousands except share data or as stated) 

2.3 Properly. planlllnd equipment 

Deprec lauon IS pro\ided on wOllen down value method o ... er the useful hft as prescribed under Part C ofSchedult' II of the Compames Act. 2013 TIle cost of 
property. plant and equtpment mcludes freIght, duties and lalles and olher meldental expenses rehued to the acquililllon, but exclude duties and taxes that are 
recmer:lbl ... subsequent I) from ta:< authoTl!l{'s. BOlTowmg costs directly llttnbutable to acquIsition of those property, plant and equipment which n«essanly 
take a substantial penod oftll1le to gel ready for their lIltended usc are capitalized Pursuant to the abo\'e. the usefulli\es of\'anous ossets arc as below' 

Pro ert,' Iialit and I' ui ment 
Computers and accessories 
Ollice equipmell1s 

Plant nnd mnchmery 
Furniture and fi ltmg5 
Vehicle 

DepreCiation is calculated on a pro·mta basis lTom the date ofmstallat ion till the date the ISsets are sold or disposed. 

Leasehold improvements :Ire amortised using straight line method o\er the ie:lse period 

Usdullife 
3 years 
5 years 

15 years 
10 years 
10 vears 

Advances paid towards acquIsition of property, plant and equipment and the cost of assets nOI reody to be pultO use before the year end are disclosed under 
long tenn loans and ad\ances. ;llId capital work m progress resp«tl\ely 

2.4 Intani:iblt asscts lind amorlinlion 

Intangible a~~et~ ate recorded at the con~ldenlliOn paId for acqUl~ltlon including any mlpon dUlles and other taxes (other than those ~ubsequently recoverable 
by the en t crpTl~e from Ihe ta:<mg authoruies), and any directly allnbutable expendIture m making the ISsei ready for Its Intt:nded USE:, IntangIble assets 
compnsc pnmanly of software licen..~es that arc amonlzed o\'cr their estimated u,o;efulltfe of 3 years 

2.5 Impai rment 

The Group a~~C5$C~ al each bal:lnce sheel whether there is an mdlcallon thaI an a~~et may be unpaIred If any such condillon eXlsIs, the Group eSllmales the 
rccovcmble amOllnl of the asset Ifsllch reco\erable amount of the a~sc' or the recovcrable amount oflhe cash generatmg unit to whIch the asset belongs IS lelis 
than tis calTymg amount, the carrylllg al110unt I.~ reduced to its recoverable amount The rcduCllon IS trealed as an Unpalnllent loss and IS recognised III the 
slalement of profil and loss. If at the balance sheet dale therc IS an mdlcalion thaI a previOu.~ly a.~scssed Impalnllcnt loss no longer eXIsts, the reeoverable 
amount IS reassessed and Ihe as~cl is renected at the recoverable amount subJeclto mllXllnUIll of depreciated historical cost. 

2.6 Itwcnlories 

Invcnlones wh ich compme raw materials. work m-progrClis, fimshed goods and traded goods are earned at the lower of COSI and net realisable value The 
comparison of cos I and nel realizable value IS made on an "em by tlem ba.~IS, Cost ofmventon~ compnses ofpureha.~e costs, costs of conversIon, and other 
eo~1S meurred III brmgmg the \Ilventones to their present condition and location In delenmning the cost, speCific tdentlficaliOll method IS used 

Consumables hke packing material are expensed offill the YUt ofpurehase 

1.7 Income from o[X'ralions :lnd other income 

Revenue from !'ale of goods and shlppmg charges IS r«ogniscd on delivery of goods to customers, whIch generally cOUlcides with the transfer of a ll significant 
risks and rewards of ownership to the buyer Sale value of goods is exeluslve of sales tax, returns. price adjustments and quantity discounts 

Dividend Income is recognized when the shareholders' right to receive payment IS estabhmed by the balance sheet date 

Interest IIIcome is recognized,on time proportIOn basis 

2.8 In\'cst ml'uls 

InveStmenL~ arc either classified as cUlTent or long.term based on the management 's IIllcntlon Current IIlvestments are camed at the lower of cost and fair 
value In ca.~e of Investments m mutual funds , the net asse t value of unIts declared by the mutual funds IS conSidered as the fair value Long-tenn IIlvesunents 
are camed at cost and proVISIons recorded to recognlzc any dechne, other than temporary, m the carrylllg value of each mvestment 

2.9 Fortign cu r rency tr:;cn5actions 

Foreign currency transac!tons are recorded at the e:<change mtcs prevailing on the day of the respective transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
dcnomm:lIed III fore Ign currencies are translated al the exchange rate on the balance sh«t datel::xchange differences arismg on fore ign currency Innsacltons 
durmg the year and on restatement of monetary assets and liabihlics are recognized In the statement of profit and loss of the 'year 
Intcgral fOTClgn opcrolllons are thosc which eany on thClr business as Ifthcy were an extension of the Company's operatiOns 
The finanCial statements of;1Il IIItcgral foreign operation arc translated Into Indian TUpc<'S as If the transactions of the fortlgn operation wcre those of the 
Company Itself 

2.10 Emplo)ee benefits 

ShOrHtrm employee btoefit5 

Employee benefits payable wholly wHhm twelvc months ofrecclvlIIg employec serviccs arc elaSSlfied as shon-tcrm cmployee benefits. These bcncfits include 
salaTles, wages, compensatcd abscn~nd bonus. TIlc undlscounted amount of shorHcrm employee benefits to be paid III exchange for employec services IS 
rccogUlzcd as an c:<pcnsc .IS the relatc~r\, lcc IS rendered by cmployees. 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited ( Formerly "Nel Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes 10 consolidaled liullllci!ll statements (or the year ended 31 I\'brch 2025 
(All amounts are m thousOlnds except share data or as stated) 

2.10 Employee benefits (Con tinued) 

Posl-employment benefits 
Defined c:omribllfion plan.f: 
A defined contribution plan is a post employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specified contributions to a separate entity and has no obligation to 
p:ly any further amounts, TIle 1I0iding Company makes specified monthly contributions towards employee provident fund and pension to Government 
administered proHdent fund scheme and pension scheme which is a defined contribution plall. The 1I0iding Company's contribution is recognized as an 
expense In the consolidated statement of pro lit and loss during the period in which the employee renders the related service 

Defined benefit plnn : 
GrnfllilJ': TIle Holding Company's grullll ly benefit scheme is the defined benefit plan. TIle Holding Company's net obligation in respect of the defined benefit 
plan is caJculate<i by estimating the amount of future benefit that the employees ha\e eamed in retum for their service in the current and prior periods; that 
benefit is discounted to detennine its present value. Any unrecognized past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The calculation of 
the company's obligation IS perfonned by a qualified actuary lIsmg the Projected Umt Cre<ht Method The lIoldmg Company's gratuity scheme is administered 
by Life Insurnnee Corporution of India. 

TIle Holding Company recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising from the delined benefit plan Immediately m the consolidated statement of profit and 
loss An e:o:pcnses related to detined benefit plans arc recognized in employee benclits expense III the consolidated statement of profit and loss When the 
bcncfits ofthc plan are unproved. the portion of the Illcreased benefit related to past servIce by employees IS recognized III the consohdated statement of pro lit 
and loss on a stralgln hne baSIS o\er Ihe a ... eragc penod untIl the benefits become \ested The Iloldmg Company recognIzes gams and losses on the curtai lment 
or sel\lemem of the plan when Ihe cunaihnenl or senlement occur~ 

Ctlftlpell suul! ubull t·es: n,e employees can carry-forward a ponlon of the unut,hsed accrued compensated absences and utilise It III future service periods or 
rCCel\·C c a.~h compcnsauon on tennlllatl0n of employment . The obhgat1on 1~ mea~ured on the basis of11ldependent actuarial valuation uSlIIg the projected unit 
credit method as at the balance shect date 

2.11 Earnings per share 

BasiC earnings per shnre amounts are computed by dividmg net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders by the weighled average number of 
shares oU1.~tanding during the year. 

For the purpo.~e of calculating diluted earnings per share. net profil after tax attributable to the equity shareholdrn for the year and the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year arc adjusle<i for the effects of all dilullvC potential equity shares. The dilutive potential equity shares are deemed 
converted as of the beginning of the period. unless they have been issued at a latcr date. The diluted potential equity shares have been adjusted for the proceeds 
receivable had the shares been actually issued at fair value (i.c. the avcrage market value of the outstanding shart.'I) 

In computing dIluted eammgli per share, only potential equity shares that are dilut,\'e and that reduce profit / loss per share are mcluded 

2.12 Leases 
Leases under winch Ihe Holdmg Company assume~ ~ubslanllally all the nsks and reward~ of ownership arc classified as finance leases Such assets acquIred 
arc capltahsed at the faIr value of the asset or presen! value of the mmnnl1m lcase payment!; al the incepuon of the lease. whichever IS lower Leases where the 
lessor effec!!\ ely relains sl1bstanually all the risks and benefil~ of ownership of the leased Items arc claSSIfied as operating leases Operating lease payments are 
recognised as an expense in the Slate men! of profit and loss on a straight line basIS over the penod of the lease 

2. IJ T ;uation 

Income-tax expense eompnse currcnt ta"\( (I.e amount of tax for the pcnO<! determined In accordance with the Income-tax law). and deferred tax. charge or 
eredn (reflecting Ihe tax effects ofuming differences between aceounung income and taxable mcome for the period). The deferred tax charge or credit and thc 
corresponding deferred tax liabilities or assets arc recogmzed usmg the lax rales and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet dale. Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent there is a reasonable certainty Ihat the assets can be realized in future: however. where there is 
unabsorbed depree13uon or carried forward loss under ta;>;3tion laws. deferred tax assets arc recognized only if there is a virtual certainlY of realization of such 
asscts. Deferred lax assets arc reviewed as at the balance sheet date and wnlten down or wnttcn up to reflect the amountthat is reasonably/vtnually eenam (as 
the case may be) to be reahzed. 

Current tax and deferred tax assets and liabilittcs arc offset to the extent to which the Group has a legally enforceable nght to set off and \hey relate to taxes on 
meome leVIed by the same governmg taxation laws 

2. 14 I'rovisions. collt ingenl!iahil itin and contingent assets 

ProvIsion IS rccoglllzeu when there IS a presenl obhgauon as a result of past event and it is probable thaI an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obl igauon. in respect of which a reliablc estimate can be madc. Provisions arc dClcnnm«l baseu on best estimates required to sell Ie the obligation al the 
balance sheel ..laIC These arc revieweu at each balance shect datc and aUJusted 10 reflect the current management estimates. A disclosure of contingent liability 
IS made when there IS posslblc obllgallon thaI may. but probably will nOl. reqmre an outflow of resources. Where there IS a possible obligalion or a present 
obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow ofresourccs is remote. no prOVision or dIsclosure IS made Contmgcnt assets are neither recogmzcd nor 
disclosed 10 the con:;ohdateu financ131 statcments 

'. 
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Net Avenue Technologics Limited (Formcrly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
NOlcs 10 cOllsolid:ued fin ancial slatcmentli ror the ) ea r ended 31 !\brch 2025 
(All amounts arc III Ih()US;lnds excepl share data or:u slaled) 

2.15 [milloyec slock 0lllion based cOlllpensation 

TIle: iloldmg Company cakubte$ thc com~nsallOn cost based on the faIr \'alue mC'lhod, wherein the excess of the fair ..... Iue of the undc:rlymg eqUIty shMe as 
on the d;ate of the grant of the opllon o\er the exercIse price: of the option gl\en to the employees under the eOlpluyec siock option scheme of the Hokhng 
Company IS amort ised O\Cf Ihe \cslmg penod 011. §lr.nght linc basis, The Holding Company follows the GUIdance note 00 accounlmg for employee .hare 
ba..ed paymcnts Issued by In.llliJle of Chane red Accountants of India for accountmg for employee 'Iod: options 

2.16 Cuh and cash equiYaknl 

Cash and cash equI\alcnts compnsc of cash at bank and in hand and short-lcnn m\cSlments wIth an ongmal maturity oflhrce months or less 

2. 17 Cash now statl'nll~nl 

Cash flows are reported Ulim& the mdlreel method. whereby net prolit or lou before tlX 15 adjusted for the eflects of transactIons of non-cash nature, any 
deferrals, or accruals of past or fu ture opcralln~ cash receipts or paymcnts and lIem of c'tpenses associated wIth m .... estmg or financm& cash flows The cash 
flcl\u from operatmg, In\cslmg and finanelllg 8ell\'I\IC5 ofthc Group arc segregated 

< Thl.ffpuce nu.f "'en ItItelltlonull,le{t blan/;. > 



96

Net AVellue- Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue- Technologies Private Limited" ) 
Notes to consolidated financial stutements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
(A ll amounts are in thousands except share data or as stated) 

3 Share capilal 

Particulars 

Authorised: 
I. Equity shures 

2.30.00.000 (31 March 2024 : 2.499,980) eqUity shares of JNR 1 each 

1I. Series A equity shures 
o (31 March 2024 : 10) Seri es A equ ity shares of rNR. \ each 

Ill. Series B equity shure!i 
0(31 March 2024 : 10) Senes B equity shares of fNR. 1 each 

IV. 0.01 % coltlplll!iorily cOIn'ertible and nOli cunwlath'l! Series A preferellce !ihllres 
0(31 March 2024: 500,000) preference shares of INR. 1 each 

V. 0.01% compulsorily cOllvertible a"d 111m cumulative Series B preferellCl! shares 

0(31 March 2024' 600,000) preference shares ofiNR. I each 

Issued, subscribed and paid up : 

I. Equity .'iltare.'i 
2,14.54.078 (3\ March 2024 : 1,238,420) equity shares of INR. I each 

Less : Amount recoverable from Net Avenue Technologies Pnvate Limited 
Employees Welfare Tmst - Face va lue of 38,420 shares (31 March 2025 : 38,420 ) 
allotted to the trust 

II. Series A equity sltares 
NIL (31 March 2024 : 6) Senes A equity sha res of JNR. 1 each 

III. 0.01 % conrplllsnrUy CIJlllllmible alld IWII cllnwlat;\'e Series A preference shares 
NIL (31 Mareh 2024: 468.614) preference shares of lNR. I each 

/J : 0.01% COlllplllsorilJI cOll vertible alld 11011 cllllllllati~'e Series B preferellce shares 
NIL (31 March 2024: 544.114) preference shares of INR. I each 

, 
, ' 

< Thi.'i .fpace has heen intentIOnally left Mank > 

As at 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

23,000 

o 

o 

21,454 

(38) 

21,416 

21,416 

23,000 

o 

o 

21,454 

(38) 

2 1,4 16 

21,416 
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Net A\'('l1u(' Tec hn ologies Limited ( Formed), "Net AV('l1u (' Technologies Private Limited"} 
Notes to consolidated financial statements for th(' year ended 31 March 2025 
(A ll amounts arc in thousands except share data or as stated) 

3 Shar(' capital (co nfinued) 

(a) Reconciliation or the number or shares ou tstanding at the beginning and allhe end of the reporting yur 

Particulars 

I. EquitY.'i'rarel· 
At the beginning and end of the year (face va lue JNR I each) 
Add: Conversion of preference shares and Senes A eqUIty sha 
Add: Issue of bonus shares 
Add: Issue of shares on account of iPO 

At the end of Ihe year 

II. Series A equity shares 
At the beginning and end of the year (face va lue rNR I each) 
Less: On convers ion to equity shares 
At the end of the year 

Ill. O.O, ~ Ctllllpllisori(v cOllvertihle alii/ nOIJ-clIlJllllali~'1! 

Series A preference shares • 

At the begmmng and end of the year (face va lue INR I each) 
Less: On conversion to equity shares 
AI the end of the year 

IV. 0.01 % compulsorily COIII't!rlible alltl 1J(),,-cu"'I1II1I;~'e 

Series B preferellce sltares 

I\llhe beginning of the year 
Less: On converS ion to eqUI ty shares 
At the end of the year 

(c) T ernui/rights attached to equity shares 

Aut 
31 March 2025 

Number 
or sh:lres 

21,454 

2 1,454 

o 

Amount 

21,454 
0 

21,454 

0 
(0) ____ -"(0"'-) ____ -""'-

-------------------As al 
31 March 2024 

Number 
of shares 

1,238 
1,0 13 

13,507 
5,696 

21,454 

0 

0 

469 
(469) 

544 
(544) 

Amount 

1,238 
1,0 13 

13,507 
5,696 

2 1,454 

0 

0 

469 
(469) 

544 
(544) 

As al the balance sheet date. the Company has only ordmary equity shares. havi ng a par value of Re.1 per share each respectively. 

Each holder of equity shares shall have ooe vote per share. The Holdmg company declares and pays dlVldeods In indian rupees. The dividend 
proposed. If any. by the board of directors IS subject to the approval of the shareholders m the ensulDg annual general meetmg. 

3 Sh3re capital (co ntinued) 

(d) Details or shareholders holding more than 50/. shares or a class of shares of the Holding Company 
The shareholders. individually. holding more lhan 5% shares of a class of shares of the Holding Company arc as under. 

Particulars 

I. Equity shares 
RaJcsh Nahar 
Rltcsh Katanya 
Inventus Capita l Partners (MaUritIUS) Ltd 
Nadathur Estales p", Lid for and on behalf of Ojas Parlners 
Forum Synergies India Trust 
Agnus Ventures LLP 

I/. SeTtes A equity shares 
Inventus Capllal Panncrs (Maurluus) Ltd 
Nadathur Estates Pvt Ltd for and on behalf of OJ as Partners 
Forum Synerglcs India Trust 
Agnus Ventures LLP 

III. O.O/ ~ compulsor!fY convertihle allli nOll-CJlnrulativl! 
Series A prefere"ce shares ., 

Inventus Capila l PartnCfs (Mauntiu~) L~ 
Nadathur Estates Pvt. Ltd . for and.on ~alf of OJas Partners 

Q""'" 'lIi18 '-a ~., . . J.::J 
... .- ):) 1 

~< '* b Ct,'[NtI~\/.:? 

As at 
31 March 2025 

No. of shares 

30.45.000 
35.70.000 
21.71.939 
21.53.935 
13.81.632 
13,81.632 

"/" holding 

14.20% 
16.60% 
10.10% 
10.00% 
6.40% 
6.40% 

0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 

0.00% 
0.00% 

Asat 
31 March 2024 

No. of shares 

30.45.000 
35.70.000 
21,71.939 
21.53 ,935 
13.81.632 
13.81,632 

.;. holding 

14.20% 
16.60% 
10.10% 
10.00% 
6.40% 
6.40% 

0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 

0.00% 
0.00% 
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Net AV('lIu(' T('chnologies Limited ( Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to consolidated fin:mrial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
(All amounts arc in thousands except share data or as stated) 

(e) 
S. No 

I 

2 

IV, 0.01% compulsorily convertible anti 1I0ll-CUmtllatille 
Series B preference shares 

Inventus Capital Partners (Mauritius) Ltd 
Nadathur Estates Pvt. Ltd. for and on behalf of Ojas Partners 
Forum Synergies India Trust 
Agnus Ventures LLP 

Shares held by promoters at the end of the year 
Promoter Name 
Rajcsh Nahar 
Rllesh Katanya 
TOTAL 

No. of Shares 
30,45,000 
35,70,000 
66,15,000 

0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 

%, of total shares 
14.20% 
16.60% 
30.80% 

(f) Bonus issue, buy back and issue of shares without payment being received in cash 

0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 
0.00% 

% Change during the year 
Refer Note 3(d)(l) 
Refer No.C}(d)(I) 

The Company allotted 1,35,06,924 equity shares of ~ I each, in the ratio of 6: I, to the existing shareholders holding 22,51,154 equity shares. 
pursuant to the bonus issue approved on August 16, 2023. . 

, . 
< This space has been intentIOnally left blank> 
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N("I I\v("l1ue Technologies Limited ( Formerly " Net Avenue Technologies Priva le Limited ") 
NOI("$ 10 consolidated fin a ncial stal ements for the yea r ended J I M arc h 2025 
(All amounts arc in thousands except share data or as stated) 

-I H.csc r\'cs and surplu s 

Pa rticul a rs 

I. Gcnenl resern~ 
Balance at the beginning 
Transfer from capItal reserve on account of liquidation 
Add: Amount transferred to general reserve on account of forfeirure 
Add ' Amount transferred to general reserve on account of expIry of options granted to promoters 
Ba la nce a t th e end 

II . Securit ies premium account 
Balance al the begmmng 
Add: Premium received on account of share Issue 

Less : Amounts utilised for share isslle expenses 
Less: Amounts utihscd for Issue of bonus shares 
Balance 3tthe end of the year 

As at 
3 1 Ma r ch 2025 3 1 March 2024 

23,963 6,299 
986 
583 

164 16,095 

24, 127 23 ,963 

4.98,433 4,25.787 
96,832 

(3,000) (10,679) 

( 13,507) 
4,95,433 41981433 

Note: The securities premium account balance is net of INR 89,25,020/- recoverable from the Net Avenue Technologies Private Limi ted 
Employees Welfare Trust. 

-'The Company, consldenng the subsidy claim of no lakhs under the 'Subsidy for Fund Raising from SME Exchange' scheme as pending for over 
a year and based on oral communication of rejection from the department, has recogmsed the amount as share issue expense during the year and 
adjusted it agalllst secUritIes premIUm reserve. Ilowevcr, Company IS continumg to pursue this claim with the appropriate authority 

III. Employee stoc k optio n outsta ndin g 
Balance al the beginning 
Add F.mplo)ee share opl10ns expenses 
Lc'is' Amount transferred to gcneral reserve on account of forfeiture 
Less: Amount tr.:lllsferrcd to general rescrve on account of expiry of options b'Tamcd to promoters 

Ba la nce a t tile end 

1\', Surplus in the stat ement of profit a nd loss 
Balance at the beginning 
Profit! (loss) fo r the year 

Balance a t the end 

I\'. Ca pital reser ve 
Balance al the beginllIng 
Transfer to rescrves on i!ccount of liquidation 
Balance at th e end 

Total r eserve a nd surplus 

5 Provisions 

Long-term 
As a t 

3 1 Marc h 2025 3 1 March 2024 . 

ProviSIOn for employee benefits 
- lor gratUity 

- for compensated absences 
Provision for sales relum allowance 

3.580 
231 

3,8 11 

3.617 

293 

3,910 

8.925 
1.938 

18,540 

7.063 
(583) 

______ ~(~I64~) ______ (~1~6,~W~5L) 
10,699 8,925 

(4,48,248) (4.32,435) 

(41.64 1) p 5.8 12) 
(4 ,89 ,889) -----(:-:4'",4"'8,::-24:;:87-) 

40,370 

Short-term 
As at 

986 
(986) 

83,074 

3 1 March 2025 31 March 2024 

3.466 
320 

1.528 
5.314 

2,894 

363 
1,607 

4,865 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limi(ed (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited ") 
Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
tAli amounts are in thousands except share data or as stated) 

6 Short-term borrowings 

Particulars 

Overdraf! facility from bank (secured)· 
Unsecured Loans 
-Employees 
-Related parties •• 

As at 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

1.499 

5,506 13.837 
7,005 13.837 

• Overdraft balance represents faci li ty availed from indusTnd bank which carries interest rate at 8.5% per annum and are repayable on demand. 
The faci lity is secured against the fixed deposits of the Company. The company also has 00 facility in TDFC Bank Limited which has been closed 
In (he current year 

•• The 'loan is repayable on demand. The loan is received from director and their relatives and is unsecured. (refer note 34) 

7 Trade payables 

Particulars 

- Total outstanding dues to micro and small enterprises 
- Total outstanding dues to credi tors other than micro and small enterpri ses 

8 Other current liabilities 

Particulars 

Interest accrued and due on borrowings 
Deferred income 
Advance from customers 
Accrued Expenses 
Other statutory dues payable 
Employee benefits payable 

< This space has been inlenlinnally left blank> 

As at 
3 I March 2025 31 March 2024 

5.664 3.544 
18.871 22.507 

----:2"'4,"'53'"'5:- 26,os1 

As at 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

192 85 
3.049 397 

12.000 23,434 
10.832 8,424 

464 1,749 
3.432 5.426 

31,658 39,515 



Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly" et Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 (Continued) 
(All amounts are in thousands except share data or as stated) 

9 Property, plant and equipment & Intangibles 

Tangible assets 

Particulars 
Leasehold 

improvements 
Gross block 

Balance as at I April 2023 229 

Additions -
Deletions/ write off -
Reclassification -
Balance as at 31 March 2024 229 

Additions -

Deletions / write ofT 
Balance as at 31 March 2025 229 

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance as at I April 2023 200 

Additions 16 

Deletions/ write off -
Reclassification -
Balance as at 31 March 2024 215 

Additions 3 

Deletions/ write off -
Balance as at 31 March 2025 218 

Net block 

As at 31 March 2024 14 

As at 31 March 2025 11 

10 Intangible assets 

Particulars 

Gross block 
Balance as at 1 April 2023 

Additions 

Deletions / wnte off 

Adjustment on account of restatement 
Balance as at 31 March 2024 

Additions 

Deteuons write off 

Adjustment on account of restatement 

Balance as at 31 March 2025 

Accumulated amortization 

Balance as at I April 2023 

Additions 
Deletions/ write off 

Balance as at 31 March 2024 
Add111ons 

Deletions / write off 

Balance as at 31 March 2025 

Net block 

Plant and 
Machinery 

2,083 

21 
-
-

2,104 

60 

2,164 

665 
260 
-
-
925 

221
-

1,146 

1,179 

1,018 

Office Furniture and 
Computers 

equipments fittin2s 

2,607 4,428 8,297 

224 100 I 16 

25 - -
- - -

2,806 4,527 8,413 

66 9 59 

13 
2,859 4,536 8,472 

2,365 3,073 7,414 

171 347 443 

4 - -
- - -

2,532 3,420 7,857 

134 266 219
- - -

2,666 3,686 8,076 

274 1,108 555 

193 851 395 

Vehicle 

319 
-
-
-
319 

-

319 

147 
44
-
-
191 

32
-
223 

128 

96 

As at 31 March 2024 

� As at 31 March 2025,,.. ..__ 

;, 

Total 

17,964 

460 

25
-

18,399 

194 

13 
18,580 

13,864 
1,281 

4 

15,141 

875
-

16,016 

3,258 

2,564 

Computer 
software 

10,153 
-
-
-

10,153 
-
-
-

10,153' 

9,815 

124
-

9,939 

75
-

10,014 

214 

139 

101
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Priva te Limited") 
NOll" 10 conJwlldatt.'d fin ancialllalemenl5 for the rur ended 31 March 2025 (Continued) 
(All amounts are In thousands except shar~ data or as stated) 

II NOII~urrel1lll1n'stment5 

Parl ieulliN 

Tnde inveshIWlIls (unquott.'d ) 
lm'l'SlnI<'1If in t'l/ Ility flccmm/t'd i'U'I.'.vtl.'l.'.v 
29,412 (3 1 March 2023 :29,4(2) eqUIty shares of Ethnoscrve Bcspoke ScfVIees Pnvate Lim1led. 

an aSSOClU te, of INR I each. fully paLd up 
TOlal 

Disclosure for unquoted hl"Ulml'lIt 
Aggregate book value 

12 Deferred tu aUl'ts 

As at 
31 Mar ch 2025 31 March 2024 

J9 41 

J9 41 

J9 41 

The G roup has unabsorbed losses as pt.'T taxation laws. Since the Group does not have vinual eentLinty of fUlUre profits. the deferred tax 
assets have nOI been recognized, 

" Loans and advances 

PloLr ticulars Long-term Short- tu m 

As at As at 

3 ' March 2025 3 I Mar ch 2024 31 Ma rch 202S 31 Mar ch 2024 
To ploLrties other than rela ted .,a rtin 

Deposits (unsl'cured. considered Il:ood) 
Sccuritv depOSit 2,Q69 3.MS 

2,969 3,0115 

Others ( uns~ured, eonsidl'red Il:ood) 
rrcpnymenl.~ ." 515 

MAT Credll Enhtlcment '" ". 
Advance tax (nel ufprovision for tax) 
Adval1ces to employees 773 1,617 
Deposi t wi lh ,~Iock c)(change 1.053 
Advance 10 supplitr 3,748 4.268 
Balance$ wLth goYt"rnment authOrities 6,)M 18.173 
Other advances 37 

." 87' 11.498 25.663 

Othen (unsecured, considered doubtful ) 
Secumy depoSit - conSIdered duublful '0' JO 

Balances With Income: TIllL authontlcs including 
2.1110 2.503 

refund receivable - cunsldcred duubtful 

Advances: to suppliers 11.916 10.298 
Advances to employees 100 
Le$~; PrUVb10n rur de(ll.l~US. advances tS06! (301 (12.691 1 {1O.804! 

1.405 2,0117 

T OIIII Inllns and ad,'anees 3.1145 3.971 IVXIJ 27,760 

14 C urrenllnves tmenlS 

Pll rtleulars As a' 

3 I March 2025 31 March 1024 
In\;estment tn Mutu~l Funds (AI ~t.1St) 37.267 52,212 

37.267 52.212 

Nanle Units 

ICICI Pru All Seasons Bond 3.06.593 

HDFC Low OUratHln 1.33,012 

ICICI Pru EqllLty Arbltrdge 1.66.925 

ICICI Pru LIqUId 4.2 

KOlak EquLIY Arbitrage Fund 1.49,132 

Edelweiss ArbllrlLge Fund 2.87.454 

SOl ArbLtmge Opp Fund 1.64,932 

T otal 12,08.510 

/, 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avellue Technologies Private Limited") 
Nu l~S to tunlulid"'l~d financiat 5t"t~mentl fu r the yrar ended 3t l'ohlrch 2025 (Continued) 

IS Innniories 
! valued M the lower of COSt and net rl'ahSilbll' value) 

Particulars 

Raw ma t cn~ls lind components 

Work-m-progress 
Finished goods (goods In trans it amounts to lNR ')7) K ; I'Y INR 2242K) 

Stod-m-tradc (goods m tranSit amount to rNR 436K , PY rNR 1111 K) 

Less: ProvisIOn for non-movmg mventory 

16 Trade recciv~bll's 

P:;articutars 

OUUlanding ror a period uCl't'ding six months (roll1 the datt' tht'y :l.rl' dul' ror pllyml'nt 

a) Secured. consldercd good 
b) Unsecured. considered good 
c) tlnsecured, considered doubtful 
Less ProviSion for doubtful recel~ablcs 

O lher rl'ceh ll bll'~ 

a) Secured. cUnSldeled good 

b) Uns~urcd, cunsllkn:d good 
c) Un.~ecurcd, conSIdered doubtful 

u:ss: Prov"'un rur doublful recc lvables 

17 C lIosh a nd bank balancl'5 

ParticulMU 

C ash and cash eq uivllll'nts 
Cuh on hand 
Balances With banks 

- On current accounts 

Olher bank b~lanceJ 

J)eposil~ With ungmal malun ty o( more than 3 months !lml lcss than! 2 months 

Depo,ltS (held II~ se~unly agamst borrowll1gs1'gUdTMte..: ) 

III Orher (lIfrl'nI U~Ns 

Particulan 

To parties other than related parties 

Unsecured. con:iidcred j!ood 
Subsidy receIvable on account of II sllng expenses · 
Interes t acc rued on depOSIt with bank 
MEIS Rcct'lvabk 

Others 

Uns« urcd, considered dllubtful 
Olhers 

Less: Provis ion fur doubtful recclVOib lcs 

Total other assets 

A s a t 

3 I fobrch 2025 
12.579 
2.265 

JI.784 
8,177 

54,S05 
(25.901) 

28,904 

31 March 2024 
21,380 
7,649 

40.668 

7.654 
77.351 

(22.268) 

55.08] 

As a t 

] 1 March 2025 31 March 2024 

'" 
(48]) 

].223 ],7]2 

] .223 3.732 

],223 3,732 

AI at 

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

'" 173 

IS.23i1 9.265 

iI ,29 I 7,741 

15.947 14,81)4 

39,616 n07J 

,\5 lit 

] I March 202S 31 March 2024 ,-
206 21 0 
283 ,. 
m 1.282 

(697) f1.161) 

4119 31361 

"'The Company. eOllsldenng Ihe subsid) cla im of '00 lakhs under the 'SubSIdy for Fund Ralsmg from SME Exchange' scheme as 
pcndmg for oYer a year and based on oral commUIIIca1l0n of rejection from Ihe depanmelll, has TC(:ognrsed the amount as share Issue 
""'j)Cnse durmg the }'ear and adjusted it agamst securities premium reserve However, Company is continuing to pursue IhlS cla im wHh 

th t' appruprza tc authOrity. , 
/' 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to consolidated financial statements for the )'car ended 31 March 2025 (Continued) 
(A ll amounts arc in thousands except share data or as stated) 

19 Revenue from operations 

Particulars Period cnded 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

Sale of products 2,45,998 2,47,315 
Other operat ing revenue ___ --:--::2:05,715",1:-- 19,738 
_________________________ ===~2.",7:.;1,:,;,1,;;4;;.,9 2,67,053 

20 Other income 

Particulars 

Interest income on bank deposits 

Interest on IT refunds 
Discount received from vendor 
Provision 110 longer required written back vendor write back 
Other non-operating income 
Prior period Income 

< This space has been intentionally left blank > 

Period ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

1,814 

28 
517 

2,936 
976 

6,271 

1,425 

796 

466 

2,687 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 (Continued) 

21 Cost of materials consumed (Fabrics) 

Particulars 

Inventory of raw materia ls at the beginn ing of th~ year 
Add: Purchases during the year/period 
Less: Inventory of raw materials at the end of the year· 

Period ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

21,380 
3,68 1 

(12,579) 
12,482 

25,070 
11,780 

(2 1,380) 
15,470 

-I nventory write down of Rs.2, 1 09 thousands has been included under Cost of Materials Consumed (3 1 March 2024 : N il) 

22 Purchases of stock-in-trade 

Particulars 

Apparels 

23 Changes in inventory of work-in-I)fogrcss and stock-in-trade 

Particulars 

Inventori es at the beginning of the year 
Work-in-progress 

Finished goods 
Stock-in-trade 

Inventories of stock in trade at the end of the year * 
Work-in-progress 
Finished goods 
Stock-ill-trade 

Period ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

6 1,636 40,399 
61,636 40,399 

Period ended 
3 1 March 2025 31 March 2024 

7,649 10,6 10 
40,668 33,709 

7,654 13,456 

(2,265) (7,649) 
(31,784) (40,668) 

(8,177) (7,654) 
13,745 1,804 

*'nventory write down of Rs .I.646 thousands has been included under Changes III InventO ri es (31 March 2024 : Nil) 

24 Employee benefits 

Particulars 

Salaries, wages and bonus * 
Contribution to provident and other funds 
Employee stock compensation expenses 
Staff welfare expenses 

• Related pany ( refer note 34) 
/' ., 

Period ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

40,22 1 43 ,1 73 
1,901 2,725 
1,938 7,063 

________ ~1.~47247_ 970 
45,484 53,931 

< This space has been wrenllOllally left blank > 
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Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 (Continued) 

25 Finance cost 

Particulars 

Interest 
- to banks 
- to related parties 

26 Depreciation and amortization 

Particulars 

Depreciation 0 11 property, plant and equipment (refer note 9) 
Amort isation of intangible assets (refer note 10) 

27 Other expenses 

Particulars 

Fabric conversion & Redesign charges 
Intemet banking and other charges 
Marketing expenses 
Advert isement and business promotion expenses 
Collection charges 
Power and fuel 
Printing and stationery 
Repairs and maintenance 

- Computers 
- Others 

Insurance 
Office expenses 
Rates and taxes 
Foreign exchange fluctuation loss (net) 
Rent 
Professional and technical fees (refer note 29) 
Trave ll ing and conveyance 
Freight and handling charges 
Communication expenses 
Provision for non moving inventory 
Bad Debts written off 
Provis ion for doubtful debts! advances 
Provision for amount recoverable from Net Avenue Technologlcs Privatc LlmJled 
Employees Welfare Trust 
Pnor peflod \lem 

Bank charges 
Miscellaneous expses 

" 

Period ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

16 
594 
610 

Period ended 

801 
948 

1,749 

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

875 1,28 1 
____ --::-7=:5'- 124 

950 1,405 

Period ended 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

26,884 
8,234 
3,323 

53, 169 
2,942 
1,454 

541 

154 
648 
597 

1,083 
436 
70 1 

3,703 
9,877 
1,495 

46,444 
40 

3,633 
986 

1,749 

5,840 

7,110 
239 

2,870 
1,84,152 

33,54 1 
7,659 
3,679 

48,667 
4,042 
1,394 

624 

230 
1,296 

688 
1,259 

408 
855 

3,441 
9, 154 

900 
39,1 44 

143 
11,693 

4,064 

342 
2,696 

1,75,922 

" .... < This space has been illtentionally I~fi blank > 

U
V~"I)(l.-.b 

" .­,... , 

/ 1> ' 

"" "')[N\lp.,\V 



107

Net Avenue Technologies Limited (Formerly "Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited") 
Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 (Continued) 
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28 Contingent liabilities and commitments 

a) Contingent liabilities 

I . The Holding company has appointed Cbazaar.com.lnc, USA ("CB INC") as a Business Associate who shall assist and accept orders 
from various customers and also collect payment from these customers on behalf of the Company. for which the Company pays 
commission charges to CB INC. The Company also reimburses certain expenditures like marketing. internet banking and other charges 
which arc incurred on ils behalf to CB [NC. The Company basc~ on a legal opinion believes that service tax/goods and services tax is 
not applicable on such transactions and accordingly, no provision has been made for servicc tax/Goods and Services Tax in these 
financial statements. 
2. Demand Raised for Rs. I 7,80,8801- by Incomc tax authorities for A Y 2011-12, the reason being challan paid was not considered by 
the IT Authority to the holding company 

3. Demand Raised for Rs.10,77 ,4601- by Income tax authorities for A Y 2020-21 , the reason being inconsistency between tax audit 
repon and ITR to the holding company 

4. Demand Raised for Rs.33.20,2701- by Income tax authorities for AY 2022-23. the reason being disallowance of marketing expenses 
c1alJned III ITR to the holding company 

5. Demand Raised ror Rs. 1.67 .7 12/- by Income tax authorities for A Y 2021-22. the reason being disallowance of some expenses 
claimed in ITR to the holding company 

6. In the Current year. the company has received a notice from the GST department based on audit for the FY 2018 to 2023 for non­
payment of GST as leviable on reimbursement of expenses to subsidiary company for Rs2,65.82,814 (excluding interest and penalty) 

b) Commitments 

Particulars 

Esti mated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account 
and not provided for 

Guarantees gJVen 
Total 

:'1 .. < This space has been intentionally left blank > 

As at 

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 
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29 Micro and small enterpri ses 

The Minist ry of Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises has issued an office memorandum dated August 26, 2008 which recommends 
that the Micro and Small Enterprises should mention in their correspondence with its customers the Entrepreneurs Memorandum 
Number as allocated after filing of the Memorandum in accordance with the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 
2006 ('the Act'). Accordingly, the disclosure in respect of the amounts payable to such enterprises as at 30 June 2023 has been made in 
the fina ncial statements based on information received and available with the Company. Further in view of the Management, the 
impact of interest, if any, that may be payable in accordance with the provisions of the Act is not expected to be material. TIle 
Company has not received any claim for interest from any supplier as at the balance sheet date. 

As at As at 
Particulars 

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

(a) the principal amount and the interest due thereon (to be shown separately) remaining 5,664 3,544 
unpaid to any suppJier at the end of each accounting year 
Interest on the above, remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting year 258 375 

(b) the amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the Micro, Small and 
Medium Elllerprises Development Acl. 2006, along with the amount of the payment made to - -
the supplier beyond the appomted day during each accountll1g year: 

(c) the amount of interest due and payable for the penod of delay 111 makll1g payment (which 
have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but without adding the interest -

specified under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006; 

(d) the amount of il1lerest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year; 313 530 
and 
(e) the amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, 
until such date when the interest dues above are actually paid to the small enterprise, for the 

- -
purpose of disallowance of a deductible expenditure under section 23 of the Micro. Small and 
Medium Enterprises Development Act. 2006. 

30 Particulars of un-hedged foreign currency exposures as at the balance sheet date 
The Company does not use any derivative instruments to hedge its foreign currency assets / liabilities. The details of foreign currency 

Particulars 

Receivable 
Foreign currency equivalent (GBP) 
Indian Rupee equivalent 

Foreign currency equivalent (USD) 
Indian Rupee equivalent 

Payable 
Foreign currency equivalent (GBP) 
Indian Rupee equivalent 

Foreign currency equivalent (USD) 
Indian Rupee equivalent 

As at 
31 March 2025 

10 
897 

31 March 2024 

16 
1,333 
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31 Related party transactions 

(a) Names and nature of relationship with related parties 

Key managerial personnel M r. Rajesh Nahar (Director) 
Mr. Ritesh Katariy~ (Director) 

Relatives of key managerial personnel Mrs. Kasturi Devi 

M". Manju Shree 

M". Sarala Nahar 
Enterprise over which the Compllny excrcist.' Ethnoserve Bespoke Services Private Limi ted 

II si"nilicant influence 
Enterprises owned or significantly influenced 
by key managerial persollnel ., their Net Avenue Technologies Private Limited Employees Welfare Trust 
rehtth·es 

Enterprise in which Director' s relatives are Aviato Software Solutions Private Limited 
interested 

(b) Related Ilarty transactions 

Particulars 

I. Remuneration "aiel 

Mr. RaJesh Nahar 

Mr Ritesh Kataria 
Mrs Sarala Nahar 

II. Loans availed from I (paid to) relatives of key managemenl personnel 

Mr Rltcsh Katana 

Mr. RaJcsh Nahar 

Mrs Manju Shrcc 

Mrs. K3stUTl Dcvi 

Ill . Interest on loan paid key management personnel (KMP) and rela tives of KMP 

Mrs. Kastun Dcvi 

Mrs. Manju Shrcc 

Mrs. Sarala Nahar 

Mr. Rajesh Nahar 

Mr Ritcsh KatariYII 

IV. Sale of Products 

Mr. RaJesh Nllhar 

V. Marketing, internet banking and olher u peose 
AVlUto Soltware Solutions Pnvatc LUnJted 

VI . Reimbursemenl of Expenses : 

Mr RUJesh Nahar 

Mr. Rltesh KatarJva 

(c) Balances as at : 

Particulars 

A. Amount receiva ble from Net Avenue T echnologies Privat e 
Welfare Trust (Gross of shares cost issu ed to trust and provisions) 

B. Sa la ry Pa)'able 
Receivable 
Mr. RaJcsh Nahar 
Mr. Rltesh Ka~-t8"" 
Mrs Sarala N"ahar , -, ' 

Limited Employees 

Period ended 

31 March 2025 

As at 

7,415 

7.500 
180 

(4,175) 

(500) 

(3.000) 

(656) 

13 
190 

224 

10 

487 

12 

205 

31 March 2025 

5.120 

1.264 
1.317 

92 

Year ended 

31 March 2024 

As at 

6.467 

6,667 

620 

1.900 

-
600 

-

196 

52 1 

142 

57 

455 

147 

31 March 2024 

10,960 

1.650 
1,676 
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C. Balance payable to key manageria l personnel /relatives of key manage rial personnel 
- Unsecured loans 

Ms. Kasturi Dcvi 

Ms. Manju Shree 

Ms. R Sarala Nahar 

Mr. Rajcsh Nahar 

Mr. Ritcsh Kataria 

E. ReimbursenH' nt or expense payable - Advance to employees 

Mr. Ritcsh Kataria 

F. lntercst un loan I)ayable kc}' managclIlclltl)crsonncl (KMP) and rela th'cs ofKMP 

Ms . Kastun Dc:vl 

Mr. Ra.1csh Nahar 

Ms. ManJu Shrcc 

Ms. Sarala Nahar 

Mr. Rltesh Katariya 

G.Al'iato SOrhHlrC Solutions Private Limited 

Payab le 
Receivable 

./ 

2,753 

2,753 

49 
106 

37 

82 

656 

3,000 

3.253 

6,928 

147 

6 

5 
2M 

46 
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32 Employee bellcfi ts 
Dcfined contribution plans 

The Company makes contribut ions. detennined as a specified percentage of employee salaries, in respect of qualifying employees towards 
Provident Fund, which is a defined contribution plan. The company has no obligations other than to make the specified contributions. The 
contributions are charged to the statement of profit and loss as they accrue. The amount recognised as an eltpense towards contribution to 
Provident Fund for the year aggregated to rNR 1. 745K (previous year: INR 2,514K ) 

Defined benefit plans 
The Holding Company's gratUIty benefit scheme IS a defined benefit plan The lIolding Company's net obligation in respect ofa defined 

benefit plan is calculated by esllmatlllg the amount of future benefit Ihat employees have earned in return for their servIce in the current 

and prior periods; that benefit is dIscounted to determme its present value. Any unrecognised past service costs and the faIr value of any 

plan assets arc deducted. The calculation of the lIolding Contpany's obligation under this plan is perfonned annually by a qualt fi ed 

actuary usmg the projected unit credll method .The gmtuity plan entitles regular employee, who has rendered at leasl five years of 

continuous service, to receive one-half month ' s salary for each year of completed service at the time ofrctirementlexit. 

Dlsclosurc requirements under Revised Accounting Standard 15 (Revised) on employee benefits 

Gratuity 

Particulars (Changes in the Prescot Value of Obligation) l\1ar'2S l\1ar'24 

Present Value of Obligation as at the beginning 7.479 6,931 

Interest Cost 53 I 497 

CUrTent Service Cost 463 475 

Benefits PaId (334) (566) 

Actuanal (Cram) Loss on the ObltgatlOn (20) 143 

Present Value of Obligation as at the end 8,118 7,479 

Particulars (Cha nges in the Fair Value of Plan Asst.'ts) Mar'25 !\1ar'24 

FaIr Value of Plan Assets as at the beginni ng 968 1.216 

Expected Retum on Plan Assets 69 92 

Employer'S Contributions 349 239 

Bcnefits Pmd (301) (566) 

Acnmrial Gain (Loss) on the Plan Assets (13) (I I) 

Fair Value of Plan Assets as at the end 1,072 968 

Particulars (Expense recognised in P&L) Mar'25 l\1ar' 24 

Current Service Cost 463 475 

Interest Cost 5JI 497 

Expected Return on Plan Assets (69) (92) 

Net Acruanal (Gam) I Loss recognised 111 the period (7) 154 

Expenses Recognised ill stalemenl or Prufit and Loss 918 1,035 

Particulars 
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 

Dtscoulll rate 6.45% 7.10% 
Salary escalat ion 9.00% 8.00% 
AttritIon rale 40.00% 35.00% 

The cstUll:ltcs of !uture salary tncreases. considered in actuarial valuation, take account of tnflation. seniority. prolllotion and other 
rclcvant factors. such as supply and demand 1111he employment market. 
AssumptIOns regarding future monality arc based on published statIstics and mon ality tables. The calculation of the defined benefit 
obligation is sensitIve to the mortality assumptions. 
The gratUI ty expenses have been recogntsed under "Salaries, wages and bonus" in note 24. 

I 

I 
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33 Earnin 'S lIer share (EPS) 

Particulars 31 March 2025 

Ellfllings 
Profit for the period I year (41 .641 ) 
Less : DIvidends on prererence shares and tax thereon -

Net (Iroli ll (1055) altributable to equit), sharehold ers ror 41 ,641 

Outsllmding number or shares 
Weighted average number shares for basic earnings per share 11,416 

Errect of bonus issue -
Errect of potential equi ty shares -
Compulsorily comenible Series A prererence shares 

Compulsorily con ... enible Scries B preference shares 
Effcct of OptIOns issued. where there is no anti d llut l've 

Weighted average number shares for diluted eammgs per share 21 .416 

Basic earnin)!s per share (1.9" 
Diluted ellrnill!!S ucr sha.re (1.9" 

34 Ltases 

31 March 2024 

( Il,ij 12) 

-

(15,812 

3636 
13,507 

3ij 

-

17.181 

(0.92 
(0.92 

The Company has entered into operating lease arrangemellls for the lease of office premises. The lease payments recognised III the 
sta tement of profit a nd loss fo r the year ended 31 March 2025 amount s to INR 3.703K (31 March 2024 · INR 344 1 K) 

< Thi.f .f/JlIee has hef!1I intentionally left hlunk > 
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'Oln In cOIUOlidaled nll~nd.1 st~ lemenls for Ihe YCi r ended J I ~"f(b 2025 (Conllnued) 
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JS Emplo, " Jhare·h. nd pavm enl pl.ns 

(I I DurinltM )COa.l cooed 11 Marth 2014, tbt' lIoidulg Company had formed an ESOP trwl, "Nco! A\coIIIC Techoo\QSl~ Pn~a\o: Llmiled 

Emplo)ccs \\.colfarc T~I" The l~olJmg C~y had hmcd the gUldelLJlC"S on IUUC' of~harcs 10 Ib efT1lIo~"en The ESOP I~I ha~ 
purchased 46,980 "ham froln 1M shareholdm and subscnbcd fOl" 38,420 slwc:s ISsued by the Holdmj COfl1Nony for the pwJIO$I:: or 
tUUlnB II 10 lhe employees The HoldlnB Company had accounted for lhe ESOP TNSt WI accordance With Guidance r-;OIe on 
A(,(,OUllllng for Emp loyee Shan: Based Payments. Accordm&iY. the loan jlven 10 the ESOP I1U5I has been dlidosed as "''I00\I111 

rceO\"crllblc from Nel A\'enuc TccllnologICs J'rl\,ate Limned ~Ioyca Welfare Trusl" In the b.laoce sheel and the sharC$ an:: 5hown 

as • pM1 orille 'hare capllaL 

Durlllg the cwn:nI financial yea r, the C~IIY hal made a provISion In resp«1 ohmounlS retel~lIIble from Nel Avenue Tcchoo\Qjj.ICS 

Pm'ale lunale(! rmplo~ee:s Welfare Trust This proVisIOn 15 bued on the eUT'('lSe poee of stock optIons 15 determined under the 
('ompany's ESOP scheme The netamown oflham held by the Employees Welfare Trust has been valued ailM uld eurctsc pnce, 

and any shonfllt III f1XO\cnblllly has been duly pronded for 

I'lI r!l culari 2024-25 2023-24 

AlIloUllt l\:co\1!!lIblc from !\CI A"nue Tl."ChllOloI!ICI 10%0 10.960 
leu. Pro"lSion '.840 
/loti " .. Ioual rtco\trable fro .. ~tt A~" "H 5.,120 10,960 

POSt balance sh«t da le , Ihe b01I rd hal appro~d in Ill! meet ln8 wled 25th MIl' 2024 for issuance of6 bonus opI)ons for lite CIlistmll 
opliollS ISSued poor to Aug 202J and a lso reduced the exert'IJe pnee from Rs.IOO 10 JU.60 for 1 oplKlN and abo the e}(eTCise pcnod IS 

c\lcndcd 10 14 ~ars Aceordmgly the same IS COI'I5Kiercd IS mOlhficauon 10 the ESOP Khcme and consKlcrcd \he efT~1 of the same In 
the resnlu for the )car ended J lSI MITCh 2024 

(h I Oeli lls of the shares re~er\"d for luue under options 

The Holding Compan) ISSued OPIIOnS under the:: E;mployees Stock 0JI'1on polICY 20 IJ l"20 IJ Plan") III the final1(l1l )'~ar :!013-.!OI4 

The 201] Plan ('O\'el'$ all eftllloyees on the permanent rolili oflhe OrpmuuOll and 10\110 can be hSla;ned el.ttibihty scores usllll an 
ESOP Sconng Malnx 2013. The obJccu\'c of thiS 2013 Plan is 10 encourage ownershIp of the Hokiml Company's cqutl)l by lIS 
cmployees on an ongoing baSIS. The 20 1 J Plan I' Int(' nded to 1'(ward lhe cmployees for their eontribul1on to the:: successful operatIOn of 

Inc I loldm, C~ny and 10 pro\'lde In Incmll\C 10 commuc: l:ontnbuUnllO the SUlXeS$ ofthc: Holdm, company. 

Pon bIIllnee sheet dale. the bw.nI his approved In Its meet llll daled 25th May 2024 for d-Suanec of 6 bonu~ opllons for the eJIIstillJ 
OpltOIiS i~)ued prtor 10 AUI! 2023 .nd a lso reduced lhe e,.;eTCIU prll:C frum RI. IOO 10 RJO.60 for 7 optIOns and also the exercISe period IS 
t'~tended to 14 years "c('ordmaly the ~mc is con.~idercd., modlflC3tKln 10 the ESOP scheme and eOl'l5ldere<l the elTect oflhe salT'lle In 

the results for lhe year ended) I" March 2024 

Thr terms m lhe ESOP pol".:)' "as modified b rollo .... s Exercise pl'lI.:e Io\IIS tl\anged 10 Rs 60 from Rs 100 The exercise penod has been 
increased 10 10 years from" years. 

lltc itl:herne: ~ thai these 0[11101\11 .... (N1d be vested m tnnche5 as follow, 

Ptrlfld "lthin O'Ihkb Ibe 0 rion ./. or liollll Ibal ",ill 'u, 
One yeur from the dale of aceeptlnce of o lTtr Jo-,. 

Tv.o )ClII"S from lhe dale ofacceptal1l:e o f o lTer 30-. 
Three: )t3r5 from tht date of acceptance of ofTer 2~. 

Four ~ars from the dale oraec ntll1I:C ofofTer 20% 

Granl date I5-OcI-13 01.Jul-14 
V.rious dlltsln Vi rious datu In 

OI.Ju)"16 01..Ju)..17 01.Jul-11I 
2014-15 20 15-16 

OptIOII5 2.\400 '500 2500 13600 3700 50f!11t "00 
2f;Inied 

Vestmg 
I"""",' 

to 4 years to 4 years 110 4 years I 104 years 1 10 4 yean 1 to 4 years I to 4 )ears 

expected 2.3 ~1rS 6.3 )Cln 6.3 yean 6.J years 6 .3 years 6.J years 6.3 years 

[opltOn I1fc . 
RIsk free 11.110-. S.So-. 8.80-. 8.So-. 8 so-. 8 So-·. 11.80-. 
ralc 

OpIum 15' 15' '51 ". 486 m m 
\3.I\le 11' on 

[gr, ... l1 dale 

lltc 11m \a lue ohloclc OptiOns hal b .. !cn dClenruned usmg the Ulack Scholes opllon pncmV model 

r anirulan 
31 March 2025 31 M I rch 2024 

Oplions gra.nted and ouUtanding .. the be-ginniQII of the )lear 3,68,550 75 ,866 

Add OptKlns granted dUfUl8 tM year 56,600 

Less ' Elert' lscd dunng the year 

Less' bp1n!d dunng the.' yn.r (45,116) 

Le~~· ForfClted durml! the yellr (13,300) (1.700) 

"o.kI I'onus Imw;d 2.82.900 

OpilOll> grantn:! and OUI.~landlng III the end or lhe year "Yi,1S0 3,68,550 

OI..QeI-21 0 1.Jul-2J 01..Jan-U 

21 450 18100 38500 

I to 4 yellrJ Ito 4 yea I 10 4 years 

6.3 years 6,3 yean 6 J years 

8.80% 8.110-. 8,80-4 

'" 13 27 
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36 Adtlilional information required by Schedule III of Companies Art. 2013 

For the year cudcd 31 March 2025 

Name of the enlit)' 

Parenl : 
Net Avenue Tcchnologies Private Lim ited 

Suhsidiaries: 
Cbazaar.com Inc, USA 

Associale: 
Ethnoservc Bespoke Services Private LImited 

Inter-comllall)' eliminations 

For the }ear ended 31 March 2024 

N:lI1le of Ihl' rlililY 

Parenl; 
Net Avenue Technologies Private LLnllted 

Subsidiarirs : 
Cbazaar.colll Inc , USA 
Pioneer Tr3dmgs Lmllted. UK 

Associ:He: 
Ethnoserve Bespoke Services Private Lllmted 

I nter~eompan)' eliminations 

37 Prior year eOIllJ>arath' e~ 

Net Assets, i.e. lolal assets minus 
IOlalliabilities 

As a -;" of 
Consolidated Amount 

nI'l assets 

106.85% 66.020 

~10.43% (6.443) 

0.06% 39 

3.51 % 2.170 

100% 61 .786 

Net AsseU, i.e. total assets minus 
total liabilities 

As a % of 
Consolidated Amount 

net assets 

97.21 % 1.01,577 

~11.41% ( 11,9 18) 
-0.06% (62) 

0.04% 41 

14.2 1% 14.852 

100% 1,04,490 

Share in IIrofit or loss 

As a '10 of 
Consolidated Amount 
profit or Joss 

82.84'10 (34.496) 

~13. I 5% 5.476 

0.00% (2) 

30.30% (12,619) 

100~. (41 ,641) 

Share in profit or loss 

As a % of 
Consolidated Amount 
profit or lou 

109.09% (17.249) 

1.79% (283) 
0.77% ( 12 1 ) 

-0 .01 % (2) 

· 11.65% 1,843 

100% {I S,8 12) 

Prior yellr compamtlves bave been regrouped I reclassified wherever necessary to confoml with current year's 

38 Exceptional item 
Thc exccptional incomc shown in the statement of profil or loss for the (,eriOt! ended 31 March 2024 refers income recognised in thc 
book.~ of subsu.iJary "Pioneer tmdlllgs Lllmtcd" as thc subsidiary has prepared its financ ial statements on liqUidation basis as li t 30th 
Junc 2023 consequcnt to Its dissolution, accordlllgly capital reserve related to the SlIbs lr.liary has been transferred to other reserves 
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J9 

'" 
" 

Othc-r stll tulory inform ation 
The Group docs 1101 hav\: any bena!lli property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against tIll;: Company for haWing any Benami property. 
The Group docs nOI have any transactions with companies struck off. 
The Group has not been declared wilful defaulter by any banI. or tinanciallnSlitulion or other lender 

The Group has not advanced or loaned or Invested funds to ony other p.:rson(s) or cntlly(ies), includmg foreign enlltlcs 
(mtermediaries) wllh the understanding that the intermediary shall: 
3. directly ur indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified In ~Ily m;mn~r whatS(}Cver by ur on behalfofthe 
comp~n)' (Ultllll.1te beneficiaries) or 
b. provide any guarantee. secuflly Of the like to ur on behalf orthe ultimate bencliciar,es 

The Group has not receivl'd any fund from any person(s) or I'Il\lly(ics), includmg foreign cntities (funding pany) " ith the 
unders tanding (whether recorded m writmg or otherv. ise) thaI the Comp'any sholl 
a. directly or indirectly lend or IIlveSI in OIher persons Of entitio;:s identified in any ITI."I1Uler whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
funding pany (ultimate beneficiaries) or 

b. provide any guarantee, secunty or the lIle all behalf oftlie ultimate benefiCiaries 

The Group has not any such transaction which is nOI recorded in the books of accounts lha t has becn surrendered or diselOSl'd 
~s ineome during the y .. ar in Lhe tax assessments under the Income Ta\ Aet. 1961 (such as, search or survey Of any other 
rl'lc\'lIllt pro\'i ~ ions oflhc Incomc Tax Acl, 1961. 
Th.:: Group has not traded or investl'd in erypto currency or vinual currency dunng the financial year 

As per our rcpor1 of c\'cn dalc allachl'd 
For I' KF Sridhar & Santlllullun LLP 
C/wrlf'rI'd ,.kemmlmll.\" 
Finn's Registration No: 003'J'X)SIS2000IK 

I' ])c\i 

Purtlf"" 
MembershIp 
Place 

for and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Nel A,·cnuc T echnuloJ:!ier Prlvl lc Limitcd 

~~TN2001 PTC047220 

Riles h Ka lariya 
WllIlle lim" Dir"C/nr 
DIN: 01019455 
Pluce . Surat 
Date May 29 2025 

y1M 
Prakash " flh arla ri 
Chief financIal Olliccr 
Place: Surat 

DJte MJY 29 2025 

Rajcs h Nahllr 
DIrf'c/or 
DIN: 01015059 

: Chennal 
May 29 2025 

Place: Surat 
Date : May 29 2025 
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